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 SUPERMARKET INCOME REIT

(the "Group" or the "Company")

AUDITED RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024

STABLE VALUATIONS AND STRONG BALANCE SHEET UNDERPIN CAPACITY TO PURSUE ACCRETIVE ACQUISITIONS AND DRIVE
EARNINGS GROWTH

 
The Board of Directors  of Supermarket I ncome R EI T plc (LS E: S UP R), the real  estate investment trust with secure, infla$on-
l inked, long-dated income from grocery property, reports  i ts  audited consol idated results  for the Group for the year ended
30 June 2024.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

12 months to
30-June-24

12 months to
30-June-23

 
Change

Annual ised pass ing rent1 £113.1m £100.6m +12%

Adjusted earnings  per share1 6.1 pence 5.8 pence +4%

IFRS earnings  per share (1.7) pence (11.7) pence +85%

Dividend per share declared 6.1 pence 6.0 pence +1%

Dividend cover2 1.01x 0.97x2 n/a

EPRA cost ratio1 14.7% 15.5% n/a

30-June-24 30-June-23 Change
Portfol io valuation £1,776m £1,693m +5%

Portfol io net ini tia l  yield1 5.9% 5.6% n/a

EPRA NTA per share1 87 pence 93 pence -6%

IFRS NAV per share 90 pence 98 pence -8%

Loan to value1 37% 37% n/a

 
Secure and growing income
·    12% increase in annual ised pass ing rent to £113.1 mi l l ion, reflecting:

o  4% average l ike-for-l ike rental  upl i ft

o  Accretive acquis i tions  in the year

·    100% occupancy and 100% rent col lection s ince IPO

o  75% of rental  income from Tesco and Sainsbury's

·    4.4% increase in adjusted EPS to 6.08 pence driven by rental  growth and accretive acquis i tions

·    Ful ly covered FY24 dividend

·    FY25 target dividend increased to 6.12 pence per share

 

Earnings accretive acquisitions
·    Acquired 20 assets  in UK and France for £135.8 mi l l ion before costs  at an average NIY of 6.7% (UK: 7.0%, France: 6.3%)

·    Earnings  growth further supported through maintaining tight control  of costs , achieving an EPRA cost ratio of 14.7%
with further cost efficiencies  targeted in FY25

   

Strong grocery sector growth
·    UK grocery market sales  forecast to increase by 5.8% to £251.6 bi l l ion in 20243

o  Tesco and Sainsbury's  increased sales  and market share in the year with a  combined 43% market share4

o  Onl ine market share at 12% and growing fol lowing post pandemic reset4

·    French grocery market sales  forecast to increase by 2.1% to €290 bi l l ion in 20245

o  Carrefour has  a  19.6% market share in France6

o  Carrefour is  targeting 3x onl ine sales  growth to €10 bi l l ion by 2026 (base year: 2021)7 with i ts  onl ine grocery
channel  forecast to grow 8.25% in 20248

o  Onl ine market share is  currently at 10% and is  one of the fastest growing channels9

 

Strategic transaction with Carrefour

·    One of the largest grocery operators  in the world

·    Investment grade rated (BBB)10

·    Acquis i tion of 17 omnichannel  Carrefour stores  in relationship led sale and lease back transaction for a  cons ideration



·    Acquis i tion of 17 omnichannel  Carrefour stores  in relationship led sale and lease back transaction for a  cons ideration
of €75.3 mi l l ion before costs

·    Acquired at a  6.3% NIY versus  4.4% funding cost

·    Carrefour's  second ever sale and lease back transaction in France and fi rst in 12 years

·    Carrefour now represents  4% of portfol io GAV

·    Highly affordable rents  with uncapped inflation l inked upl i fts11

 

Supermarket property valuations stabilised

·    Portfol io independently valued at £1.78 bi l l ion, inclus ive of acquis i tions  of £135.8 mi l l ion

·    Net Ini tia l  Yield ("NIY") of 5.9% (30 June 2023: 5.6%)

·    Fol lowing a decl ine in valuations  in 2023, l ike-for-l ike valuations  were broadly flat in H2, up 0.1%

·    Strong level  of transactional  activi ty across  the sector with return of traditional  insti tutional  participants  to the market

·    Operator store buybacks, particularly Tesco, demonstrating miss ion cri tical  nature of large format stores

 

Proactively managing balance sheet
·    LTV of 37% as  at 30 June 2024 (30 June 2023: 37%)

·    Strong debt covenant headroom supporting acquis i tion led growth

·    100% of drawn debt fixed or hedged at a  weighted average finance cost of 3.8%, including post balance sheet events  (30
June 2023: 3.1%)

·    Fi tch BBB+ investment grade rating reaffi rmed providing access  to attractively priced long-dated debt

·    New £104.5 mi l l ion unsecured faci l i ty with SMBC at a  weighted average margin of 1.45% with a  maturi ty of three-years
and two one-year extens ion options

·    Post balance sheet:

o  New £100 mi l l ion unsecured faci l i ty with ING at a  margin of 1.55% over SONIA with a  maturi ty of three years
and two one-year extens ion options

o  Oversubscribed 7-year Euro private placement at 4.4% fixed al l -in cost, providing natural  currency hedge for
Carrefour portfol io acquis i tion

 

Further progress on key sustainability initiatives
·    EV charging operational  at 30% of s i tes  and solar arrays  across  20% of stores

·    Science Based Targets  val idated and approved by the Science Based Targets  ini tiative including a  commitment to reach
net zero by 2050

·    Strong tenant net zero commitments  driving s igni ficant tenant capital  expenditure on stores

·    Prepared and submitted EPRA Sustainabi l i ty Best Practices  Recommendations  disclosures  for the fi rst time

 

Nick Hewson, Chair of Supermarket Income REIT plc, commented:
 
"The Company's  opera$onal  performance has  been res i l ient with 100% occupancy and 100% rent col lec$on despite the
broader market and macro-economic chal lenges  of the past years . We have taken a discipl ined approach to capital
deployment and have recently begun to see opportuni$es  to add accre$ve acquis i$ons in the UK  and France. We con$nue
to monitor opportunities  to recycle capital  via  asset sales  and joint ventures.

Looking ahead, we remain op$mis$c that the improving interest rate environment should provide pos i$ve tai lwinds  for the
Company. We are pleased to recommend another increased dividend of 6.12 pence per share for F Y25 and remain focused
on del ivering a  progress ive dividend for shareholders ."

 

PRESENTATION FOR ANALYSTS

 
The Company wi l l  be holding an in-person presenta$on for analysts  at 08.30am today at F TI  Consul$ng's  offices, 200
Aldersgate, Aldersgate Street, London, EC1A 4H D. To register to aMend in-person, please contact F TI  Consul$ng:
SupermarketI ncomeR EI T@Oiconsul$ng.com. There wi l l  a lso be a webcast avai lable. To join the presenta$on via  the
webcast, please register us ing the fol lowing l ink:
 
Supermarket Income REIT - Full Year Results Presentation 2024 | SparkLive | LSEG
 
The results  presentation is  avai lable in the Investor Centre section of the Group's  website.
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NOTES TO EDITORS:   
 
Supermarket I ncome R EI T plc (LS E: S UP R) is  a  real  estate investment trust dedicated to inves$ng in grocery proper$es  which
are an essen$al  part of the feed the na$on infrastructure. The Company focuses  on grocery stores  which are omnichannel ,
fulfil l ing onl ine and in-person sales . The Company's  supermarkets  are let to leading supermarket operators  in the UK  and
Europe, divers i fied by both tenant and geography.
  
The Company's  assets  earn long-dated, secure, infla$on-l inked, growing income. The Company targets  a  progress ive
dividend and the potentia l  for capital  appreciation over the longer term.
   
The Company is  l i s ted on the C losed-ended investment funds  category of the FC A's  O fficial  List and i ts  O rdinary Shares  are
traded on the LSE's  Main Market. 
 
Atrato Capital  Limited is  the Company's  Investment Adviser.   
  
Further information is  avai lable on the Company's  website www.supermarketincomereit.com   
 
LEI: 2138007FOINJKAM7L537 
 

S�fel Nicolaus Europe Limited, which is authorised and regulated in the United Kingdom by the Financial Conduct Authority, is ac�ng exclusively for
Supermarket Income REIT plc and no one else in connec�on with this announcement and will not be responsible to anyone other than the Company
for providing the protec�ons afforded to clients of S�fel Nicolaus Europe Limited nor for providing advice in connec�on with the ma(ers referred to
in this announcement.

Goldman Sachs Interna�onal, which is authorised by the Pruden�al Regula�on Authority and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and the
Pruden�al Regula�on Authority in the United Kingdom, is ac�ng exclusively for Supermarket Income REIT plc and no one else in connec�on with this
announcement and will not be responsible to anyone other than the Company for providing the protec�ons afforded to clients of Goldman Sachs
International nor for providing advice in connection with the matters referred to in this announcement.

CHAIR'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholder,

I  am pleased to report another res i l ient year for the Company. O ccupancy on our porRol io of grocery stores
was 100%, as  was  rent col lec$on, and indeed annual ised pass ing rent grew year on year by 12%, due to
accre$ve acquis i$ons and infla$on protec$on in over 80% of our leases. O ur vigi lance on our cost base was
again notable and we have one of the lowest EP R A cost ra$os of our peers . We expect our cost ra$o to reduce
over the next 12 months  as  we focus  on further opera$onal  efficiencies  across  the bus iness . O nce again, we
are benefiSng from our interest rate hedging strategy and we expect the interest rate backdrop to be more
supportive from this  point in the cycle.

Al l  of this  i s  permiSng us  to recommend a further, i f modest, increase to our dividend for the coming year to
6.12 pence per share (2024: 6.06 pence per share). This  i s  in the context of our stated aim to del iver
sustainable, long-term, growing income from the grocery real  estate industry. The last three years  have seen
some chal lenging macroeconomic headwinds  but we have weathered the storm and increased the dividend
every year. We bel ieve we have now seen the worst of i t. O ur job is  to maximise our earnings  and con$nue to
increase the dividend on a covered bas is , and benefit from the inherent affordabi l i ty of the rents  our grocery
tenants  pay us .

The background to the chal lenging nature of the last three years  has  been the fact that we have al l  had to get
used to opera$ng in a  higher interest rate environment compared to that in the 2010s. Those higher interest
rates  seem to have peaked during the summer of 2023, with 5-year swap rates  exceeding 5% in July 2023. At
that $me, the Company prudently paid down debt to run at a  lower LTV of 33%. This  strategical ly conserva$ve
approach to leverage has, however, meant that 2024 earnings  growth has  been modest. O n the other hand, we
bel ieve that property valua$ons reached a floor in December 2023. Consequently, we have been confident in
2024 to increase leverage, including through our oversubscribed debut P rivate P lacement debt issuance, to
help drive earnings  growth through acquis i tions  which wi l l  benefi t future years .

I n growing through acquis i$ons, the I nvestment Adviser's  pos i$on as  a  sector specia l is t gives  the Company
unique access  to off-market opportuni$es  to acquire these assets  at yields  which are above the cost of our
debt financing. We have been highly selec$ve in our acquis i$ons and maintain our focus  of inves$ng in top
trading omnichannel  stores  let to the strongest grocery operators .

W hi le con$nuing to pursue our core UK  strategy, we have also sought to broaden our inves$ble universe and
enhance the divers i ty and covenant strength of our tenant base through a highly selec$ve expansion into
Europe.

I n Apri l , we made our first investment into the €290 bi l l ion French grocery sector with an off-market, direct
sale and leaseback of 17 omnichannel  stores  with Carrefour. The transac$on was the culmina$on of over 12
months  of discuss ions, leveraging the I nvestment Adviser's  deep grocery exper$se and long-standing sector
rela$onships . This  was  Carrefour's  first sale and leaseback in France in 12 years  and underl ines  the
Company's  credentia ls  as  a  trusted and expert counterparty.

The transac$on highl ights  the aMrac$ve opportuni$es  to acquire and finance omnichannel  supermarkets  let
to high-qual i ty covenants  with highly affordable rents  in Europe. The acquis i$on was made at a  6.3% net
ini$al  yield and financed at an accre$ve 4.4% fixed cost of funding in Euros. However, this  was  a  tenta$ve
exploration into non-UK property assets , representing some 4% of the portfol io.

We con$nue to see interes$ng opportuni$es  such as  this  and i f we decide to increase further our exposure to
con$nental  European grocery assets , we wi l l  first consult with shareholders  and seek shareholder approval
to revise our Investment Pol icy accordingly.

O ur thes is  at I P O  in 2017 was focussed on the miss ion cri$cal  nature of omnichannel  stores  as  last mi le
fulfilment hubs  and the long-term aMrac$veness  of owning these infrastructure-l ike assets . This  thes is  i s  as
val id as  ever in 2024 in both the UK and France.

The strong performance of the UK  and French grocery sectors  and our omnichannel  stores  within them means
our stores  benefit from higher sales  dens i$es. This  ensures  rents  remain affordable for our tenants . Rent to
Turnover ("RTO ") at store level  i s  the key affordabi l i ty measure in the sector. The Company's  UK  porRol io is  at
an average 4% RTO which is  in-l ine with the long-standing industry standard level  for high-qual i ty stores .

The discount to EP R A NTA at which the Company's  shares  have traded through the year is  a  frustra$on for the
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The discount to EP R A NTA at which the Company's  shares  have traded through the year is  a  frustra$on for the
Board and clos ing this  discount is  a  key focus  for the Company. We con$nual ly review how best to a l locate
our shareholders ' capital . The Board bel ieves  that over the medium term, earnings  growth and the
sustainabi l i ty of the dividend wi l l  serve to narrow the discount. We are a lso focused on capital  recycl ing
opportunities  through the sale of individual  stores  or larger JV opportunities .

We regularly assess  the use of share buybacks  and at a  certain price and in sufficient quan$ty they make
mathema$cal  sense i f one can achieve both at the same $me. However, the Board has  given the I nvestment
Adviser a  mandate to achieve growth, on the bas is  that growing earnings  through a selec$ve approach to
acquis i$ons wi l l  generate a  higher return than that offered by share buybacks  over the medium to long term.
This  pos i$on has  remained under con$nuous review over the past year and wi l l  con$nue to be debated whi le
our shares  trade at a  discount to EPRA NTA.

I  am par$cularly pleased this  year with the progress  being made on the Company's  sustainabi l i ty ac$vi$es. A
key mi lestone has  been achieved with the val ida$on and approval  of the Company's  science-based targets  by
the Science Based Target ini$a$ve ("S BTi"). We have also seen the con$nued addi$on of EV charging and solar
panels  at a  number of our stores . O ur tenants  have also made ambi$ous net zero commitments  and a benefit
of owning miss ion cri$cal  real  estate is  the con$nuing capital  expenditure our tenants  make into our stores
to meet their own commitments  par$cularly in the area of refrigera$on. O ur Task Force on C l imate-Related
Financial  D isclosures  ("TC F D") compl iant annual  report i s  accompanied by our second standalone
sustainabi l i ty report publ ished today. The Company has  prepared EP R A Sustainabi l i ty Best P rac$ces
Recommenda$ons ("s BP R") disclosures  for the first $me and is  a lso currently preparing i ts  first net zero
trans ition plan.

I n the coming months  we also expect to proceed with a  secondary l i s$ng on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange
("JS E"). Based on pos i$ve investor feedback fol lowing a non-deal  roadshow undertaken in February 2024, we
bel ieve that the secondary l i s$ng wi l l  help improve trading l iquidity and the divers i ty of our shareholder
base. Such l i s$ngs  require minimal  addi$onal  repor$ng and have rela$vely low ongoing costs  to maintain. I
look forward to welcoming South African investors  to the shareholder register and in $me we hope that these
investors  wi l l  grow to represent a  strong and supportive addition to the Company's  register. 

As  part of Board's  success ion planning, we appointed Sapna Shah as  head of the Nomina$ons CommiMee and
as  Senior I ndependent Director ("S I D"). She, a long with the other members  of the Nomina$ons CommiMee, wi l l
be determining the process  for iden$fying and recrui$ng three new NEDs over the coming two years  including
a new Audit Chair and a new Chair. We thank Vince P rior for his  service as  Chair of the Nomina$ons
Committee and SID.

Outlook

I n the context of the recently chal lenging macro headwinds, we can now begin to cons ider the poss ibi l i ty of a
more favourable interest rate environment. Market expecta$ons of modest interest rate cuts  over the coming
months, a lbeit not returning to the levels  of the 2010s, provide confidence that we have now seen the floor in
this  current cycle. We have a balance sheet and asset porRol io which wi l l  enable us  to del iver sustainable,
long-term, earnings  growth even at these new 'normal ' interest rate levels . I  am hopeful  that as  the equity
markets  re-focus  on the aMrac$veness  of real  estate, the qual i ty of our assets  and the secure nature of our
growing income stream wi l l  once again be recognised.

I n the mean$me, due to our sector specia l ism, we con$nue to be able to selec$vely add aMrac$ve assets  to
our porRol io to grow earnings  and ul$mately dividend. Due to the prudent steps  taken to run lower leverage
throughout 2023, the Company has  had the balance sheet capacity during 2024 to take advantage as  these
opportuni$es  arise. Earnings  wi l l  a lso be enhanced through our programme of even stricter cost control
del ivering a  low EP R A cost ra$o of 14.7% which we expect to reduce further over the next 12 months, in search
of our goal  to be the company with the lowest EPRA cost ratio of our external ly managed peers .

Nick Hewson
Chair
17 September 2024

 

A CONVERSATION WITH JUSTIN KING ABOUT THE FUTURE OF THE UK GROCERY SECTOR

Jus$n K ing is  a  senior adviser to Atrato Capital , the Group's  I nvestment Adviser. Jus$n is  recognised as  one of
the UK 's  most successful  grocery sector leaders , having served as  C EO  of Sainsbury's  for over a  decade and
previous ly held senior roles  at Marks  & Spencer, Asda, Peps iCo and Mars .

He is  currently Non-Execu$ve Director of Marks  & Spencer and Chairman of Al lwyn Entertainment which
operates  the Na$onal  LoMery l icence, O vo Energy and Dexters , London's  leading estate agent. Jus$n also
advises  a  series  of high-profile consumer-focused companies  including I tsu Grocery and Snappy Shopper.
Jus$n is  an advocate for responsible bus iness , has  been instrumental  in launching several  chari table
concerns  including the chari ty Made by Sport, which championed the power of sport to change young l ives .
Jus$n brings  an unrival led wealth of grocery sector experience and a deep understanding of grocery property
strategy.

 

Ques>on 1: The Carrefour sale and leaseback provided a unique entry point into the French grocery market.
Do you consider this this market to be very different to the UK market?

I t's  less  different than many think! I t's  a  s ignificant €290 bi l l ion market12, with supermarkets  being the most
dominant channel  and the four top grocers  holding over 70% of the market. Just l ike the UK , this  operator
concentra$on has  been achieved through very wel l -located shops, great customer service, wel l -developed
supply chains  and an increas ing focus  on omnichannel  bus iness  models .

Carrefour is  one of the largest grocers  in the world, has  a  19.6%13 share of the French grocery market and
provides  an excel lent addi$on to S UP R's  porRol io, further divers i fying i ts  tenant mix. So, taken al l  together,
the transac$on capital ises  on the opportunity to leverage the Company's  grocery specia l ism in genera$ng
attractive investment prospects  whi lst a lso being highly complementary to the existing portfol io and strategy.

O f course, entering any new market comes with risk. I  bel ieve an essen$al  component to managing that risk i s
through developing strong partnerships  with leading operators . I t i s  noteworthy that Atrato has  entered this
market via  a  direct sale and leaseback with Carrefour, benefi$ng from the ins ights  derived from this
relationship-based model  which has  a lways  been a core part of the Company's  strategy.

 

Ques>on 2: You men>on the benefits of leveraging sector specialism. How important do you think Atrato's
deep knowledge of the omnichannel model will be when considering inves>ng in grocery property markets
like France?

Firstly, i t's  important to remember that the UK 's  grocers  were early pioneers  in onl ine grocery, resul$ng in one
of the highest penetra$on rates  for onl ine grocery sales  global ly. This  success  was  driven by an early
trans i$on to mul$-channel  stores  which have been able to provide seamless  integra$on between onl ine and
offline channels . I  think i t's  fa i r to say that operators  across  the world have long looked at the UK  as  a



offline channels . I  think i t's  fa i r to say that operators  across  the world have long looked at the UK  as  a
template and we are seeing a  global  convergence to the omnichannel  model .

S UP R is  the largest landlord of omnichannel  grocery stores  in the UK . That makes  the Company an aMrac$ve
property partner for grocers  looking to capital ise on the onl ine opportunity thorough trans i$oning toward
omnichannel  trading strategies . I t a lso provides  a  valuable pathway to source aMrac$ve future investment
opportunities .

Carrefour's  objec$ve of growing i ts  omnichannel  customer base to 30% and onl ine sales  to €10 bi l l ion
annual ly by 202614 i s  a  clear recogni$on of the addi$onal  value to be captured through leveraging i ts
supermarket estate and I  know this  was  a  key cons idera$on in Carrefour selec$ng S UP R as  i ts  partner in the
sale and leaseback transaction.

 

Ques>on 3: How should the market think about affordability of rent on grocery property and how that
impacts market rents in particular?

For grocery operators , a  key metric for determining the affordabi l i ty of rent is  the ra$o of rent to store
turnover, with c.4% being the long-standing industry benchmark in the UK . This  equates  to roughly two weeks
of store sales  and is  cons idered affordable by operators , comparing favourably to other asset classes  such as
retai l  parks  at c.12%, hotels  at c.20% and shopping centres  at c.25%.

W hi lst i t's  important to note that the grocery sector has  lower margins  than some of these comparable retai l
or leisure sectors , i t i s  a lso important to note that typical  EB I TDAR margins  at the store level  are around 12%.
This  provides  approximately 3x cover of rent at the market standard rent to turnover, which makes  rents
highly sustainable at that level .

Currently, S UP R's  porRol io s i ts  at c.4% rent to turnover and is  therefore cons idered to be approximately rack
rented from a UK grocery property perspective.

I bel ieve the affordabi l i ty of rent is  one of the reasons  that supermarket property investment performance over
the last 15 years  has  been a stand-out pos i$ve performer rela$ve to other asset classes  despite mul$ple
periods  of macro-economic uncertainty. Having said that, not a l l  supermarket property is  equal  and
special is ts  l ike the Atrato Capital  team are essentia l  to ensure the right asset selection for the long term.

 

Ques>on 4: L ike-for-like sales growth in 2024 is lower than 2023 with staffing costs rising, does this signal
margin pressure for the multichannel grocers?

A key point here is  that dis infla$on rather than defla$on is  taking effect across  the grocery sector - prices  are
ris ing more s lowly, rather than fa l l ing. I n the four weeks  to July 2024, the rate was  1.6%, the lowest rate s ince
September 2021 and far below the recent peak of 19.0% seen in March last year. Against that backdrop, l ike-
for-l ike sales  growth wi l l  be natural ly subdued verses  the inflation-fuel led comparatives .

However, l iving standards  for the average customer are gradual ly improving, with wage growth outpacing
price infla$on for several  quarters , which wi l l  in turn feed both enhanced sales  volumes and improved
product mix for the grocers . We are clearly seeing the benefits  of that in the latest grocery market share data
with Tesco and Sainsbury's  capturing a  further 100bps combined market share over their rivals  and
reaffi rming their profi t targets .

This  i s  why tradi$onal  grocers  carry an extens ive range and mix in their supermarkets  to cater for the
changing needs and buying trends  of the customers ' shopping basket and that customer focus  has  sustained
the success  of the grocers  for the last 100 years

 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

We set out below our key performance indicators  for the Company.
 
KPI Definition Performance

1.    Total Shareholder
Return

Shareholder return is  one of the Group's
principal  measures  of performance.

Total  Shareholder Return ("TS R") i s  measured by
reference to the growth in the Group's  share price
over a  period, plus  dividends declared for that
period.

8% for the year to 30 June
2024
(Six months  ended
31 December 2023: 23.2%, 30
June 2023: -34%)

2.    WAULT WAULT measures  the average unexpired lease
term of the P roperty PorRol io, weighted by the
Portfol io valuations.

12 years  WAULT as  at 30 June
2024 (31 December 2023: 13
years , 30 June 2023: 14
years) 

3.    EPRA NTA per share The value of our assets  (based on an independent
valua$on) less  the book value of our l iabi l i$es ,
aMributable to Shareholders  and calculated in
accordance with EP R A guidel ines. EP R A states
three measures  of NAV to be used; of which the
Group deem EP R A NTA as  the most meaningful
measure. See Note 27 for more information.

87 pence per share as  at 30
June 2024 (31 December
2023: 88p, 30 June 2023: 93p)

4.    Net Loan to Value The propor$on of our PorRol io gross  asset value
that is  funded by borrowings  calculated as
balance sheet borrowings  less  cash balances
divided by total  investment properties  valuation.

37% as  at 30 June 2024 (31
December 2023: 33%, 30 June
2023: 37%) 

5.    Adjusted EPS* EP R A earnings  adjusted for company specific
items to reflect the underlying profitabi l i ty of the
business .

6.1 pence per share for the
year ended 30 June 2024 (31
December 2023: 2.9p, 30 June
2023: 5.8p) 

 

 
Adjusted earnings  is  a  performance measure used by the Board to assess  the Group's  financial  performance
and dividend payments . The metric adjusts  EP R A earnings  by deduc$ng one-off i tems such as  debt
restructuring costs  and adding back finance income on deriva$ves  held at fa i r value through profit and loss .
Adjusted Earnings  is  cons idered a beMer reflec$on of the measure over which the Board assesses  the Group's



Adjusted Earnings  is  cons idered a beMer reflec$on of the measure over which the Board assesses  the Group's
trading performance and dividend cover. F inance income received from deriva$ves  held at fa i r value through
profit and loss  are added back to EP R A earnings  as  this  reflects  the cash received from the deriva$ve hedges
in the period and therefore gives  a  beMer reflec$on of the Group's  net finance costs . Debt restructuring costs
relate to the accelera$on of unamor$sed arrangement fees  fol lowing the refinancing of the Group's  debt
faci l i ties  during the year.
 
Adjusted EPS reflects  the adjusted earnings  defined above attributable to each shareholder.
 
The Group uses  a l terna$ve performance measures  including the European P ubl ic Real  Estate ("EP R A") Best
P rac$ce Recommenda$ons ("BP R") to supplement i ts  I F RS measures  as  the Board cons iders  that these
measures  give users  of the annual  report and financial  informa$on the best understanding of the underlying
performance of the Group's  property porRol io. The EP R A measures  are widely recognised and used by publ ic
real  estate companies  and investors  and seek to improve transparency, comparabi l i ty and relevance of
publ ished results  in the sector.
 
Reconci l ia$ons between EP R A measures  and the I F RS financial  s tatements  can be found in Notes  11 and 27 to
the financial  information.

 

EPRA PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The table below shows addi$onal  performance measures, calculated in accordance with the Best P rac$ces
Recommenda$ons of the European P ubl ic Real  Estate Associa$on. We provide these measures  to a id
comparison with other European real  estate bus inesses.
 
For a  ful l  reconci l ia$on of a l l  EP R A performance indicators , please see the Notes  to EP R A measures  within the
supplementary section of the financial  information.
 

Measure Definition Performance

1.    EPRA EPS A measure of EP S des igned by EP R A to present
underlying earnings  from core opera$ng
activi ties .

4.3 pence per share for the
year ended 30 June 2024 (30
June 2023: 4.6p) 
 

2.    EPRA Net
Reinstatement
Value ("NRV") per
share

An EP R A NAV per share metric which assumes that
enti ties  never sel l  assets  and aims to represent the
value required to rebui ld the enti ty.

97 pence per share as  at 30
June 2024 (30 June 2023:
103p) 

3.    EPRA Net Tangible
Assets ("NTA") per
share

An EP R A NAV per share metric which assumes
en$$es buy and sel l  assets , thereby crystal l i s ing
certain levels  of unavoidable deferred tax.

87 pence per share as  at 30
June 2024 (30 June 2023:
93p)

4.    EPRA Net Disposal
Value ("NDV") per
share

An EP R A NAV per share metric which represents
the Shareholders ' value under a  disposal
scenario, where deferred tax, financial
instruments  and certain other adjustments  are
calculated to the ful l  extent of their l iabi l i ty, net of
any resulting tax.

90 pence per share as  at 30
June 2024 (30 June 2023:
98p) 

5.    EPRA Net Initial
Yield ("NIY") &
EPRA "Topped-Up"
Net Initial Yield

Annual ised rental  income based on the cash rents
pass ing at the balance sheet date, less  non-
recoverable property opera$ng expenses, divided
by the market value of the property, increased with
(estimated) purchasers ' costs .

5.9% as  at 30 June 2024 (30
June 2023: 5.5%) 

6.    EPRA Vacancy Rate Es$mated Market Rental  Value ("ERV") of vacant
space divided by ERV of the whole portfol io.

0.5% as  at 30 June 2024 (30
June 2023: 0.4%) 

7.    EPRA Cost Ratio
(Including direct
vacancy costs)

Administra$ve & opera$ng costs  (including costs
of direct vacancy) divided by gross  rental  income.

14.7% for the year ended 30
June 2024 (30 June 2023:
15.5%) 

8.    EPRA Cost Ratio
(Excluding direct
vacancy costs)

Administra$ve & opera$ng costs  (excluding costs
of direct vacancy) divided by gross  rental  income.

14.4% for the year ended 30
June 2024 (30 June 2023:
15.2%) 

9.    EPRA LTV Net debt divided by total  property porRol io and
other el igible assets .

38.8% as  at 30 June 2024 (30
June 2023: 35.2%)

10.  EPRA Like-for-like
Rental Growth

Changes  in net rental  income for those proper$es
held for the dura$on of both the current and
comparative reporting period.

Rental  increase of 2.1% for
the year ended 30 June
2024 (30 June 2023: 2.7%)

 

11.  EPRA Capital
Expenditure

Amounts  spent for the purchase and development
of investment proper$es  (including any
capital ised transaction costs).

£146.2 mi l l ion for the year
ended 30 June 2024 (30 June
2023: £377.3 mi l l ion)

 

INVESTMENT ADVISER'S REPORT

Atrato is  the Company's  I nvestment Adviser. Ben Green (P rincipal ) and Robert Abraham (Fund Manager)
discuss  SUPR's  performance and the long-term outlook for the bus iness .

SUPR's performance remains strong at the operational level
 
The Company's  opera$onal  performance remains  strong. I t has  been another year in which S UP R has  achieved
100% rent col lec$on and 100% occupancy from i ts  tenant base of leading supermarket operators . Coupled
with this , the Company has  achieved 4.0% l ike-for-l ike rental  growth on leases  that have been subject to



with this , the Company has  achieved 4.0% l ike-for-l ike rental  growth on leases  that have been subject to
review in the year, driven by inflation-l inked contractual  upl i fts .
 
O ur key tenants  con$nue to perform strongly with impress ive revenue growth. This  i s  par$cularly true of the
types  of the omnichannel  stores  that S UP R owns in the UK  and France. Sainsbury's  and Tesco, which represent
77% of the porRol io by value have reported l ike-for-l ike sales  growth of 10.3%15 and 7.7%16 respec$vely in
their ful l  year results . They reported even higher sales  growth figures  from their large format stores , l ike those
owned by S UP R, up by 11.0%15 and 8.2%16 respec$vely. I mportantly, such revenue growth remains  ahead of
rental  increases, which ensures  that rents  remain affordable. Our newest tenant Carrefour has  a lso performed
strongly in i ts  home market in France with RO I  margins  up 6.2%17, underpinned by accelerated price
investments  which have been more than offset by cost discipl ine.
 
Proactively positioning SUPR for a higher interest rate world
 
O ur strong opera$onal  performance has  been largely offset by higher financing costs  due to the higher
interest rate environment and our decis ion to reduce leverage. This  has  led to lower earnings  growth and only
a modest increase in dividend as  we and the Board seek to pos i$on S UP R with a  sustainable, long-term,
progress ive dividend.
 
We took two key steps  to pos i$on the Company for a  higher interest rate world. F i rst, we fixed S UP R's  cost of
debt through the period of highest expected interest rates . Second, we recycled the proceeds from the final
tranche of the Sainsbury's  Revers ion Portfol io disposal  in July 2023 into reducing debt.
 
Through the second hal f of the year, as  debt costs  reduced, we had the opportunity to grow earnings  through
accre$ve acquis i$ons. As  a  result of the prudent ac$ons taken to protect the balance sheet the Company has
been in a  strong pos ition to take advantage of these opportunities .
 
Taken together with our contracted rental  growth and rigorous  cost control , we have pos i$oned S UP R to
del iver a  sustainable, progress ive dividend in the new higher interest rate environment.
 
In our view, valuations have bottomed out
 
We saw a valua$on decl ine as  at the December balance sheet date due to the impact on the grocery property
market of higher interest rate expecta$ons. The sterl ing 5-year swap rate peaked in July 2023 and this
negatively impacted the investment market in the fi rst hal f of our financial  year.
 
Valua$ons held flat over the second hal f of the year with the market now having adjusted to expecta$ons of a
long-term UK  base rate of around 3.5%. I nvestment returns  at current market yields  look aMrac$ve,
particularly when cons idering the defens ive characteristics  of grocery.
 
We have observed a s imi lar dynamic in the French market with reducing interest rate pressure and valua$ons
at the bottom of the cycle.
 
We are of the view that the next movement in valuations, when i t comes, should be pos itive.
 
Supermarket rents, affordability and ERVs
 
W ithin the UK  supermarket sector, 4% rent to turnover is  seen as  the affordable rental  level  that operators  are
wi l l ing to pay to secure long-term occupation for strong trading stores .
 
I ncreas ing store turnover, has  improved the affordabi l i ty of supermarket rents  and has  resulted in S UP R's
portfol io having a  ratio of 4% RTO.
 
O ur view is  that the valuers  systema$cal ly underes$mate the rents  that UK  grocers  are wi l l ing to pay to
secure trading from a s i te. This  i s  important for two reasons. F i rst, i t provides  us  with value opportuni$es  at
the point of acquis i$on because vendors  oOen underes$mate rental  poten$al . Second, we bel ieve that there is
s igni ficant embedded value in the Portfol io which is  not reflected in the valuation or the NAV.
 
A detai led case study on this  topic i s  avai lable on pages  30 to 32.
 
Valuation yield metrics for the SUPR portfolio

 
Measure Jun-23 Dec-23 June-24
Portfolio
NIY 5.6% 5.8% 5.9%
UK supermarkets
NIY 5.4% 5.7% 5.8%
NRY 4.6% 5.0% 5.1%
NEY 5.5% 5.7% 5.8%
 
The Net Revers ionary Yield ("NRY") provided by our valuer for our UK  supermarkets  appl ies  an average ERV of
£22 per square foot ("per sq.ft.") to SUPR's  portfol io which is  broadly in-l ine with the UK average.
 
I n prac$ce we expect our leases  to be extended (regeared) prior to expiry and at a  level  which would be higher
than this  average, due to the strong performing nature of the stores  owned by SUPR.
 
Assuming UK  supermarket rents  regeared to 4% of turnover i t would produce an NRY closer to the 5.9% current
NIY on the portfol io, demonstrating the potentia l  revers ionary ups ide that can be achieved on the portfol io.
 
As  an off-market sale and leaseback transac$on, our Carrefour rents  are set at 2.1% RTO, versus  the average
of 2.5% in France.
 
Attractiveness of French grocery market and Carrefour
 
The Company's  entry into the €290 bi l l ion French grocery market18 was  the most strategical ly s ignificant
development of the year.



development of the year.
 
The European grocery property market provides  the Company the opportunity to benefit from a divers ifica$on
of the porRol io, an increased exposure to investment grade tenant covenants  and lower cost of financing. Due
to the s ize of the European market, we can be highly selective in assess ing investment opportunities .
 
The French market has  aMrac$ve s imi lari$es  to the UK . Supermarkets  are the primary grocery sales  channel
and the French market is  dominated by a  smal l  number of operators . France also has  Europe's  largest onl ine
grocery market, which is  primari ly serviced by an omnichannel  store network and is  growing rapidly.
 
Carrefour is  one of the largest grocery operators  in the world with forecast annual  global  sales  of €100.4
bi l l ion in 202419. I n France, Carrefour holds  a  s imi lar pos i$on to Sainsbury's  in the UK  as  the second largest
operator with 19.6% of grocery sales20. As  part of i ts  2026 strategic plan outl ined in 2022, Carrefour has  set
ambi$ous onl ine growth targets  to increase onl ine sales  to 30% of total  sa les  by 2026, and i ts  onl ine channel
is  forecast to grow by 8.25% in 202421.
 
 
Growing earnings through highly selective, accretive acquisitions
 

1)    First international acquisition via a sale and lease back transaction with Carrefour
 
I n Apri l  2024, S UP R acquired a sale and leaseback porRol io of 17 strong trading omnichannel  stores  in
France through a direct transaction with Carrefour.
 
The stores  were selected based on a detai led analys is  including trading performance, local  demographics  and
competition. The stores  have highly affordable rents  and were acquired at an attractive 6.3% NIY.
 
The transac$on was financed through an exis$ng revolving credit faci l i ty with H S BC, and post period end was
refinanced via  a  Euro denominated private placement at a  cost of 4.4%. The pos i$ve cash yield is  accre$ve to
the porRol io and suppor$ve of earnings  growth through long-term, index-l inked leases. A case study on the
transaction is  provided on pages  20 to 22.
 
We were able to leverage our deep sector rela$onships  and reputa$on as  a  trusted counterparty to leading
grocery operators , to work with Carrefour on this  off-market transac$on. This  was  only the second ever sale
and leaseback transaction conducted by Carrefour in France, and the fi rst in 12 years .
 

2)    The continued attractiveness of the UK, albeit a reduced addressable market
 
W ith the UK  grocery market con$nuing to perform strongly, we see aMrac$ve opportuni$es  in the UK
supermarket space, a lbeit now focused on Tesco and Sainsbury's  due to compara$vely less  aMrac$ve
covenants  of the more highly leveraged multichannel  operators , Asda and Morrisons.
 
I n the UK  we have focused on shorter lease assets , par$cularly those which we view as  being mispriced by the
market due to an underes$ma$on of affordable market rent. The target assets  are let to strong tenant
covenants  (i .e., Tesco or Sainsbury's ), with an attractive yield providing an accretive spread to the current cost
of debt. These opportuni$es  are currently more accre$ve to earnings  than longer lease, rack rented assets ,
which are currently pricing more keenly. An example transac$on is  Tesco Stoke, acquired in March 2024 and
on which there is  a  case study on pages  16 to 17.
 
 
A tale of two halves for the UK investment market, while operator activity across both sale and leaseback and
store buybacks has been prominent
 
I nvestment market volumes for the 12 months  remained broadly in l ine with the £1.7 bi l l ion average s ince the
Company's  I P O, as  l iquidity for the asset class  remains  strong. Unl ike other sectors  which have seen volumes
fal l  away in a  higher interest rate environment, through rapid repricing and con$nued investor demand,
supermarket volumes have remained cons istent. Supermarkets  are a  defens ive asset class  with investment
appeti te from a broad range of purchasers  from insti tutions  through to high net worth individuals .
 

5 yearly supermarket investment volumes22

 

 
We are however beginning to see more l imited supply - par$cularly of stock in the UK  which is  suitable for
S UP R in terms of being accre$ve to the cost of debt and therefore to earnings , whi lst maintaining tenant
qual i ty.

2024 transactions breakdown22

    



     

Vendors Value (£m) Purchasers Value (£m)  

Asda 650 Realty Income Corporation 825
 

Morrisons 196 Tesco Plc 127
 

Abrdn 162 M&G 125
 

Lothbury IM 133 ICG 103
 

Waitrose 125 MDSR 98
 

Other 723 Other 711

Total 1,989 Total 1,989
 

I n the UK , the two largest sel lers  of assets  during the year were operators . Asda (£650 mi l l ion) and Morrisons
(£196 mi l l ion) both sold stores  to Realty I ncome, subject to 20-year infla$on l inked leases. Waitrose also
undertook a £125 mi l l ion sale & leaseback with M&G. Each of these transac$ons aMracted a lot of
ins$tu$onal  interest. Asda and Morrisons  a lso separately sold off their petrol  forecourts  to reduce leverage.
We bel ieve that the capital  ra ised in these processes  makes  further s ignificant sale and leaseback ac$vity
from these operators  unl ikely.
 
Tesco spent £127 mi l l ion during the year buying back stores , including a  111,000 sq.O. store in SuMon
Coldfield for c.£40 mi l l ion - a  large format omnichannel  store, highl igh$ng the strategic importance of such
assets . We con$nue to see Tesco selec$vely par$cipate in the investment market, depending on capital  made
avai lable to the property team at any given $me. O ur tenants ' compe$ng demands for capital  dictate their
level  of ac$vity in the buyback market - this  means that we con$nue to be able to buy some of Tesco's  best
performing stores . However, we do have the risk of a  shrinking opportunity, as  each store bought back by an
operator is  unl ikely to return to the leasehold market in the future.
 
In addition to M&G, this  year has  a lso seen the return of other traditional  insti tutional  supermarket landlords
as  buyers  in L&G (£46 mi l l ion), Abrdn (£18 mi l l ion), and DTZ Investors  (£56 mi l l ion).
 
I nvestment volumes in France were below average in 2023 total l ing €320 mi l l ion. However, volumes in H1
2024 reached €306 mi l l ion which is  a  135% increase year-on-year and 13% ahead of average s ince H1 2014.
New retai l  development is  at a  20 year low, a  trend which we think wi l l  con$nue due to the net
ar$ficial isa$on (ZAN) of land by 2050. We expect a  shiO towards  redevelopment of exis$ng assets  into mixed-
use spaces  rather than new developments . This  wi l l  therefore reduce the amount of retai l  space making
existing assets  more valuable.
 
 Tight control of costs delivering one of the lowest EPRA cost ratios in the sector
 
I n seeking to drive earnings  growth we also maintain a  $ght control  of costs . The Company's  cost base is
already one of the lowest across  F TS E 350-l is ted R EI Ts , with an EP R A cost ra$o of 14.7% and is  targe$ng a
lower EP R A cost ra$o in the coming year, in l ine with our goal  of having the lowest cost ra$o amongst the
external ly managed FTSE 350-l is ted REITs .
 

EPRA cost ratios (including direct vacancy costs): FTSE 350-listed REITs23
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Defensive nature of supermarket real estate continues to prove attractive to debt markets
 
During the year we agreed new debt faci l i$es  with S M BC of £104.5 mi l l ion. Post balance sheet we agreed a
new £100 mi l l ion unsecured faci l i ty with I NG and a private placement of €83 mi l l ion loan notes  at an al l  in
fixed cost of 4.4% for seven years .
 
Both of the bank faci l i$es  are aMrac$vely priced at an average margin of 1.5% over S O NI A. We have ful ly fixed
the cost of these financings  through hedging.
 
The cost of the private placement is  fixed at 4.4% and is  highly aMrac$ve when compared to the yield on our
French supermarket assets . I n addi$on, the Euro denomina$on provides  a  natural  hedge for the Company's
investment in the Carrefour portfol io acquis i tion in France.
 
These transac$ons, a long with our BBB+ Fi tch ra$ng, underscore the Company's  strong balance sheet, high-
qual i ty assets  and tenants  and our ongoing abi l i ty to secure debt from financial ly strong interna$onal
lenders .
 



 
The abi l i ty to ra ise debt has  a l lowed the Company to cau$ously increase leverage up to 37% to enable i t to
take advantage of aMrac$ve acquis i$on opportuni$es, whi le maintaining s ignificant headroom in debt
covenants .
 
I ncluding post balance sheet events , the Company has  100% of drawn debt fixed or hedged at a  weighted
average finance cost of 3.8% (30 June 2023: 3.1%).
 
Continued progress on sustainability reporting

 
I nves$ng responsibly for long-term value crea$on remains  at the heart of the Company's  bus iness  model . The
Company has  con$nued to refine i ts  approach this  year improving ES G data processes  and seSng long-term
targets  for the Company. 
 
The Company's  refreshed sustainabi l i ty strategy cons ists  of three key pi l lars :

1.    Climate and Environment
2.    Tenant and Community Engagement
3.    Responsible Business

 
These pi l lars  are underpinned by the UN Sustainable Development Goals  the Company has  iden$fied as  most
materia l  to the bus iness , and by the I nvestment Adviser's  ongoing responsible investment commitments
including in respect of the Net Zero Asset Managers  ini$a$ve, UN Global  Compact and UN P rinciples  for
Responsible Investment.
 
The Company has  publ ished i ts  second standalone Sustainabi l i ty Report which detai ls  i ts  sustainabi l i ty
performance and progress  against the three pi l lars  of the sustainabi l i ty strategy and plans  for the year ahead.
Highl ights  from the Sustainabi l i ty Report, beyond the Company's  science-based target seSng, include the
Company's  first dona$on to the Atrato Founda$on, improvements  in ES G data sharing with tenants  and
further environmental  asset management ini$a$ves  to benefit occupiers  and communi$es. For the first $me
the Company has  a lso undertaken external  assurance over i ts  reported loca$on-based Scope 1, 2 and 3 GH G
figures  for FY24. The Assurance Report i s  avai lable on the Sustainabi l i ty section of the Company's  website.
 
I n addi$on to the Company's  Sustainabi l i ty Report, disclosures  in l ine with the TC F D recommended
disclosures  and the Company's  Streaml ined Energy and Carbon Repor$ng ("S EC R"), have been included within
the Annual  Report on pages  39 to 51.
 
Secondary listing on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange ("JSE")
 
The Company is  in the process  of applying for a  secondary inward l i s$ng on the Main Board of the
Johannesburg Stock Exchange by introduc$on. The l i s$ng of the Company on the JS E is  expected to become
effective by the end of the calendar year, subject to various  regulatory approvals  in South Africa.
 
The Company wi l l  not place or i ssue any new shares  in connec$on with i ts  appl ica$on for a  secondary l i s$ng
on the JS E and wi l l  remain l i s ted on the C losed-ended investment funds  category of the FC A's  O fficial  List and
traded on the LS E's  Main Market. P S G Capital  P roprietary Limited has  been appointed as  Corporate Advisor
and Sponsor in South Africa.
 
The Company bel ieves  that admiss ion to trading of the shares  on the JS E wi l l  be beneficial  to the Company and
its  shareholders . The secondary l i s$ng should contribute to l iquidity in the Group's  shares  through i ts
increased profile and improved access ibi l i ty in the South African market, where a number of investors  have
already shown strong interest in inves$ng in the Company, driven by i ts  high-qual i ty porRol io of omnichannel
supermarkets  and secure income providing an attractive dividend.
 
Outlook
 
We remain resolutely focused on del ivering sustainable earnings  growth for the Company in our role as
I nvestment Adviser. W hi lst acknowledging the ongoing impact of macro factors  such as  interest rates  which
are ul$mately outs ide of our control , we con$nue to drive strong performance at an opera$onal  level . We
bel ieve this  wi l l  trans late into pos itive momentum for the Company.
 
I n the Company's  core UK  market we see accre$ve opportuni$es  that meet our discipl ined approach to capital
deployment, a lbeit in a  reduced addressable market. France offers  an extens ion of this  strategy and an
aMrac$ve poten$al  further source of earnings  growth. O pportuni$es  in geographies  outs ide of the UK  wi l l
only be cons idered where asset qual i ty can be maintained and where we see aMrac$ve rela$ve value. Should
we look to further increase the Company's  exposure to this  market, we would first consult with shareholders
and revis i t the Company's  Investment Pol icy.
 
Fol lowing receipt of the final  por$on of the Sainsbury's  Revers ion PorRol io disposal  proceeds received at the
beginning of the year, the most prudent decis ion was to pay down debt rather than deploy that capital  into
new assets  and expose the Company to higher leverage and poten$al  valua$on decl ine. As  valua$ons have
stabi l i sed and market sen$ment has  improved, we are more comfortable in gradual ly normal is ing leverage
levels .
 
We con$nue to cons ider a l l  op$ons for the Company to achieve earnings  growth. We are a lso exploring
disposal  and JV opportuni$es  which present capital  recycl ing opportuni$es, the benefit of which comes both
through proving the porRol io NAV in the open market and through opportuni$es  to redeploy sales  proceeds in
the most earnings  accretive manner for shareholders  at that time.
 
We currently cons ider that the Company's  debt finance capacity i s  best deployed into accre$ve acquis i$ons
to grow earnings. However, the op$on of share buybacks  is  con$nuously under review by the I nvestment
Adviser and the Board.
 
I n summary, we are focused on del ivering earnings  accre$on through a rigorous  approach to capital
a l loca$on. This , combined with $ght cost controls  in the bus iness , as  evidenced through the Company's
con$nual ly decreas ing EP R A cost ra$o, should del iver efficient earnings  growth and increased returns  to
shareholders .
 



THE COMPANY'S PORTFOLIO

The Company has  bui l t a  porRol io of strong trading, 'miss ion cri$cal ' omnichannel  supermarkets  backed by
leading grocery operators .

The central  pi l lar of the Company's  investment pol icy is  to acquire omnichannel  supermarkets  that form a key
part of our tenants ' last mi le fulfilment networks. These stores  offer both an onl ine provis ion and in-store
shopping, helping to capture a  greater share of the grocery market. Currently 93% of our supermarket assets
are omnichannel , by value.

The porRol io benefits  from long unexpired lease terms with predominantly upwards  only, index l inked leases,
helping to provide long-term income with contractional  rental  growth.

W ithin the UK , operators  typical ly look at the affordabi l i ty of rent based on a benchmark of c.4% rent to
turnover, s imply seen as  two weeks  of trade. The Group's  UK  supermarkets  average rent to turnover is  4%,
which equates  to £24 per sq.O. We have highly secure income with 100% rent col lec$on during the year and
Tesco and Sainsbury's  accounting for 75% of the Company's  rent rol l . 

During the year, the Group acquired a hand-picked portfol io of Carrefour supermarkets  in an off market, direct
sale and leaseback with the operator. The assets  form a key part of Carrefour's  omnichannel  opera$on with
15 stores  operating Drive "Cl ick & Col lect". This  channel  accounts  for 80% of onl ine grocery in France.

The standalone stores  are subject to annual , uncapped infla$on-l inked rent reviews with 12 year unexpired
lease terms (tenant only break at year 10) and are let on low and affordable rents  of €7 per sq.O. with an
average RTO  of 2.1%, below the RTO  average of 2.5% in France. The rents  produce a low capital  value of €110
per sq.O. The transac$on helps  to increase the Group's  exposure to strong tenant covenants , further
divers i fies  the portfol io and promotes  further income growth through index-l inked rent reviews.

As  part of the Company's  investment strategy to acquire high-qual i ty, s trong trading supermarkets , i t i s
some$mes necessary to acquire complementary non-grocery units  that are co-located with the store. These
units  oOen create a  retai l  des$na$on helping to drive further fooRal l  into the supermarket. Non-grocery
assets  represent 6% of the Portfol io by value.

During the year, the Company selec$vely strengthened i ts  PorRol io with the addi$on of 20 supermarkets  for a
combined total  of £135.8 mi l l ion24.

·    July 2023: A Sainsbury's  in Gloucester, for £17.4 mi l l ion24. The store has  a  15-year unexpired lease
term25 and is  subject to 5-yearly upwards  only, open market rent reviews.

·    July 2023: A Sainsbury's  in Derby, for £19.0 mi l l ion24. The store has  a  15-year unexpired lease term25

and is  subject to 5-yearly upwards  only, open market rent reviews.
·    March 2024: A Tesco in Stoke-on-Trent, for £34.7 mi l l ion24. The store has  a  11-year unexpired lease

term and is  subject to annual  upwards  only RPI-l inked rent reviews.

·    April 2024: A porRol io of 17 Carrefour supermarkets  located in north and north west France, for £64.7
mi l l ion24. The porRol io was  a  direct sale and leaseback with Carrefour with 12-year unexpired lease
terms25 and subject to annual , uncapped inflation-l inked, rent review.

The acquis i$ons during the year were purchased at an average net ini$al  yield of 6.7% (7.0% UK , 6.3% EUR)
providing an aMrac$ve spread to the Group's  incremental  cost of debt and were immediately accre$ve to
earnings. The increased exposure to index-l inked income also generates  further contractual  earnings  growth
underpinned by strong tenants .

Acquis i$ons during the year were financed us ing exis$ng headroom within our debt faci l i$es  and
subsequently through the €83 mi l l ion private placement which was announced in July 2024.

For more information on financing arrangements  refer to note 19 of the financial  information.

 
Tenant Exposure by

rent roll
Exposure by

Valuation
Tesco 48% 48%
Sainsbury's 27% 29%
Morrisons 5% 5%
Waitrose 4% 4%
Carrefour 4% 4%
Asda 2% 2%
Aldi 1% 1%
M&S 1% 1%
Non-food 8% 6%
Total 100% 100%

 

The PorRol io's  weigh$ng towards  investment grade tenants  provides  secure long-term income with a  weighted
average unexpired lease term of 12 years . I n addi$on, the porRol io is  heavi ly weighted towards  upwards  only
inflation-l inked rent reviews. The average cap on our inflation-l inked leases ' rental  upl i fts  i s  4%.

The PorRol io's  weigh$ng towards  upwards  only, infla$on-l inked rent reviews is  80% with 58% of the PorRol io
being reviewed annual ly.

Indexation
Income mix by

rent review type

RPI 70%
CPI 6%
ILC 4%
Fixed 2%
OMV 18%
Total 100%

 

 



Rent review
Income mix by

rent review type

Annual 58%
5 yearly 41%
7 yearly 1%
Total 100%

 

 

UK rental caps
% of UK supermarket

index-linked portfolio 

0-1 % 0%
1-2 % 1%
2-3 % 13%
3-4 % 64%
4-5 % 22%
Total 100%

 

 

The rent profile of the supermarkets  is  broadly in l ine with the market at 4% RTO. The rental  maturi ty profile is
wel l  dispersed with the fi rst materia l  regear in 2029.

WAULT
WAULT

breakdown
WAULT

rental breakdown
WAULT

count breakdown

0-1 yrs 0.0% - 0
1-2 yrs 0.0% - 0
2-3 yrs 0.2% 0.2 1
3-4 yrs 0.0% - 0
4-5 yrs 0.0% - 0
5-6 yrs 3.0% 3.1 1
6-7 yrs 4.4% 4.6 2
7-8 yrs 6.1% 6.4 4
8-9 yrs 4.8% 5.0 5
9-10 yrs 12.1% 12.6 21
10+ yrs 69.4% 72.3 39
Total 100.0% 104.2 73

The environmental  efficiency of our stores  con$nues to be a key priori ty for our asset management ini$a$ves,
selec$ve acquis i$ons and is  supported by the ongoing investment by grocery tenants  into respec$ve store
estates . A breakdown of our supermarket EPC ratings  can be seen below:

Supermarket EPC breakdown
 

EPC rating
% of UK supermarket

Portfolio by value
A 4%
B 52%
C 31%
D 13%
Total 100%

 

 

Active asset management delivering additional value and improving sustainability of sites 
 
The Company con$nues to seek sustainabi l i ty and value crea$on ini$a$ves  at our larger s i tes  which are not
ful ly demised to the core supermarket tenants  and therefore benefi t from greater landlord control .  
 
Alongs ide our tenants , we are looking at ways  to increase the number of Electric Vehicle ("EV") charging points
at larger s i tes . We now have 58 EV charging bays  across  five s i tes , a l l  completed at zero capex cost to the
Company. Current EV s i tes :

·    Morrisons, Workington
·    Morrisons, Wisbech
·    Tesco, Bradley Stoke
·    Tesco, Chineham
·    Tesco, Beaumont Leys

 
Works  were completed at Tesco, TheRord in partnership with Atrato O nsite Energy plc where Tesco entered
into a  20-year Power P urchase Agreement ("P PA") for a  new solar instal la$on on the rooOop at the store. The
EPC rating was re-assessed post instal lation and improved from a C to a  B.
 
O pportuni$es  to add complementary discount grocery operators  con$nue to progress . At Tesco, Chineham,
the exis$ng planning consent was  successful ly implemented and terms are agreed with a  discount grocery
retai ler. We have had three additional  offers  for new discount food stores  across  the portfol io.
 
At Tesco, Chineham, McDonald's  has  commenced fit out works  of a  unit with a  new 25-year lease. I n addi$on



to this , Pets  Corner is  ups izing into a  new unit. At Tesco, Bradley Stoke, works  are currently being undertaken
to amalgamate two units , one of which was vacant at acquis i$on and the other let on a concess ionary bas is ,
with B&M committing to a  new 10-year lease, rendering the s i te 100% let.
 
O ther developments  are being cons idered at Sainsbury's , Newcastle, Morrisons, Workington and Tesco,
Bradley Stoke and various  negotiations  are ongoing with potentia l  tenants  for those s i tes .
 

Portfolio valuation

Cushman & Wakefield valued the PorRol io as  at 30 June 2024, in accordance with the R I C S Valua$on - Global
Standards  which incorporate the I nterna$onal  Valua$on Standards  and the R I C S UK  Valua$on Standards
edition current at the valuation date.

The proper$es  were valued individual ly without any premium/discount applying to the PorRol io as  a  whole.
The PorRol io market value was £1,775.7 mi l l ion, an increase of £82.8 mi l l ion reflec$ng a valua$on decl ine of
£53.0 mi l l ion (including currency exchange movements), which was offset by new acquis i$ons of £135.8
mi l l ion pre acquis i$on costs . This  valua$on reflects  a  net ini$al  yield of 5.9% and a l ike-for-l ike valua$on
decl ine of 3.2% s ince 30 June 2023. The benchmark M S C I  Al l  P roperty Capital  I ndex during the same period
was down 4.5%.

The decl ine in valua$on reflects  the outward shiO in property yields  appl ied by valuers  across  the real  estate
sector as  a  result of higher interest rates  and the macroeconomic environment. This  was  largely recognised in
the first hal f of the year, with a  l ike-for-l ike valua$on decl ine of 3.2% reported in the Company's  valua$on as
at 31 December 2023. Valuations  remained broadly flat in the second hal f of the year.

The valua$on decl ine in the year has  however been par$al ly mi$gated by our contractual  infla$on-l inked
rental  upl iOs. The average annual ised increase in rent from rent reviews performed during the year was  4.0%.
82% of the Company's  leases  benefit from contractual  rental  upl iOs , with 80% l inked to infla$on and 2% with
fixed upl i fts .

 

THE GROCERY MARKET

UK

Non-discretionary grocery market continuing to experience strong growth

The UK  grocery market has  highl ighted i ts  defens ive, non-discre$onary characteris$cs  this  year with sales
growth of 5.8% against a  very strong infla$on-led comparator of 9.2% for 2023. Total  grocery market sales  are
forecast to be £251.6 bi l l ion in 2024, an increase of £59.6 bi l l ion or 31% s ince pre-pandemic levels  in 2019.

W hi le the sector growth wi l l  con$nue to ease as  infla$on moderates  in 2025 in year-on-year percentage
terms, IGD projects  continued healthy absolute sales  growth in the coming years . With forecast annual  growth
of around 3% to 2029, the UK grocery market is  expected to reach £296 bi l l ion in the same year.

The growth from 2019 out to I GD's  projected total  sa les  figure would represent a  4.4% compound annual
growth rate. The future projected growth is  in l ine with long run R P I /C P I  projec$ons and underl ines  the
grocers ' abi l i ty to efficiently pass  through infla$on to consumers. The increased sales  revenue at the store
level  wi l l  support higher rents  over the medium term.

Institute of Grocery Distribution ("IGD") UK Grocery Market Value 2019-2029 (forecast)
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This  track record of strong growth in the sector has  aMracted new ins$tu$onal  investors  into the grocery real
estate investment market and has  a lso seen a con$nued programme of store buybacks  by Tesco with four
stores  purchased by the grocery operator in the year.

Online grocery channel returned to growth following a rebase post pandemic

O nl ine grocery now accounts  for 12% of the total  market. O nl ine market share has  fa l len back from the
pandemic peak of 15%, but having rebased to 12%, i t i s  s$l l  one of the fastest growing channels  according to
Kantar. The onl ine channel  was  permanently enlarged throughout the pandemic - over 50% of onl ine grocery
shoppers  during 2020 were new to the channel26 and much of this  change in consumer behaviour has  been
sticky.

O mnichannel  stores  are op$mal ly placed to benefit from the combined growth of both in store sales  and
onl ine. O perators  are able to increase onl ine capacity at low cost and benefit from shorter drive $mes due to
their exis$ng omnichannel  stores ' proximity to customers. This  results  in a  greater number of del iveries  per
hour and drives  greater profitabi l i ty than the central ised fulfilment (or 'dark store') model . Tesco recently
announced that onl ine sales  par$cipa$on is  stable at 13% of UK  sales  with basket s izes  up 4.2% and onl ine
sales  up 10%. The return to growth of the onl ine channel  i s  evident in the latest I GD forecast which predicts
growth of 27% (£6 bi l l ion) by 2029.  

Online grocery spend (UK) (2017 to 2023 actual, 2024 to 2026 forecasted)



 

Omnichannel stores capture the largest share of growth

Large format omnichannel  stores , such as  those which the Company targets , have captured the largest share
of sales  growth in the sector s ince 201927. I n that $me the total  UK  grocery sector has  increased from £192
bi l l ion in 2019 to £252 bi l l ion, with omnichannel  supermarkets  accounting for £20 bi l l ion of that growth.

I mportantly, this  growth is  being generated from exis$ng store estates  meaning this  i s  l ike-for-l ike sales
growth, resul$ng in improved sales  dens i$es  and enhanced profitabi l i ty at the store level . From a landlord
perspec$ve, this  ensures  that rents  remain affordable for tenants , par$cularly as  sales  growth has  been
running ahead of capped rental  upl i fts . It a lso provides  a  strong backdrop for higher rents  in the future.

Large format stores  have the scale to offer the ful l  product range giving customers  the widest product choice,
whi lst a lso offering the best value to customers  through in-store only and loyalty scheme product offers . I n
the current inflationary environment shoppers  are looking to achieve best value on their purchases. Tesco and
Sainsbury's  loyalty schemes which offer aMrac$ve discounts  to members , have been very successful
Sainsbury's  repor$ng that nine out of ten £80+ weekly shopping baskets  are sold to customers  us ing their
Nectar loyalty card.

Tesco and Sainsbury's maintained market share whilst discounter growth begins to slow

The UK  grocery market is  highly consol idated with the s ix leading operators  accoun$ng for 83% of the market.
These operators  can be divided into two groups: the four mul$channel  (in-store and onl ine) operators , Tesco,
Sainsbury's , Asda and Morrisons, and two l imited range in-store only discounters , Aldi  and Lidl .

5-year operator market share (UK) (June 2019 - June 2024)28
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Tesco and Sainsbury's , the Company's  key tenants , con$nue to be the leading players  in the UK  grocery space
with 27.7% and 15.2% market share respec$vely. Both operators  have increased market share in the last 12
months  and are seeing the benefit of investments  in their stores , product ranges  and loyalty schemes. Asda
and Morrisons  (12.8% and 8.7% market share respec$vely) have con$nued to lose market share fol lowing
their highly leveraged takeovers  in 2020 and in the face of competition from the l imited range discounters .

Discounter portfolio size (UK), 2017-2023

W hile Aldi  and Lidl  achieved impress ive growth which accelerated in the period from 2020 to 2023, with
Aldi 's  market share growing from 7.5% to 10.2% and Lidl 's  growing from 5.8% to 8.1% in the period, this
growth appears  to have s lowed. I n the case of Aldi , this  growth reversed in 2024 with market share marginal ly
decl ining to 10.0% whi le Lidl  increased market share at a  lower annual  rate to 8.1%. This  lower growth can be
l inked to several  factors  including a  reduced rate of store openings  which had previous ly been the key driver
of market share growth.

The chal lenge for the discounters  wi l l  be achieving further growth whi lst maintaining profitabi l i ty. 98% of the
Company's  UK  porRol io a lready has  a  discounter present within a  10-minute drive$me. We expect new store
opening by the discounters  to cannibal ise exis$ng discounter trade and therefore the marginal  profit of new
stores  wi l l  be di luted.

Lower inflation expected to drive grocery profitability



Grocery price infla$on has  driven s ignificantly higher revenues for supermarkets  in recent years . W hi lst the
abi l i ty for supermarkets  to pass  through infla$on to consumers  highl ights  the non-discre$onary nature of
grocery, there has  of course been an impact on consumers ' shopping habits . Cost of l iving pressures  have
decreased consumer purchas ing power, which has  resulted in a  trading down to supermarkets ' own brand
and value ranges. Through investment in cost reduc$on programmes and improved efficiency, coupled with
product price increases, operators  have largely been able to preserve squeezed margins .

As  food price infla$on begins  to moderate, we expect consumers  to again adjust their behaviour, driving
volume growth. However, the operators  wi l l  con$nue to benefit from the cost efficiencies  the high infla$on
rates  of recent years  have required and therefore we see volume growth in the coming years  being a  driver of
increased profi tabi l i ty. 

The highly compe$$ve and ultra-low margin nature of the Discount market has  meant Aldi  and Lidl  have had
to increase prices  faster than other operators  in order to protect thin margins  of 1-2%. W hi lst the Discount
channel  has  seen increas ing market share, this  has  primari ly been driven by increas ing prices  with Lidl  and
Aldi  inflating prices  by 25.7% and 23.1% respectively over the three months  to Apri l  202329.

 

ONS: Grocery inflation (Jun 2020 - Jun 2024)
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W ith infla$on beginning to moderate, grocery volumes are expected to increase as  household cost pressures
reduce, encouraging higher spending and purchas ing a  broader range of products , including non-essen$als
and premium items.

Tesco and Sainsbury's  have both recently announced a return to volume growth with increased basket s izes .

FRANCE

France Grocery Market Value (2019-2023, 2024-2028 (forecast))30

A graph of numbers and a number Description automatically generated

The French grocery market, one of the largest in the world by total  value, has  shown consistent growth over a
prolonged period. The defens ive and non-discre$onary sector has  experienced YoY sales  growth of 2.1%
against a  strong average infla$on-led comparator of 5.6% for 2023. Total  market sales  are forecasted to be
€290 bi l l ion in 2024, an increase of €44 bi l l ion or 18% s ince 2019. The French grocery sector is  expected to
reach €321 bi l l ion by 2028 representing an annual  increase of c.3%.

Insee: Grocery inflation (Jun 2020 - Jun 2024)
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Simi lar to the UK , France has  seen s ignificant infla$on pressure in recent years , helping to drive revenue
growth at the expense of volumes as  consumers  changed purchas ing habits  to manage budgets . Grocery
infla$on increased to an al l -$me high of over 15% in 2023, up from 0.8% in 2020. As  infla$onary pressures
ease, we expect to see volumes increase and consumers  return to more traditional  shopping habits .

 



French grocery market share (July 2024)31

The French grocery market is  highly consol idated with 60% of total  market share control led by three grocery
operators ; E.Leclerc, Carrefour and I ntermarche. O ver the last 6 months, Carrefour has  increased market share
by 0.3% to 19.6%. I t has  accelerated i ts  price investment programme, the effect of which has  been to increase
market share in the face of compe$$on from cheaper a l terna$ve grocers , whi le preserving profitabi l i ty.
Carrefour's  increase in market share was a lso driven by volume growth as  consumers  return to tradi$onal
shopping habits  and the effects  of inflation subs ide. 

French Online grocery spend (2017 to 2023 actual, 2024 to 2026 forecasted)

O nl ine market share in France has  been permanently enlarged due to an increase in take up throughout the
pandemic. The channel  has  grown by 93% between 2018 and 2024. The channel  has  been further strengthened
by investment programmes by operators  such as  Carrefour which, across  the group, i s  planning to invest €3
bi l l ion in the onl ine channel32 and for omnichannel  customers  to represent 30% of a l l  customers  by 202633.

Due to geographic differences  between the UK  and France, 80% of onl ine sales  are fulfil led via  C l ick & Col lect
vs  20% in the UK . O perators  wi l l  use large fulfilment centres  'hubs ' to pick and pack dry goods which are then
del ivered to stores  which operate as  'spokes '. These stores  are responsible for picking fresh goods with the
combined order col lected by the customer in the car park.

W hi lst the French onl ine model  i s  different, i t i s  bui l t around miss ion cri$cal  omnichannel  stores , in strong
locations  which provide last mi le ful fi lment to consumers. 

 

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

Atrato Capital  Limited, the Investment Adviser to the Group, i s  pleased to report the financial  results  of the
Group for the 12 months  ended 30 June 2024.

Financial results
 
 30 June 2024 30 June 2023

 £'000 £'000

Net rental  income 107,232 95,244

Administrative expenses (15,218) (15,429)

Net income from joint ventures - 11,746

Net finance expenses34 (16,192) (19,162)

Adjusted earnings 75,822 72,399

 
Net rental income
I n the year, the porRol io generated net rental  income of £107.2 mi l l ion (30 June 2023: £95.2 mi l l ion),
represen$ng an increase of £12.0 mi l l ion or 12.6% compared to the prior year. The growth in net rental
income was driven by a  ful l  period of rental  income from property acquis i$ons and the effect of contracted
rent reviews.
 
O n a l ike-for-l ike bas is , EP R A net rental  income increased by 2.1%. During the year we successful ly completed
22 rent reviews increas ing annual ised pass ing rent by £2.9 mi l l ion, with the reviews being seMled on average
4.8% ahead of previous  pass ing rent (or 4.0% on an annual ised bas is ).
 
Net service charge expenditure remained broadly flat at £0.6 mi l l ion (30 June 2023: £0.6 mi l l ion), however our
gross  to net margin con$nues to be among the highest in the sector at 99.4% (30 June 2023: 99.4%), reflec$ng
the strength of our core s ingle-let strategy and further highl ighting the covenant qual i ty of our tenant base.



the strength of our core s ingle-let strategy and further highl ighting the covenant qual i ty of our tenant base.
 
Rent col lec$on rates  were 100% for the year to 30 June 2024 (30 June 2023: 100%), as  our focus  on top trading
stores  and covenant qual i ty provided exceptional  income securi ty.
 
Administrative and other expenses and EPRA cost ratio
Administra$ve and other expenses, which include al l  opera$onal  costs  of running the bus iness , decreased by
£0.2 mi l l ion to £15.2 mi l l ion (30 June 2023: £15.4 mi l l ion). We con$nue to monitor the opera$onal  efficiency
of the Group through i ts  EP R A cost ra$o, which is  among the lowest in the sector, and improved by 80bps to
14.7%.
 

30 June 30 June

2024 2023

EPRA cost ratio including direct vacancy costs 14.7% 15.5%

EPRA cost ratio excluding direct vacancy costs 14.4% 15.2%

 
Net finance expenses35

During the year, the Group received £134.9 mi l l ion fol lowing the divestment of i ts  interest in the Sainsbury's
Revers ion PorRol io Joint Venture. Part of the proceeds were u$l ised to pay down debt, subsequent to which
the Group increased i ts  debt faci l i ties  with a  new SMBC faci l i ty.
 
Net finance expenses  reduced by £3.0 mi l l ion to £16.2 mi l l ion compared to the prior year, primari ly due to the
short-term loan in relation to the Joint Venture in the prior year and a lower average debt cost.
 
Adjusted earnings
The Directors  cons ider adjusted earnings  a  key measure of the Company's  underlying opera$ng results , and a
reference through which the Board measures  dividend cover. Adjusted earnings  therefore excludes  one-off
items which are non-recurring in nature and includes  finance income on deriva$ves  held at fa i r value through
profit on loss . Adjusted earnings  for the year to 30 June 2024 were £75.8 mi l l ion (30 June 2023: £72.4
mi l l ion). O n a per share bas is , adjusted earnings  increased by 0.3 pence per share to 6.1 pence for the year to
30 June 2024, an increase of 4% (30 June 2023: 5.8 pence).
 
A ful l  reconci l iation between IFRS and Adjusted earnings  can be found in note 11 of the financial  information.
 
Dividend
In the financial  year ended 30 June 2024, the Company paid the fol lowing interim dividends:
 
 
Declared

Amount
pence per share

In respect of the
financial year ended

Paid/
to be paid

6 July 2023 1.500p 30 June 2023 4 August 2023
5 October 2023 1.515p 30 June 2024 16 November 2023
4 January 2024 1.515p 30 June 2024 14 February 2024
4 Apri l  2024 1.515p 30 June 2024 16 May 2024
 
Post period end, the Company declared an interim dividend in respect of the financial  year ended 30 June
2024 of 1.515 pence per O rdinary Share (the "Fourth Q uarterly Dividend"). The Fourth Q uarterly Dividend was
paid on 16 August 2024 as  a  P roperty I ncome Distribu$on ("P I D") to shareholders  on the register as  of 12 July
2024. The Company has  now declared four quarterly dividends total l ing 6.06 pence per O rdinary Share in
respect of the financial  year ended 30 June 2024.
 
EPRA net tangible assets and IFRS net asset
  30 June 2024 30 June 2023

  £'000 £'000

Investment property  1,768,216 1,685,690

Bank and other borrowings  (694,168) (667,465)

Cash  38,691 37,481

Other net (l iabi l i ties)/assets  (28,207) 100,828

EPRA net tangible assets  1,084,532 1,156,534

Fair value of interest rate derivatives  31,449 57,583

Fair value adjustment for financial  assets  held at
amortised cost  3,493 3,609

IFRS net assets  1,119,474 1,217,726

 
EP R A net tangible assets  ("EP R A NTA") i s  cons idered to be the most relevant asset measure for the Group, and
includes  both income and capital  returns, but excludes  the fa ir value of interest rate deriva$ves  and includes
a revaluation to fa ir value of investment properties  held at amortised cost.
 
At 30 June 2024, EP R A NTA was £1,085 mi l l ion (30 June 2023: £1,157 mi l l ion), represen$ng an EP R A NTA per
share of 87 pence, a  decrease of 6.3% s ince 30 June 2023 primari ly due to the porRol io revalua$on deficit of
£65.8 mi l l ion or 5 pence per share.
 
Portfolio Valuation
The value of the porRol io at 30 June 2024, including the fa ir value of investment proper$es  held at amor$sed
cost, was  £1,776 mi l l ion (30 June 2023: £1,693 mi l l ion). During the Year, the Group invested £135.8 mi l l ion in
20 omnichannel  supermarkets  (excluding transac$on costs). O n a l ike-for-l ike bas is , the porRol io recognised
a revalua$on deficit of £53.8 mi l l ion, or 3.2%, which reflects  the outward shiO in property yields  appl ied by
valuers  across  the real  estate sector as  a  result of higher interest rates  and the macroeconomic environment.
 
Cash Flow and Net Debt
Cash flows from opera$ng ac$vi$es  before changes  in working capital  increased by £12.6 mi l l ion to £89.6
mi l l ion, primari ly due to increased rental  income received from rent reviews and property acquis i tions.
 
During the year, the Group received £134.9 mi l l ion fol lowing the disposal  of i ts  interest in the Sainsbury's
Revers ion PorRol io Joint Venture. Part of the proceeds were used to acquire two omnichannel  supermarkets
with a  combined acquis i$on cost of £36.4 mi l l ion (excluding transac$on costs), providing earnings  growth in
l ine with the Group's  strategy, with the remaining proceeds used to reduce drawn debt.
 
I n the second hal f of the year, the Group drew down £106.8 mi l l ion from faci l i$es  with exis$ng lenders , to
fund the acquis i tion of 18 supermarkets .



fund the acquis i tion of 18 supermarkets .
Net debt increased by £25.5 mi l l ion over the year to 30 June 2024, to £655.5 mi l l ion, and represents  a  loan to
value of 37% (30 June 2023: 37%). The Group con$nues to maintain a  conserva$ve leverage pol icy, with a
medium-term target LTV of 30-40%.
 
Financing
 
  30 June 2024 30 June 2023

Undrawn faci l i ties36  £104m £190m

Loan to value  37% 37%

Net debt / EBITDA ratio  7.1x 7.9x

Weighted average cost of debt37,38  3.8% 2.9%

Interest cover  6.2x 4.1x

Average debt maturi ty39,42  4.0 years 3.7 years

% of drawn debt which is  fixed/hedged37  100% 100%

I n the first hal f of the year, the Group completed a comprehensive debt refinancing exercise, comple$ng a new
£67 mi l l ion unsecured faci l i ty with Sumitomo Mitsui  Banking Corpora$on, at the same $me reducing i ts  H S BC
faci l i ty from £150 mi l l ion to £50 mi l l ion and cancel l ing i ts  Barclays/RBC faci l i ty of £77.5 mi l l ion.
 
I n the second hal f of the year, the Group increased i ts  unsecured faci l i ty with Sumitomo Mitsui  Banking
Corpora$on by £37.5 mi l l ion to £104.5 mi l l ion, to faci l i tate the acquis i$on of a  Tesco omnichannel
supermarket in Stoke-on-Trent.
 
I n Apri l  2024, the Group drew down €81.7 mi l l ion from i ts  exis$ng H S BC revolving credit faci l i ty, having also
increased the total  s ize of the faci l i ty by £25 mi l l ion. The funds  were used to acquire a  porRol io of 17
supermarket stores  from Carrefour.
 
At 30 June 2024, the Group has  gross  borrowings  of £698 mi l l ion divers ified across  eight lenders , including
£415 mi l l ion of unsecured borrowings  and £283 mi l l ion of secured borrowings. I n addi$on, the Group has
avai lable undrawn faci l i$es  of £104 mi l l ion (which includes  a  £50 mi l l ion accordion) and plenty of
headroom under banking covenants , providing the capacity to execute opportunis$c transac$ons as  they
arise.
 
Post year end, the Group announced the comple$on of a  £170 mi l l ion refinancing through i ts  first private
placement issuance and a new unsecured bank faci l i ty.
 
As  part of the refinancing, the Company completed an agreement with a  group of ins$tu$onal  investors  for a
private placement of €83 mi l l ion new senior unsecured notes , which have a maturi ty of 7 years  and a fixed
rate coupon of 4.44%.

I n addi$on, the Group also refinanced i ts  exis$ng £97 mi l l ion secured debt faci l i ty with Deka through a new
£100 mi l l ion unsecured debt faci l i ty with I NG Bank N.V., London Branch. The faci l i ty comprises  a  £75 mi l l ion
term loan and a £25 mi l l ion revolving credit faci l i ty, which has  a  maturi ty of three-years  and has  two one-
year extens ion op$ons. Fol lowing the refinancing, the Company has  a  weighted average debt maturi ty of 4
years , a  weighted average debt cost of 3.8% and avai lable undrawn faci l i$es  of £176 mi l l ion (including £50
mil l ion accordion).
 
The Group's  interest rate risk i s  mi$gated through a combina$on of fixed debt and deriva$ve interest rate
swaps and caps. During the year, the Group u$l ised the value of i ts  exis$ng in-the-money interest rate hedges
to extend the term of i ts  hedging arrangements  by 12 months  through termina$ng exis$ng deriva$ves  and
acquiring new instruments  that a l igned with the expiry of the Group's  debt porRol io. This  exercise was
performed at no additional  cost to the Company.
 
The Group maintains  good long-term rela$onships  with a l l  lenders  and is  currently in discuss ions  regarding
refinancing requirements  over the next financial  year.
 
The Group con$nues to monitor i ts  banking covenants  and maintains  s ignificant headroom on i ts  LTV and I C R
covenants . As  at 30 June 2024, property values  would need to fa l l  by around 38% before breaching the
unsecured gearing covenant. S imi larly, net rental  income would need to fa l l  by 72% before breaching the
unsecured interest cover covenant.
 
Fi tch Ratings , as  part of i ts  annual  review, reaffi rmed the Group's  BBB+ rating with a  stable outlook.

TCFD COMPLIANT REPORT

Energy and Carbon Foreword

The Company recognises  the urgent need to address  cl imate change and is  commiMed to suppor$ng the
required trans ition to a  net zero economy. 

This  year, the Company reached a s ignificant mi lestone with the C l imate and Environment pi l lar of i ts
Sustainabi l i ty Strategy, with the seSng of a  formal ised 2050 net-zero commitment and associated GH G
emiss ions  reduc$on targets . These targets  were approved by the S BTi  in March 2024, and include a
commitment by the Company to reduce Scope 1 and 2 emiss ions  42% by 2030 and to reduce Scope 1, 2 and 3
emiss ions  90% by 2050 (from a FY23 base year).

The Company's  Board and the I nvestment Adviser recognise the importance of transparent, decis ion-useful
sustainabi l i ty repor$ng to improve our accountabi l i ty to stakeholders . As  such, the Company's  S EC R and TC F D
Report can be found below on pages  39 to 51. I n addi$on, the Company has  publ ished a standalone
Sustainabi l i ty Report covering i ts  wider ESG performance.

The Company remains  commiMed to further progress ing i ts  cl imate-related strategy and emiss ions  reduc$ons
ac$vi$es, as  i t con$nues to iden$fy opportuni$es  to reduce opera$onal  carbon and energy use and
contribute towards  a  net zero future.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

The below table and suppor$ng narra$ve summarise the S EC R disclosure. As  a  l i s ted en$ty, Supermarket
I ncome R EI T plc i s  required to comply with the S EC R regula$ons under the Companies  (Directors ' Report) and
Limited Liabi l i ty Partnerships  (Energy and Carbon Report) Regula$ons 2018. Data for the year 2022-2023 and
2023-2024 is  included as  this  i s  the Company's  second year of SECR.

Compared to the previous  repor$ng year (2022-2023), there has  been a s l ight increase in Scope 1 fuel



Compared to the previous  repor$ng year (2022-2023), there has  been a s l ight increase in Scope 1 fuel
consump$on and a decrease in Scope 2 purchased electrici ty consump$on. O veral l , this  has  resulted in a
decrease in total  Scope 1 and 2 emiss ions  from 111 tCO2e in the previous  repor$ng year to 103 tCO 2e (7%
reduc$on) in the current repor$ng year. Due to this  overal l  decrease in the Company's  Scope 1 and 2
emiss ions, emiss ions  from Fuel  and Energy related ac$vi$es  ("F ER A") (Scope 3 category 3) have also
decreased from 37 to 32 tCO2e (14% reduc$on) for this  repor$ng year. 40 Emiss ions  from P urchased Goods
and Services  (Scope 3 category 1) have decreased from 3,132 to 2,215 tCO2e (30% reduc$on) for this  repor$ng
year, due to a  decrease in total  included spend as  exclus ions  were more rigorous  this  year. This  year
exclus ions  from spend include service charge costs  and costs  that are recharged to tenants  in ful l . This  i s  due
to a spend-based approach being used for the Scope 3 P urchased Goods and Services , which supports  the
Company in priori$s ing i ts  suppl iers  for engagement on decarbonisa$on. This  year no newly bui l t proper$es
have been added to the porRol io; therefore, no emiss ions  are aMributed to Capital  Goods (Scope 3 category 2)
this  year.

Two new supermarket s i tes  have been acquired by the Company in this  repor$ng year. Even with the two new
sites  acquired, Scope 3 energy consumption and resultant emiss ions  from Downstream Leased Assets  (Scope 3
category 13), which includes  tenant Scope 1 and 2 emiss ions, have decreased from 83,794 to 81,931 tCO2e
(1% decrease) for this  repor$ng year due to improved es$ma$on methods. O veral l , total  Scope 1, 2 and 3
emiss ions  have decreased from 87,537 tCO2e in the previous  repor$ng year to 84,281 tCO 2e (4% reduc$on) in
the current reporting year.

An error in the supermarket refrigerant emiss ion calcula$on was found for the previous  repor$ng year (2022-
2023), resul$ng in miss ing Scope 3 downstream leased asset emiss ions  reported last year. This  has  now been
rec$fied and restated figures  are included in the table below. The correc$on has  resulted in an 8% increase in
total  emiss ions  for the repor$ng year 2022-2023. I n Apri l  2024, the Company acquired a porRol io of
Carrefour omnichannel  supermarkets  in France through a sale and leaseback transac$on. Given the $ming of
this  transac$on, ful l  year energy and carbon data has  not yet been col lected for these French assets .
Therefore, the disclosures  in this  S EC R Report focus  on the energy and carbon performance of the Company's
UK  porRol io only. However, the Company intends to col lect the required energy and carbon performance data
from these French assets  over the next repor$ng period to ensure the Company's  next S EC R Report covers  both
UK and French assets .

Report Previous repor>ng
year:
1st July 2022 - 30th

June 2023

As restated: 1st July
2022 - 30th June
2023

Current repor>ng
year:
1st July 2023 - 30th

June 2024

Location UK UK UK

Emissions from the
combustion of fuel
and operation of
facilities (tCO2e)
(Scope 1)

10 10 11

Emissions from
purchase of
electricity (location-
based) (tCO2e)
(Scope 2)

101 101 92

Emissions from
business travel in
rental cars or
employee-owned
vehicles where
company is
responsible for
purchasing the fuel
(tCO2e) (Scope 3)41

N/A N/A N/A

Total mandatory
emissions (tCO2e)42 111 111 103

Voluntary: Emissions
from Fuel and Energy
related activity
(location-based)
(tCO2e) (Scope 3)

37 37 32

Voluntary: Emissions
from Purchased
Goods and Services
(tCO2e) (Scope 3)

3,132 3,132 2,215

Voluntary: Emissions
from Capital Goods
(tCO2e) (Scope 3)

463 463 N/A

Voluntary: Emissions
from Downstream
Leased Assets
(tCO2e) (Scope 3)43

77,274 83,794 81,931

Total gross
emissions (tCO2e)44 

81,017 87,537 84,281

Energy consumption
used to calculate
Scope 1 emissions
(kWh)

 606,629 52,726 56,568



(kWh)

Energy consumption
used to calculate
Scope 2 emissions
(kWh)

521,321 521,321 443,555

Energy consumption
used to calculate
Scope 3 emissions
(kWh)45

 186,704,059 187,756,005 174,876,336

Total energy
consumption (kWh)

 187,832,009 188,330,052 175,376,459

Intensity ratio: tCO2e
(gross Scope 1 + 2)
per m2 of floor
area46

0.00045 0.00045 0.00037

Intensity ratio: tCO2e
(gross Scope 1, 2 + 3)
per m2 of floor
area47

0.14 0.14 0.10

 
M e t h o d o lo gy

The 2023/24 footprint within the scope of S EC R repor$ng is  equivalent to 84,281 tCO2e, including voluntary
emiss ions, with the largest por$on being made up of emiss ions  from downstream leased assets  at 81,931
tCO2e.

Anthes is  has  calculated the above GH G emiss ions  to cover a l l  materia l  sources  of emiss ions  for which the
Company is  responsible. The methodology used was that of the GH G P rotocol : A Corporate Accoun$ng and
Repor$ng Standard (revised edi$on, 2015). Responsibi l i ty for emiss ions  sources  was  determined us ing the
opera$onal  control  approach. Al l  emiss ions  sources  required under The Companies  (Directors ' Report) and
Limited Liabi l i ty Partnerships  (Energy and Carbon Report) Regulations  2018 are included.

Raw data captured in spreadsheets  including energy spend and consump$on data has  been col lected by the
Company. W here actual  consump$on data was avai lable for natural  gas  and electrici ty use, this  was  used. To
address  data gaps, the most appropriate proxy was appl ied by us ing ei ther previous  year's  data, actual  data
to calculate average monthly consump$on, or by applying the average floor area intens ity from s i tes  with
actual  data. Fuel  oi l  was  es$mated by applying the average 2023 UK  fuel  oi l  price to the budgeted spend for
fuel  oi l . Energy was then converted to GH G emiss ions  us ing the UK  Government's  GH G Convers ion Factors  for
Company Repor$ng 2023. Scope 3 emiss ions  have been calculated for relevant materia l  categories  us ing
consump$on data, spend data, floor area and EP C data. Fuel  and Energy related ac$vi$es  includes  wel l -to-
tank ("W TT") and transmiss ion and distribu$on ("T&D") upstream emiss ions  from Scope 1&2. For P urchased
Goods and Services , Environmental ly Extended I nput O utput ("EEI O ") has  been used. Spend data was provided
per suppl ier and mapped to 2023 D EF R A I nput/O utput ("I O ") categories . No newly bui l t s i tes  were acquired
during this  repor$ng year, therefore there were no Capital  Goods this  year. W here actual  data was  not
avai lable for Downstream Leased Assets , a  combina$on of C I BS E benchmarks  were used against EP C data on
energy use and hea$ng type. P ubl icly avai lable a ir condi$oning ("AC") cer$ficates  were used to determine the
type and amount of refrigerants . W here this  was  not avai lable, other s imi lar s i tes  were used as  proxies . As
per EPA data, the s ize of the air condi$oning equipment used was dependent on the amount of refrigerant used
and the floor area. Supermarket refrigera$on and non-food air condi$oning was es$mated us ing an intens ity
es$mate from EPA data as  no ac$vity data was  avai lable. Refrigerant loss  rate for refrigera$on was taken
from Direct Emiss ions  from Use of Refrigeration, Air Conditioning Equipment and Heat Pumps from DEFRA.

The Company con$nued i ts  efforts  to improve energy efficiency across  landlord-control led areas  and to
support tenant-led energy efficiency measures  between 1 July 2023 and 30 June 2024. A number of s i tes  have
been iden$fied for LED l igh$ng upgrades  across  car park and communal  areas  which wi l l  have a pos i$ve
impact on the Company's  Scope 2 emiss ions. Tenant-led investments  in store upgrades  have also focused on
energy efficiency and resulted in EP C ra$ng improvements , as  discussed in the Sainsbury's  Cheltenham case
study above.

Approach to GHG emissions restatements

To improve i ts  GH G repor$ng, the Company may restate previous ly reported data to provide a more accurate
representa$on of previous  performance and i ts  decarbonisa$on journey, should a  s ignificant change or error
be identi fied, such as :

·   Signi ficant changes  in company structure and activi ties
· Methodology changes  such as  improvements  in emiss ions  factors , data access  and calcula$on

methodologies
·   Discovery of s igni ficant error(s) in previous ly reported data

 
The Company wi l l  restate the basel ine used for i ts  Scope 1, 2 and 3 emiss ions  reduc$ons targets  i f any of the
changes  above result in a  change of 5% or more, in l ine with the requirements  of the S BTi . The Company wi l l
review the impact of the Carrefour porRol io acquis i$on on i ts  S BT basel ine once ful l  year energy and carbon
data is  col lected for these French assets .

Taskforce on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

Introduction

The fol lowing report contains  the Company's  voluntary cl imate-related financial  disclosures  for the repor$ng
period 1 July 2023 - 30 June 2024 in rela$on to governance, strategy, risk management and metrics  and
targets . I t addresses  a l l  four core elements  and 11 Recommended Disclosures  as  detai led in
"Recommendations  of the Task Force on Cl imate-Related Financial  Disclosures".48

Governance

Describe how the board exercises oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities:

The Board is  responsible for seSng the Company's  sustainabi l i ty strategy and overseeing the Company's
approach to cl imate-related risks  and opportunities  affecting the bus iness .

Both the Board and JTC Global  AI F M Solu$ons Limited, the Company's  Alterna$ve I nvestment Fund Manager
(the "AI F M"), are responsible for the investment decis ions  of the Company and direc$ng the del ivery of
services  by the I nvestment Adviser to ensure that cl imate-related priori$es  are incorporated into the



services  by the I nvestment Adviser to ensure that cl imate-related priori$es  are incorporated into the
execu$on of the investment strategy. I n support of this  objec$ve, the Board establ ished i ts  ES G CommiMee in
May 2022, whose role helps  to ensure that sustainabi l i ty i ssues, including cl imate change, are discussed in
sufficient detai l  and given appropriate focus  at the Board level . The ES G CommiMee, which is  Chaired by
Frances  Davies  and aMended by al l  of the Company's  Directors , meets  at least four $mes a year and has
responsibi l i ty for overseeing the del ivery of the Company's  Sustainabi l i ty Strategy, including iden$fica$on
and management of cl imate-related risks . The Board is  primari ly informed of cl imate-related issues  by the
I nvestment Adviser through the mee$ngs  of the ES G CommiMee. The Board also cons iders  cl imate-related
issues  when making decis ions  on acquis i$ons and this  process  is  described below under the managing
cl imate-related risks  sec$on of this  report. See F igure 1 for an overview of the Company's  governance
structure related to cl imate-related risks  and opportunities .

Figure 1 | Governance structure related to climate-related risks and opportunities

The Board reviewed and approved a refreshed Sustainabi l i ty Strategy for the Company in March 2024, of
which "Cl imate and Environment" is  one of three key pi l lars . The ES G CommiMee receives  a  report and verbal
update from the I nvestment Adviser at every quarterly mee$ng in rela$on to this  aspect of the strategy, and
the other two pi l lars  (namely, Tenant and Community Engagement and Responsible Bus iness). The ES G
Committee update includes  the Company's  quarterly performance against environmental  measures  outl ined in
the Company's  last TC F D Report (repor$ng period 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023). The update also covers  the
broader del ivery of the Company's  sustainabi l i ty strategy, including ac$vi$es  such as  the rol l -out of rooOop
solar photovoltaic ("PV") and EV charging, improvement of Energy Performance Certi ficate ("EPC") ratings , ESG-
related investor engagement and cl imate trans i$on planning. These updates  a l low the ES G CommiMee to
oversee the I nvestment Adviser's  performance against the agreed del iverables  under the sustainabi l i ty
strategy, as  wel l  as  holding i t to account for non-performance. I n addi$on, at the annual  Board strategy day
event, sustainabi l i ty strategy is  included as  a  core agenda i tem. The ES G CommiMee is  a lso involved in the
review process  and ul$mate approval  of the Company's  TC F D Report. The I nvestment Adviser's  Managing
Director, ES G, i s  responsible for leading the del ivery of these services  to the ES G CommiMee on behalf of the
Investment Adviser.

The Board is  commiMed to ongoing improvement of the Company's  cl imate-related disclosures. During the
repor$ng year, sustainabi l i ty consultancy Anthes is  was  again engaged to provide external  support to help
shape the Company's  response and al ignment to the TC F D recommenda$ons. As  part of this  support, Anthes is
conducted an independent peer review. I n addi$on, they provided analys is  of and recommenda$ons on the
Company's  final  disclosures  to further advance i ts  progress  against best prac$ce approaches  and iden$fy
focus  areas  for the Company to address  in upcoming disclosures. The Board is  invested in enhancing the
Company's  understanding of cl imate risks  and opportuni$es  and, as  part of this , approved budget a l loca$on
for ongoing cl imate-related ac$vi$es, for the next repor$ng year. This  faci l i tates  forward planning and
preparation of ESG matters  targeted for the next reporting year.

The Board recognises  that appropriate training and upski l l ing is  a  key enabler to ensure successful
implementa$on of the Company's  sustainabi l i ty strategy and, specifical ly, the integra$on of sustainabi l i ty
factors  into the investment process . I n 2023 and 2024, C l imate Risk tra ining was del ivered to the I nvestment
Adviser and the Board respec$vely, to improve understanding of cl imate-related risks  and opportuni$es  and
their tracking and overs ight in order to support the management of these issues  in the Company's  activi ties .

Describe management's role in assessing and managing climate-related risks and opportunities:

Investment Adviser

The I nvestment Adviser i s  responsible for the day-to-day del ivery of the sustainabi l i ty strategy as  approved by
the Board on behalf of the Company, including the assessment, management and repor$ng of cl imate-related
risks  and opportunities .

Steve W indsor, P rincipal  and Sustainabi l i ty Champion at the I nvestment Adviser, i s  responsible for overs ight,
monitoring and management of sustainabi l i ty risks  and opportuni$es  including those related to cl imate
change. The I nvestment Adviser's  Managing Director, ES G, i s  responsible for the opera$onal  del ivery of
cl imate-related risks  and opportuni$es  measures  within the I nvestment Adviser's  opera$ons and leads  the
provis ion of cl imate risk advice to the Company. 

The I nvestment Adviser's  Managing Director, ES G, and Fund Management team meet fortnightly to discuss  ES G
issues  impac$ng the Company, and cl imate risk i s  a  standing agenda i tem as  part of these mee$ngs. The
Managing Director, ES G is  a lso a  standing aMendee at the I nvestment Adviser's  I nvestment CommiMee,
assuming responsibi l i ty for implementa$on and al ignment with the I nvestment Adviser's  sustainabi l i ty
systems and controls , co-ordina$on of third-party service providers , and management of the Company's
sustainabi l i ty activi ties  including cl imate-related reporting. 

W here the Company has  appointed a third-party service provider, the I nvestment Adviser wi l l  require and
hold regular project progress  mee$ngs  with the service provider, where del ivery is  tracked against an agreed
project $mel ine. The results  of the progress  wi l l  be communicated to the ES G CommiMee by the I nvestment
Adviser in the context of i ts  progress  against the agreed sustainabi l i ty strategy. In order to formal ise overs ight
of the TCFD reporting process , the Investment Adviser plans  to formal ly establ ish a  dedicated Cl imate Risk and
TC F D Working Group in the next repor$ng period. This  Working Group wi l l  be led by the I nvestment Adviser's
Managing Director, ES G, and cons ist of members  of the wider I nvestment Adviser team, including from fund
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Managing Director, ES G, and cons ist of members  of the wider I nvestment Adviser team, including from fund
management and finance, to ensure appropriate ass ignment of cl imate-related responsibi l i$es  and
monitoring of cl imate-related issues.

Strategy

Describe the climate-related risks and opportuni>es the organiza>on has iden>fied over the short, medium,
and long term.

I n accordance with TC F D recommended disclosures , the Company has  iden$fied cl imate-related risks  and
opportuni$es  across  two key categories : (1) physical risks related to the phys ical  impacts  of cl imate change
(acute and chronic) and (2) transi�on risks related to the trans i$on to a  low carbon economy (pol icy, legal ,
technology, and market).

The Company cons idered these risks  over three key $me periods: from now un$l  2030 (near-term), from 2030
to 2050 (medium-term) and 2050 to 2100 (long-term). 

 

Time Horizon Details
Near-term (until 2030) The  ne a r-te rm $me  hori zon (2024-2030) a l i gns  to both the  Compa ny's  ne a r-te rm

Sci e nce  Ba s e d Ta rge t (2030) a nd the  a n$ci pa te d compl i a nce  de a dl i ne  for the
propos e d Mi ni mum Ene rgy Effici e ncy Sta nda rds  ("MEES") re gul a $on. The  Inve s tme nt
Advi s e r a n$ci pa te s  2030 a s  the  ta rge t ye a r for a  mi ni mum B EPC ra $ngs .  Due  to the
12 ye a r we i ghte d a ve ra ge  une xpi re d l e a s e  te rm ("WAULT") of i ts  porRol i o, the
Compa ny e xpe cts  tha t the re  wi l l  be  a  l i mi te d numbe r of l e a s e  re ne wa l s  a nd fe w
cha nge s  to i ts  e xi s ti ng l e a s e s  duri ng thi s  ti me  pe ri od. 

Medium-term (from
2030 to 2050)

The  me di um-te rm $me  hori zon (from 2030) a l i gns  wi th a  pe ri od of curre nt l e a s e
re ne wa l s  for the  ma jori ty of the  Compa ny's  a s s e ts , duri ng whi ch phys i ca l  a nd
tra ns i $on ri s ks  a s s oci a te d wi th the  Compa ny's  porRol i o ma y ha ve  gre a te r i nflue nce
on l e a s e  a gre e me nts  wi th e xi s ti ng a nd ne w te na nts .

Long-term (2050 to
2100)

The  l ong-te rm $me  hori zon a l i gns  wi th both the  Compa ny's  l ong-te rm / ne t-ze ro
Sci e nce  Ba s e d Ta rge t a nd wi th a  pote n$a l  i ncre a s e  i n the  l i ke l i hood a nd s e ve ri ty of
phys i ca l  cl i ma te  ri s ks  i mpa c$ng the  Compa ny's  porRol i o. Thi s  a l l ows  for the
cre a $on of l ong-te rm s tra te gi e s  a nd pl a nni ng re ga rdi ng porRol i o ma na ge me nt i n
re s pons e  to the s e  ri s ks .

 
The Company cons idered two key temperature scenarios  as  part of i ts  scenario analys is  conducted this  year:

Scenario Details
1.5°C / REMIND / SSP2 /
Orderly ("1.5°C Net
Zero")

Ne t Ze ro 2050 i s  a n a mbi $ous  s ce na ri o tha t l i mi ts  gl oba l  wa rmi ng to 1.5 °C through
s tri nge nt cl i ma te  pol i ci e s  a nd i nnova $on, re a chi ng ne t ze ro CO₂ e mi s s i ons  a round
2050.

3°C / REMIND / SSP2 /
"3°C: Current Policies"

Curre nt Pol i ci e s  Sce na ri o. No a ddi $ona l  cl i ma te  pol i ci e s  a re  a ppl i e d l e a di ng to
s i gni fica nt gl oba l  wa rmi ng (e xce e di ng 3°C) wi th s e ve re  phys i ca l  ri s ks  a nd
i rre ve rs i bl e  i mpa cts  l i ke  s e a -l e ve l  ri s e .

 

Further detai ls  on the hazard level  model  and data sets  used as  part of the Company's  scenario analys is  i s
included in the appendix of this  TCFD Report.

The Company has  u$l ised the M S C I  Real  Assets  (Real  Estate) C l imate Risk Tool (the "M S C I  tool") and
associated C l imate Value at Risk ("C l imate Va R") outputs  to quan$fy the phys ical  risks  across  the post-2050
(long-term) $me horizon.49 The outputs  provide a qual i ta$ve risk assessment us ing set F inancial  Risk
Categories  determined based on the asset's  C l imate Va R. For each hazard and for the trans i$on risk, the
Cl imate VaR is  class i fied into one of seven buckets  as  shown in Figure 2 below50:

Figure 2 | Financial Risk Category

A yel low and blue s ign with a  sun and a house and waves  Description automatical ly generated

The Company recognises  the M S C I  tool  i s  only one of many different scenario analys is  tools  currently
avai lable on the market. I n addi$on, such tools  and the underlying data models  and inputs  they u$l ise are
constantly evolving as  cl imate research and avai lable data sets  con$nue to advance. Therefore, the Company
has  adopted this  method of scenario analys is  as  an efficient way to review i ts  porRol io, but any findings  wi l l
require further inves$ga$on to establ ish their accuracy. The Company's  plans  in this  respect are outl ined in
more detai l  under the 3°C (Current Pol icies) temperature scenario results  shared below on page 45. The
Company also intends to col laborate with M S C I , and other data providers  that may be used in future, to
provide feedback on the tools  and data inputs  and to chal lenge assumptions  and outputs  when necessary.

https://www.msci.com/our-solutions/climate-investing/real-estate-climate-solutions


I n F Y23 the sustainabi l i ty consultancy, Anthes is , was  engaged to conduct a  prel iminary cl imate risk
assessment and qual i ta$ve scenario analys is  as  part of preparing the Company's  2023 TC F D Report. During
this  assessment, the fol lowing risks  were cons idered as  poten$al ly most materia l  to the Company determined
based on their relative l ikel ihood and potentia l  financial  impact:

1.    Phys ical  Risk:

a.    Flooding (Acute & Chronic): Increased insurance premiums and increased capital
expenditure required on adaptative or remediation measures.

b.    Extreme Heat (Acute): Increas ing operating costs  for tenants  through increased energy
demand required for cool ing; supply chain disruption, stock damage and write off. This  may
increase capital  expenditure, repairs  and maintenance, and reduced tenant demand and/or
rent premiums for less  energy efficient bui ldings .

2.    Trans ition Risk

a.    Pol icy and Legal  Risk: Currently represented by the proposed MEES regulation, but could
include new or additional  regulations. Any properties  not compl iant with MEES could reduce
tenant demand, reduce rent premiums or result in fines .

b.    Market: Energy costs  may increase for tenants , shi fting preferences  for more energy efficient
bui ldings  and renewables .

c.     Reputation: Tenants  demand preferences  may shi ft to lower carbon, highly energy efficient
bui ldings , due to Net Zero commitments  and their customer demands, reducing tenant
demand and/or rent premiums.

This  ini$al  analys is  has  been expanded on in this  repor$ng year with further qual i ta$ve and quan$ta$ve
analys is  undertaken over three potentia l  ri sks , namely:

·    Phys ical  risk of flooding (both coastal  and pluvia l );
·    Extreme heat; and
·    Trans ition risks  related to MEES, as  discussed in the Strategy section above

 
These risks  were selected due to their poten$al  impact over different $me horizons, with the proposed M EES
regula$ons iden$fied as  a  key near-term risk and flooding and extreme heat iden$fied as  poten$al  longer-
term risks , a l lowing a broader assessment of the Company's  strategic response and res i l ience. The Company
wi l l  look to further explore market and reputa$on related trans i$on risks  (both longer term trans i$on risks)
in the next reporting period.
 
In FY23, the Company also identi fied the fol lowing cl imate-related opportunity:
 

1.    Cl imate-related opportunities :
a.    Market: By accelerating deployment of energy efficient measures, setting a  Science Based

Target ("SBT") and better a l igning with tenant preferences, the Company could gain a
competitive advantage relative to other commercial  landlords  who are not as  progress ive on
in their cl imate and sustainabi l i ty related ambitions. This  could enable increased tenant
demand and rent premiums.

 
During the repor$ng period, the Company has  acted on both the opportunity to set a  S BT and con$nued
deployment of energy efficient measures  - including progress ing rol l  out of rooOop solar PV and instal la$on
of EV across  the porRol io. These measures  and the Company's  targets  in rela$on to cl imate-related
opportuni$es  are discussed in more detai l  under the Metrics  and Targets  sec$on of this  report, in Tables  B
and E.
 
As  iden$fied above, a  key progress  mi lestone in the maturi ty of the Company's  cl imate risk processes
achieved in this  repor$ng period is  the adop$on of the M S C I  tool . The Company has  used this  tool  to ass ist
with quan$ta$ve scenario analys is  and an assessment of the porRol io's  exposure to cl imate-related phys ical
risks  and associated value at risk. The P hys ical  Risk model  integrated within the M S C I  tool  assesses  the cost
of phys ical  risks  on bui ldings , us ing cl imate data for the given loca$ons of assets  incorpora$ng the hazards
of extreme heat, extreme cold, fluvial  and coastal  flooding, tropical  cyclones  and wi ldfire (see F igure 3). A
summary of the key cl imate data sets  integrated into the M S C I  P hys ical  Risk model  i s  included in the appendix
of this  TCFD Report.

Figure 3 | Physical Risk Hazards:

 

 



 

I n addi$on to other result outputs  cons idered, the M S C I  tool  was  a lso used to conduct a  phys ical  risk
assessment, iden$fying the percentage of the Company's  assets  at above negl igible risk51. The assessment
was undertaken against the two key phys ical  risks  that were qual i ta$vely analysed in the Company's  2023
TCFD analys is , namely flood risk and extreme heat. 

This  i s  the first stage in the Company's  project to develop plans  to mi$gate any materia l  cl imate risks  at an
asset level .

The outputs  of this  assessment under the high emiss ions  3°C  (Current Policies) temperature scenario
(aggress ive outcome)52 highl ighted the fol lowing results  for the portfol io53:

·    When cons idering both flood and extreme heat independently, the majori ty of the Company's  portfol io
properties  are exposed to negl igible (>0 to 0.5% VaR) or no identi fiable risk. The same can be said
when cons idering aggregate phys ical  risk overal l .

·    In terms of coastal  flood risk, 89% of the portfol io properties  has  ei ther no identi fiable or negl igible
exposure to coastal  flooding risk.

·    In terms of fluvia l  flood risk, 83% of the portfol io properties  has  ei ther no identi fiable or negl igible
exposure to fluvia l  flooding risk.

·    In terms of extreme heat risk, the results  showed that no assets  in the portfol io face more than
negl igible exposure to extreme heat under this  scenario. Therefore, highl ighting flood risk rather than
extreme heat as  a  priori ty for further analys is . This  i s  in l ine with the benchmark of MSCI UK
Quarterly Supermarket Index which also identi fies  extreme heat as  a  negl igible risk under this
scenario.

These risks  reduce under an Average Outcome 3°C (Current Policies) temperature scenario, and further reduce
under a  1.5°C (Orderly) temperature scenario (under both an Aggress ive and Average Outcome).

O ver the next repor$ng cycle, the Company wi l l  undertake the next phase of i ts  risk mi$ga$on project and
look to conduct further analys is  over the outputs  from this  assessment. This  wi l l  involve specific review into
the assets  identi fied from this  assessment as  being at above negl igible exposure to flooding, including:

·    Further investigation into the results  through review of any historic flood or extreme heat events ;

·    Comparison against UK GOV flood risk scores  and other publ icly avai lable research; and

·    Review of any existing tenant or local  government adaptation plans.

Through this  ongoing work, the Company wi l l  a im to val idate the results  and to determine an appropriate
strategic response and any planning required to address  any iden$fied risks , for example, the development of
s i te-speci fic flood management plans  or engagement of further environmental  surveys.

W hi le the outputs  from the M S C I  tool  in terms of heat risk showed that this  risk i s  financial ly immateria l  at a
direct asset level , the Company recognises  that extreme heat s$l l  poses  a  poten$al  indirect risk to the
Company through the potentia l  impact on i ts  tenants  and their supply chains .

I n terms of trans i$on risk, pol icy and legal  risk related to the proposed M EES regula$on was chosen as  the
key risk for the Company's  trans i$on risk analys is . O ver the next repor$ng period, the Company intends to
conduct a  high-level  assessment of the cost to retrofit our current porRol io to achieve compl iance with the
proposed M EES regula$ons in l ieu of expected tenant-led investment. The Company also has  a  project
underway to develop i ts  first Trans i$on P lan which wi l l  further outl ine the Company's  ac$ons and resources
associated with i ts  trans i$on to net zero and ac$ons to reduce the Company's  GH G emiss ions  in l ine with i ts
science-based emiss ions  reductions  targets .

Going forward, the Company intends to take an i tera$ve approach to scenario analys is  as  a  strategic
planning tool  over $me, as  external  tools  and analy$cal  choices  evolve and the Company's  analys is  further
matures.

Describe the impact of climate-related risks and opportuni>es on the organiza>on's businesses, strategy, and
financial planning.

The Company has  iden$fied two materia l  ri sks , one per trans i$on and phys ical , from the outputs  of the
scenario analys is  conducted over this  repor$ng period. The impact of each risk is  l ikely to vary in magnitude
across  different $me horizons  and cl imate scenarios  (as  l i s ted in Table A), and so the Company wi l l  con$nue
to monitor and analyse these risks  to better understand how they may unfold.

Table A below provides  a  descrip$on of each risk and the Company's  assessment of poten$al  impact and risk
management strategy (including mitigating actions).

Table A | Climate-related risks summary

TCFD Risk
Category

Risk
Description

Time
Horizon

Potential Impact and Strategy (including mitigating actions)

Transition
Risk: Policy
and Legal

Propos e d
MEES
re gul a ti on
re qui ri ng
portfol i o
a s s e ts  to
a chi e ve  a
mi ni mum
of EPC B
ra ti ng by
2030.

Near-term
(from now
until
2030)
 

1.5°C s ce na ri o (Ne t Ze ro): higher risk
3°C (Curre nt Pol i ci e s ) s ce na ri o: lower risk
 
The  propos e d MEES re gul a $on i s  e xpe cte d to re qui re  a l l  comme rci a l
prope rty to be  a  mi ni mum EPC B by 2030. 56% of the  Compa ny's
portfol i o i s  curre ntl y ra te d B or a bove .
 
Thi s  ri s k (a nd othe r pol i cy a nd l e ga l  ri s ks ) i s  hi ghe r unde r a  1.5°C
s ce na ri o whi ch a s s ume s  the  i mpl e me nta $on of s tri nge nt cl i ma te
pol i ci e s  re qui re d to re a ch ne t ze ro.
 
The  di re ct i mpa ct of the  propos e d re gul a $on i s  re duce d gi ve n the  Ful l
Re pa i ri ng a nd Ins uri ng ("FRI") na ture  of the  l e a s e s 54, a nd the
a mbi $ous  e mi s s i ons  re duc$on a nd a s s oci a te d e ne rgy e ffici e ncy
ta rge ts  of the  Compa ny's  ma jor te na nts . 75% of the  UK porRol i o i s
l e a s e d to Te s co a nd Sa i ns bury's , wi th both the s e  te na nts  ha vi ng s e t
ne t ze ro by 2050 s ci e nce -ba s e d ta rge ts , s upporte d by commi tme nts  to
re trofit the i r s tore s  to i mprove  e ne rgy e ffici e ncy ove r the  ne a r a nd
me di um-te rm. Thi s  te na nt-l e d i nve s tme nt i n e ne rgy e ffici e ncy
me a s ure s  (i ncl udi ng upgra de s  to he a $ng a nd cool i ng s ys te ms  a nd
re fri ge ra $on uni ts ) not re duce s  e ne rgy cons ump$on but ha s  a l s o l e d
to EPC ra ti ng i mprove me nts  a t no cos t to the  Compa ny.
 



 
In a ddi $on, SUPR ha s  i ntroduce d a  pol i cy unde r whi ch no a s s e t wi th
a n EPC be l ow C ca n be  a cqui re d unl e s s  a  de mons tra bl e  EPC
i mprove me nt pl a n i s  de ve l ope d, the  cos t of whi ch i s  re fle cte d i n the
i nve s tme nt ca s e  for the  a s s e t a cqui s i $on. Opportuni $e s  for the
i ns ta l l a $on of e ne rgy e ffici e ncy a nd re ne wa bl e  te chnol ogy i n s upport
of the  Ne t Ze ro tra ns i $on (s uch a s  rooOop s ol a r PV a nd EV cha rgi ng)
a re  a l s o cons i de re d a s  pa rt of the  i nve s tme nt ca s e .

Physical
Risk:
Flooding

Impa ct of
a cute
phys i ca l
ri s k of
fl uvi a l  a nd
coa s ta l
fl oodi ng.

Long-
te rm
(2050 to
2100)

1.5°C s ce na ri o (Ne t Ze ro): lower risk
3°C (Curre nt Pol i ci e s ) s ce na ri o: higher risk
 
The  ke y pote n$a l  i mpa ct of fluvi a l  a nd coa s ta l  floodi ng i s  a s s e t
da ma ge  (bui l di ng da ma ge  cos ts ). Thi s  ri s k i s  hi ghe r unde r a  3°C
s ce na ri o whi ch a s s ume s  no a ddi $ona l  cl i ma te  pol i ci e s  a re  a ppl i e d
l e a di ng to s i gni fica nt gl oba l  wa rmi ng (e xce e di ng 3°C) wi th s e ve re
phys i ca l  ri s ks  i ncl udi ng from s e a -l e ve l  ri s e , i nte ns e  ra i nfa l l  a nd
a s s oci a te d fl oodi ng.
 
The  di re ct i mpa ct of fl oodi ng ri s k on the  Compa ny i s  re duce d gi ve n the
ma jori ty of the  a s s e ts  a re  on FRI l e a s e s , me a ni ng the  te na nts  ha ve
ful l  i ns ura nce  obl i ga ti ons .
 
Fl ood ri s k i s  a  ke y ri s k a s s e s s e d a s  pa rt of the  Compa ny's  a cqui s i $on
due  di l i ge nce  proce s s . The  Compa ny ha s  e xpa nde d upon i ts
a s s e s s me nt of flood ri s k from i ni $a l  UK Gove rnme nt onl i ne  Fl ood
Ri s k tool  a s s e s s me nts  to a l s o u$l i s e  the  flood ri s k a s s e s s me nt
wi thi n the  MSCI tool . If flood ri s k i s  i de n$fie d i n a n a cqui s i $on
opportuni ty furthe r due  di l i ge nce  wi l l  be  unde rta ke n, for e xa mpl e
a ddi $ona l  s i te  s urve ys  a nd a na l ys i s , a nd cons i de ra $on of a ny
a da pta ti on me a s ure s .  
 
The  Compa ny ha s  i de n$fie d the  a s s e ts  e xpos e d to a bove  ne gl i gi bl e
ri s k of floodi ng unde r di ffe re nt s ce na ri os . The  Compa ny wi l l  e xpl ore
how furthe r cha nge s  to i ts  s tra te gy a nd fina nci a l  pl a nni ng ma y be
re qui re d i n l i ght of thi s  i nforma $on, ove r the  ne xt re por$ng pe ri od.
The  Compa ny's  focus  on i nve s $ng i n s trong pe rformi ng s tore s  a nd the
l ong-da te d na ture  of the  Compa ny's  l e a s e s  a l re a dy cre a te s  a n
i nce n$ve  for the  Compa ny's  te na nts  to bui l d phys i ca l  cl i ma te -
re s i l i e nce  cons i de ra $ons  i nto the i r own l ong-te rm ma na ge me nt
s tra te gi e s  for the  s tore s  the y occupy. As  the  Compa ny con$nue s  to
e nha nce  i ts  cl i ma te -re l a te d e nga ge me nt wi th te na nts , i t wi l l  a l s o
l ook to e nga ge  furthe r on a da pta $on pl a nni ng a nd te na nts ' pl a ns  i n
thi s  re s pe ct.
 

TCFD Risk
Category

Risk
Description

Time
Horizon

Potential Impact and Strategy (including mitigating actions)

 
Describe the resilience of the organisa>on's strategy, taking into considera>on different climate-related
scenarios, including a 2°C or lower scenario.

The Company's  scenario analys is  outputs  have highl ighted the fol lowing findings:

·    Overal l , the current portfol io is  not highly exposed to phys ical  risks  given the location of the assets .

·    Of the phys ical  risks  assessed, flood risk is  the most materia l  ri sk for the portfol io.

·    The impact of cl imate-related phys ical  risks  to the portfol io is  expected to become more relevant in the
long term under a  high emiss ions  scenario.

·    Trans itional  risks  are expected to be higher in the short term under a  1.5°C scenario driven by pol icy
and legal  changes, such as  minimum EPC rating requirements , whereas  under a  3°C scenario
trans ition risks  remain low over the short to medium-term unti l  the point whereby pol icy and legal
changes  (particularly adaptation measures) are required to address  increas ing phys ical  impacts .

The Company recognises  that i ts  strategy and financial  planning regarding cl imate related risks  and
opportuni$es, wi l l  need to con$nue to evolve over the long term, par$cularly under a  high emiss ions  cl imate
scenario. However, a  benefit of owning miss ion cri$cal  real  estate is  that the Company's  tenants  make
s ignificant investments  in maintaining, upgrading and decarbonis ing the Company's  store estate. These
investments  are l inked to the ambi$ous net zero targets  and associated energy efficiency commitments  of the
Company's  largest tenants . Not only do these investments  drive improvements  in energy consump$on at the
store level , they have also helped the Company to see an improvement in EP C ra$ngs, suppor$ng the Company
with progress  against i ts  EP C-related improvement targets . I n addi$on to ac$ng as  a  trans i$on risk mi$gant,
these decarbonisa$on investments  and the long-dated nature of the Company's  leases  a lso create an
incen$ve for the Company's  tenants  to bui ld phys ical  cl imate-res i l ience cons idera$ons into their own long-
term management strategies  for the stores  they occupy.

During the repor$ng period, the Company has  undertaken a range of ini$a$ves  a imed at enhancing i ts
res i l ience to cl imate-related risks  and capital is ing on cl imate-related opportuni$es. This  includes  an ES G
data sharing ini$a$ve, focused on gaining a  beMer understanding of the energy consump$on performance of
the Company's  tenants . For the first $me, as  outl ined above, the Company has  a lso conducted quan$ta$ve
cl imate scenario analys is  as  part of the Company's  efforts  to beMer understand and manage the porRol io's
exposure to cl imate-related risks  and opportunities .

A key cl imate-related mi lestone for the Company has  been the development of science-based emiss ions
reduc$on targets . These targets  were approved and val idated by the S BTi  at the beginning of 2024, they
include a commitment to reduce our Scope 1 and 2 emiss ions  by 42% by 2030 and to reduce Scope 1, 2 and 3
emiss ions  90% by 2050 (from a F Y23 basel ine). More detai ls  on the Company's  S BTs  are provided under the
Metrics  & Targets  sec$on of this  report on page 48. As  part of the development of the targets , the Company
engaged external  consultants , Anthes is , to prepare a  high-level  decarbonisa$on plan. The Company is
currently bui lding upon this  ini$al  plan through the development of i ts  first Trans i$on P lan. During the
repor$ng period, the Company con$nued to seek out other opportuni$es  to enhance the environmental
performance of i ts  assets  and contribute to the net zero trans i$on. This  includes  the con$nued rol l  out of EV
charging and rooOop solar across  the porRol io and the Company's  efforts  to encourage energy efficiency
improvements  by i ts  tenants .

Risk Management

Describe the organisation's processes for identifying and assessing climate-related risks.

The Company's  approach to risk assessment is  as  set out in the Our Principal  Risks  Section on pages  52 to 54. 



The Company's  approach to risk assessment is  as  set out in the Our Principal  Risks  Section on pages  52 to 54. 

The Board and the AI F M together have joint overal l  responsibi l i ty for the Company's  risk management and
internal  controls , with the Audit and Risk CommiMee reviewing the effec$veness  of the Board's  risk
management processes  on i ts  behal f. The ES G CommiMee is  responsible under the delegated authori ty of the
Board for the iden$fica$on and monitoring of cl imate-related risks  which are incorporated into the risk
management process .

The ES G CommiMee cons iders  both phys ical  and trans i$on cl imate-related risks , including exis$ng and
emerging regulatory requirements  related to cl imate change.

The cl imate-related risks  included in S UP R's  Risk Register have s ince been updated to reflect the findings  from
this  cl imate risk assessment. 

C l imate risk i s  a lso a  standing agenda i tem at the fortnightly ES G mee$ngs held between the I nvestment
Adviser's  Managing Director, ES G, and i ts  Fund Management team. Addi$onal ly, the I nvestment Adviser seeks
to ensure cl imate-related issues  are a  standing i tem when engaging with the Company's  tenants . This  includes
discuss ion on topics  such as  any planned tenant-led investments  in store refurbishments  and energy
efficiency upgrades, energy consump$on data sharing and improvements  to EP C ra$ngs. Such engagement
occurs  multiple times per year and more frequently with larger s i te tenants .

Describe the organisation's processes for managing climate-related risks.

As part of the acquis i$on due di l igence process , the I nvestment Adviser undertakes  an assessment of each
asset against a  set of sustainabi l i ty cri teria. This  includes  cons idera$on of cl imate-related risk, such as  flood
risk (us ing both the UK  Government onl ine F lood Risk tool  and the M S C I  tool ) and assess ing the emiss ions
reduc$on targets  of tenants  to assess  a l ignment with S UP R's  own targets , as  part of each trans i$on review.
The Company also obtains  external  environmental  surveys  on al l  acquis i$ons, which address  the short-term
risk of cl imate related damage to group proper$es. A summary of the cl imate-related risk assessments
undertaken is  included as  part of each Investment Committee paper.

The Company wi l l  not recommend the acquis i$on of assets  with an EP C of below a C  unless  a  del iverable EP C
improvement plan is  prepared to improve an asset to an EP C ra$ng of C  or beMer. The cost of del ivering the
EP C I mprovement plan forms part of the acquis i$on investment case. EP C ra$ng assessments  for exis$ng
assets  in the porRol io are conducted on a rol l ing bas is  when there are known sustainable improvements  to
assets , on expiry or fol lowing a change to EP C calcula$on methodology. These ra$ngs, as  the Company's
responsibi l i ty, are undertaken by the Company's  consultants  when required.

Both phys ical  and trans ition cl imate risks  associated with the Company's  portfol io are assessed and included
in the risk register. Materia l i ty and priori$sa$on determina$ons are made through impact, l ikel ihood, and
risk scoring as  a  part of the risk register. I nherent and res idual  probabi l i$es  are ass igned to each risk, from
which a risk score is  derived. Mi$ga$ng ac$ons are described in detai l  in the risk register, laying out
governance structure and processes  in place aimed at mi$ga$ng each risk. F inal ly, ac$ons taken to mi$gate
risks  are tracked and recorded in the register.

Describe how processes for identifying, assessing, and managing climate-related risks are integrated into the
organization's overall risk management.

The Company's  approach to risk assessment is  as  set out in the Our Principal  Risks  Section on pages  52 to 54.

The Company manages  i ts  risk related to i ts  emiss ions, and associated regulatory risk, by monitoring,
measuring, and disclos ing i ts  Scope 1, 2, and 3 GH G emiss ions, and iden$fying avai lable decarbonisa$on
levers . This  includes  the prepara$on of the Company's  first Trans i$on P lan, currently under development,
which bui lds  off the decarbonisation analys is  completed to prepare the Company's  SBTs.

Tenant engagement is  a  core pi l lar of the Company's  Sustainabi l i ty Strategy and includes  engagement on
energy efficiency measures  and support of tenants ' own decarbonisa$on efforts  and targets . As  part of Scope
3 emiss ions  ini$a$ves  over the last repor$ng period the Company has  undertaken increased engagement
efforts  with tenants  on energy consumption and other ESG performance data.

Should there be an incidence of flood, i t i s  an$cipated that a  flooding report would be submiMed by the
tenants  to the I nvestment Adviser. These can be consulted to inform the Company's  risk and investment
strategy.

Metrics and Targets

Disclose the metrics used by the organiza>on to assess climate-related risks and opportuni>es in line with its
strategy and risk management process.

To beMer understand and manage i ts  cl imate-related risks  and opportuni$es  in l ine with i ts  strategy and risk
management process , the Company measures  a  number of cl imate-related metrics , see Table B below.

Table B | Climate-related metrics

Metric category Metric FY23 FY24
Transition risks % EPCs  of UK s upe rma rke ts  B or

a bove  (by va l ua ti ons )
50%55 56%

% EPCs  of UK a nci l l a ry uni ts  B or
a bove  (by va l ua ti ons )

35%55 53%

% of a ctua l  e ne rgy cons ump$on
da ta  from UK s upe rma rke t te na nts
us e d for GHG Inve ntory (vs
e s ti ma te d da ta )

14% 26%56

Physical risks
 

% of UK s upe rma rke t a s s e ts  i n the
porRol i o s cre e ne d for phys i ca l
cl i ma te  ha za rds

Scre e ni ng onl y a t
a cqui s i ti on

95%57

Climate-related
opportunities

% of UK s upe rma rke t a s s e ts  wi th on-
s i te  re ne wa bl e  e ne rgy ge ne ra ti on

20%55 20%

% of UK s upe rma rke t a s s e ts  wi th on-
s i te  EV cha rgi ng

20% 30%

 

The Company has  set ambi$ous cl imate-related targets , including both near-term and long-term/net zero
emiss ions  reduc$on targets . The Company is  commiMed to ongoing repor$ng of progress  against these targets
as  a  means of transparency and accountabi l i ty. A summary of the Company's  science based targets  and other
core cl imate-related targets  i s  provided in Table D and E.

Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and, if appropriate, Scope 3 GHG emissions, and the related risks.

The Company engaged external  consultants , Anthes is , to prepare i ts  GH G inventory for F Y24, covering Scope 1,
2 and 3 emiss ions. The Company's  ful l  GH G inventory, prepared in l ine with the GH G P rotocol  methodology is
disclosed below in Table C (see Appendix A for further detai ls  of the methodology). 



Table C | GHG Inventory58

FY23 (as restated)59 FY24
Location-based

tCO2e
Location-based

tCO2e Market-based tCO2e Market-based (S1&2
& DLA) tCO2e

Scope 1 Total 10.49 11.46 11.46 11.46
Scope 2 Total 100.81 91.87 162.38 162.38
1: Purcha s e d Goods
a nd Se rvi ce s 3,131.50 2,214.70 2,214.70 2,214.70

2: Ca pi ta l  Goods 463.49 0 0 0
3: Fue l - a nd Ene rgy-
Re l a te d Acti vi ti e s 37.46 32.15 45.16 45.16

13: Downs tre a m
Le a s e d As s e ts
("DLA")

72,902.93 72,030.53 72,030.53 67,008.85

Scope 3 Total 76,535.38 74,277.38 74,290.39 69,268.71
Scope 1,2,3 Total 76,646.68 74,380.71 74,464.23 69,442.55
Inte ns i ty ra ti o:
tCO2e  (gros s  Scope

1 & 2) pe r m2 of
fl oor a re a

0.00047 0.00037 0.00062 0.00062

Inte ns i ty ra ti o:
tCO2e  (gros s  Scope

1, 2 & 3) pe r m2 of
fl oor a re a

0.09201 0.08345 0.08355 0.07791

The Company's  scope 1, 2 and 3 emiss ions  total  74,381  tCO2e (loca$on-based) in i ts  F Y24 repor$ng year.
Scope 3 accounts  for the vast majori ty of the Company's  emiss ions  at more than 99%, total l ing 74,277 tCO2e
(loca$on-based). This  i s  to be expected as  the Company's  scope 1 and 2 emiss ions  from the communal  spaces
of i ts  assets  i s  rela$vely immateria l , producing 103 tCO 2e (loca$on-based) col lec$vely. The majori ty of the
Company's  emiss ions  come from their leased proper$es  which s i t under scope 3, category 13 downstream
leased assets .

The GH G I nventory figures  have removed F ER A emiss ions  that are categorised under Scope 3 category 13:
Downstream Leased Assets  ("D LA") to a l ign with the S BTi  minimum boundary a l ignment. These F ER A emiss ions
are associated with the tenants  Scope 1 and 2 emiss ions  that are a lso categorised under Scope 3 D LA. The
figures  reported in S EC R Report above account for a  ful ler view of D LA emiss ions  by including F ER A emiss ions
under Scope 3 D LA. Therefore, Scope 3 D LA and consequen$al ly, total  Scope 3 figures  reported in the S EC R
Report are higher than figures  reported for TCFD due to the exclus ion of Scope 3 FERA under DLA in TCFD.

[The Company engaged Grant Thornton UK  LLP  to provide independent l imited assurance over the Company's
loca$on-based GH G emiss ion data disclosed in the table above, us ing the assurance standard I SAE 3000
(Revised) and I SAE 3410, for the year ending 30 June 2024. Grant Thornton has  issued an unqual ified opinion
over the selected data and the ful l  assurance report i s  avai lable on the Sustainabi l i ty page of the Company's
website: Sustainability - Supermarket Income REIT].

Improving the quanti ty of actual  (vs . estimated) energy consumption data, has  been a priori ty for the Company
over the repor$ng period. As  a  result, the amount of es$mated data has  reduced, from 84% es$mated in F Y23
to 71% es$mated data for this  repor$ng period. The majori ty of the Company's  emiss ions  from downstream
leased assets  come from assets  leased out to supermarkets . Therefore, the Company has  priori$sed
engagement on data sharing with i ts  supermarket tenants . As  a  result of these engagement efforts  with
supermarket tenants  speci fical ly the fol lowing improvements  have been made:

·    The amount of actual  purchased electrici ty data in FY23 was 23%, improving to 52% actual  data in
FY24;

·    The amount of actual  natural  gas  consumption data in FY23 was 27%, improving to 70% actual  data in
FY24.

This  has  subsequently improved the overal l  accuracy of the Company's  emiss ions  disclosures  on prior year.
This  i s  a  marked improvement from F Y22 where 100% of emiss ions  were es$mated. This  was  achieved through
a combina$on of measures  including the development of new tenant data request template, a l igned to the
repor$ng requirements  of EP R A s BP R and the Sustainabi l i ty Accoun$ng Standards  Board ("SAS B") real  estate
standard. The Company has  iden$fied engagement with supermarket tenants  on refrigera$on gas  data, which
is  currently 100% es$mated, as  a  key priori ty over the next repor$ng year. Detai ls  of the remaining
assump$ons and proxies  used to complete the Company's  GH G inventory where actual  data was  not
avai lable, are outl ined in the Appendix A.

During the repor$ng period, the Company worked with external  consultants , Anthes is , to prepare and submit
science-based emiss ions  reduc$ons targets  to the S BTi , see Table D below. These targets  were val idated and
approved by the SBTi  at the beginning of 2024.

 

Table D | - Science Based Targets

Target Description
Near-term The  Compa ny commi ts  to re duce  s cope  1 a nd s cope  2 e mi s s i ons  42% by 2030 from a  FY23

ba s e l i ne .
Long-term The  Compa ny commi ts  to re duce  s cope  1, 2 a nd 3 e mi s s i ons  90% by 2050 from a  FY23

ba s e l i ne .
Net Zero The  Compa ny commi ts  to re a ch ne t-ze ro by 2050.
 
Describe the targets used by the organiza>on to manage climate-related risks and opportuni>es and
performance against targets.

I n addi$on to the Company's  science-based targets , a  number of other cl imate-related targets  are used by the
Company to manage cl imate-related risks  and opportuni$es, see Table E below. These targets  have been
developed to l ink to the trans ition and phys ical  risks  identi fied as  part of the Company's  TCFD reporting.

https://supermarketincomereit.com/sustainability/


developed to l ink to the trans ition and phys ical  risks  identi fied as  part of the Company's  TCFD reporting.
 
Table E | - Climate-related targets linked to metrics

Metric category Metric Target
Transition risks % EPCs  of UK s upe rma rke ts  B or

a bove  (by valuations)
Al l  UK s upe rma rke ts 60 B or a bove  by 2030

% EPCs  of UK a nci l l a ry uni ts  B or
a bove  (by va l ua ti ons )

Al l  UK a nci l l a ry uni ts 61 B or a bove  by 2030

%  of actual energy consumption data
from UK s upe rma rke t te na nts  used
for GHG Inventory (vs estimated data)

YoY i ncre a s e  i n % a ctua l  e ne rgy cons ump$on da ta
from UK s upe rma rke t te na nts  us e d for GHG
Inve ntory

Physical risks
 

% of UK s upe rma rke t a s s e ts  i n the
portfol i o s cre e ne d for phys i ca l
cl i ma te  ha za rds

Al l  a s s e ts  i ncl ude d i n a nnua l  portfol i o cl i ma te
ri s k a na l ys i s

Climate-related
opportunities

% of UK s upe rma rke t a s s e ts  wi th on-
s i te  re ne wa bl e  e ne rgy ge ne ra ti on

YoY i ncre a s e  i n % of s upe rma rke t a s s e ts  wi th on-
s i te  re ne wa bl e  e ne rgy ge ne ra ti on

% of UK s upe rma rke t a s s e ts  wi th on-
s i te  EV cha rgi ng

YoY i ncre a s e  i n % of s upe rma rke t a s s e ts  wi th on-
s i te  EV cha rgi ng

 
Given the F R I  nature of the majori ty of the Company's  lease arrangements  and associated l imita$ons to s i te
control , the Company has  not yet set further specific targets  with regards  to the percentage of on-s i te solar PV
instal led and on-s i te EV charging. However, the Company is  commiMed to increas ing the number of assets  with
both on-s i te solar PV instal led and on-s i te EV charging and con$nues to ac$vely engage with tenants  on such
opportunities  and to support instal lations  wherever feas ible.
 
During the repor$ng year, the Company achieved the fol lowing two cl imate-related targets  that were included
in i ts  FY23 TCFD Report:
 
Target Metric Status
100% of Investment Adviser staff receive training on climate
risks and opportunities by end of 2023

Pe rce nta ge  of s ta ff tra i ne d 100%. Ta rge t a chi e ve d.

Five sites with Company-owned and managed car parks
with electronic vehicle charging

Numbe r of EV cha rgi ng
s ta ti ons

5 of 5. Ta rge t a chi e ve d.

 
Addi$onal  cl imate-related training wi l l  con$nue be rol led out on an ad-hoc bas is  to the I nvestment Adviser
team and to new joiners . Most recently, this  has  covered topics  such as  quan$ta$ve scenario analys is  and
trans i$on planning fundamentals . The Company wi l l  review i ts  selec$on of cl imate-related metrics  and
targets  over the next repor$ng period to ensure that i t con$nues to measure and manage i ts  cl imate-related
risks  and evolve i ts  approach to meet best practice guidance and stakeholder expectations.
 
 
Appendix A: Methodology notes for GHG inventory 
 
Methodology and Assumptions  
 
The 2022 Convers ion Factors  publ ished by the UK  Department for Energy Securi ty and Net Zero ("D ES NZ") and
Department for Bus iness , Energy, and I ndustria l  Strategy ("BEI S") was  the main source used for emiss ion
factors . Al l  relevant categories  have been included and any exclus ions  are described below. 
 
Scope 1 & 2  
For electrici ty and natural  gas , some actual  consump$on data was provided for communal  areas  where
energy consumption is  control led by SUPR. Where there were gaps, estimations  were made us ing the data from
previous  year or floor area intens i$es  (based on s imi lar s i tes  within the porRol io) as  proxies . For fuel  oi l ,
spend was used as  a  proxy due to a  lack of activi ty data. 
 
Scope 3 (1. Purchased Goods & Services) 
This  category was  es$mated us ing spend as  a  proxy and applying Department for Environment, Food & Rural
Affairs  ("DEFRA") input-output factors  kgCO2/GBP) to expenditure. 
 
Scope 3 (13. Downstream Leased Assets) 
The majori ty of emiss ions  relate to tenant energy use, par$cularly for supermarket branches.  Some
supermarket tenants , including Tesco, Sainsbury's  and M&S provided actual  consump$on data for electrici ty
and hea$ng. W here no consump$on data was avai lable, es$ma$ons were made us ing benchmark intens ity
data based on floor area. The majori ty of refrigerant consumption was estimated for a l l  s i tes .
 
A smal ler amount of emiss ions  arises  from the communal  areas  of s i tes  where the Company owns the land but
is  not responsible for paying for the energy. These emiss ions  were es$mated us ing the floor area intens i$es  of
s imi lar s i tes  with actual  data. 
 
MSCI Phys ical  Risk Model  Data Inputs
 
Hazard Level Main Models and Datasets:

Hazard Type Severity Resolution Main Models and Datasets
Extreme Cold Chroni c Numbe r of da ys

<0°C a nd <-10°C
56km v 42km ·      CMIP6 cl i ma te  mode l s : GFDL-ESM4,

IPSL-CM6A-LR, MPI-ESM1-2-HR, MRI-
ESM2-0, UKESM1-0-LL

·      Cl i ma te  proje cti ons  a re  bi a s -a djus te d
Extreme Heat Chroni c Numbe r of da ys

>30°C a nd >35°C 
56km v 42km

Coastal
Flooding

Acute Inunda ti on de pth
(me tre s )
Fl ood di s tri buti on
from 1yr to
>10,000yr e ve nt

90m x 70m ·      Re gi ona l  s e a  l e ve l  ri s e  proje cti ons
from Inte gra te d Cl i ma te  Da ta  Ce nte r

·      El e va ti on da ta  from Coa s ta l  DEM
(upgra de d Di gi ta l  El e va ti on Mode l  -
Cl i ma te  Ce ntra l  / NASA)

Fluvial
Flooding

Acute Inunda ti on de pth
(me tre s )
Fl ood di s tri buti on
from 1yr to
>10,000yr e ve nt

90m x 70m ·      Da i l i ng fl uvi a l  fl oodi ng ti me s e ri e s
provi de d by Pots da m Ins ti tute  for
Cl i ma te  Impa ct Re s e a rch

·      El e va ti on da ta  from Coa s ta l  DEM from
Cl i ma te  Ce ntra l  whi ch i s
compl e me nte d by da ta  from SRTM



compl e me nte d by da ta  from SRTM
Tropical
Cyclones

Acute Wi nd s pe e d
(me tre s /s e cond)
Cycl one
di s tri buti on from
1yr to >10,000yr
e ve nt

11km x 9km ·      CLIMADA
·      Inte rna ti ona l  Be s t Tra ck Archi ve  for

Cl i ma te  Ste wa rds hi p (IBTRa CS)

Wildfire Acute Fi re  proba bi l i ty
(% a nnua l )

460m x 355m ·      4 compone nts : fi re  we a the r, fi re
i gni ti on, fi re  s pre a d a nd fi re  i nte ns i ty

·      Fi re  we a the r & i gni ti on: Ca na di a n
Fore s t Fi re  We a the r Inde x (FWI)

·      Fi re  s pre a d: Gl oba l  La nd Cove r 2000
da ta s e t; El e va ti on i s  de ri ve d from the
GMTED2010 da ta s e t

·      Fi re  i nte ns i ty: Gl oba l  Fi re  Atl a s
 
 

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
 
The Board and JTC Global  AI F M Solu$ons Limited, the Company's  Alterna$ve I nvestment Fund Manager (the
"AI F M"), together have joint overal l  responsibi l i ty for the Company's  risk management and internal  controls ,
with the Audit and Risk CommiMee reviewing the effec$veness  of the Board's  risk management process  on i ts
behalf.
 
To ensure that risks  are recognised and appropriately managed, the Board has  agreed a formal  risk
management framework. This  framework sets  out the mechanisms through which the Board iden$fies,
evaluates  and monitors  i ts  principal  risks  and the effectiveness  of the controls  in place to mitigate them.
 
The Board and the AI F M recognise that effec$ve risk management is  key to the Group's  success . Risk
management ensures  a  defined approach to decis ion making that seeks  to decrease the uncertainty
surrounding anticipated outcomes, balanced against the objective of creating value for shareholders .
 
The Board determines  the level  of risk i t wi l l  accept in achieving i ts  bus iness  objec$ves  and this  has  not
changed during the year. We have no appe$te for risk in rela$on to regulatory compl iance or the health,
safety and welfare of our tenants , service providers  and the wider community in which we work. We con$nue
to have a moderate appe$te for risk in rela$on to ac$vi$es  which drive revenues and increase financial
returns  for our investors .
 
There are a  number of poten$al  risks  and uncertain$es  which could have a materia l  impact on the Company's
performance over the forthcoming financial  year and could cause actual  results  to differ materia l ly from
expected and historical  results .
 
The risk management process  includes  the Board's  iden$fica$on, cons idera$on and assessment of those
emerging risks  which may impact the Group.
 
Emerging risks  are specifical ly covered in the risk framework, with assessments  made both during the regular
risk review and as  poten$al  s ignificant risks  arise. The assessment includes  input from the I nvestment
Adviser and review of information by the AIFM prior to cons ideration by the Audit and Risk Committee.
 
During the year, the Audit and Risk CommiMee, together with the AI F M and I nvestment Adviser, undertook a
review of the risk management repor$ng framework. As  a  result of this  exercise, the Board reviewed al l  ri sks
and decided to rational ise the principal  risks  from 17 risks , as  set out in the 2023 Annual  Report, to 10 risks .
 
The matrix below i l lustrates  our assessment of the impact and the probabi l i ty of the principal  risks  iden$fied.
The ra$onale for the perceived increases  and decreases  in the risks  iden$fied is  contained in the commentary
for each risk category.

Key
1 There can be no guarantee that the dividend wi l l  grow in l ine with inflation.
2 The lower-than-expected performance of the property portfol io leading to a  s igni ficant fa l l  in

property valuations.
3 Shareholders  may not be able to real ise their shares  at a  price above or the same as  they paid

for the shares  or at a l l .
4 The default of one or more of our grocery tenants  would reduce revenue and may affect our

abi l i ty to pay dividends.
5 Inflationary pressure on the valuation of the portfol io.
6 Abi l i ty to source assets  may be affected by competition for investment properties  in the

supermarket sector.
7 The Company is  rel iant on the continuance of the Investment Adviser.



7 The Company is  rel iant on the continuance of the Investment Adviser.
8 Impact of geopol i tical  confl ict / major events .
9 Changes  in regulatory pol icy could lead to our assets  becoming unlettable.
10 We operate as  a  UK REIT and have a tax-efficient corporate structure. Loss  of REIT status  could

have adverse tax consequences  for UK shareholders .
 
Risk Impact Mitigation Change in

Year
1.    There can be no

guarantee that
the dividend
wi l l  grow in
l ine with
inflation.

The Company has  a  stated
ambition to grow i ts  dividend
progress ively and i ts
prospectus  refers  to providing
investors  with inflation
protection.
 
Although the Company has
received 100% of rent
demanded, has  increased rents
in l ine with i ts  contractual  rent
reviews and has  one of the
lowest EPRA cost ratios  in the
sector, i t has  been unable to
increase i ts  earnings  and
dividend in l ine with inflation.
 
This  has  been caused
primari ly by the cap on rental
upl i fts  in the majori ty of the
Company's  leases  and the
increase in cost of debt due to
higher interest rates .
 
Increases  in interest rates
result in higher cost of debt
and lower earnings.
 
 
 
 

The Company has  entered into
interest rate swaps and caps  to
manage i ts  exposure to further
increases  in interest rates .
 
Interest rates  have started to
decl ine from their highs  last year
which, i f continued, would be
supportive of earnings  and
dividend growth over the long
term beyond expiry of current
interest rate hedges.

 
The Company is  proactively
pursuing a  number of measures  to
grow earnings , such as  accretive
acquis i tions  and cost reductions.

2.    The lower-than-
expected
performance of
the property
portfol io
leading to a
s igni ficant fa l l
in property
valuations.

An adverse change in our
property valuations  may lead
to a breach of our banking
covenants . Market conditions
may also reduce the revenues
we earn from our property
assets , which affect our abi l i ty
to pay dividends to
shareholders . A severe fa l l  in
values  may result in us  sel l ing
assets  to repay our loan
commitments , resulting in a
fal l  in our net asset value.
 

Our portfol io is  99.5% let (100% of
supermarket units  are let) with
long weighted unexpired lease
terms and let to insti tutional -
grade tenants .
 
We own a portfol io of handpicked,
high-qual i ty supermarkets  which
del iver low-risk and growing
income returns  that are res i l ient
through economic cycles .
 
We manage our activi ties  to
operate within our banking
covenants  and constantly monitor
our covenant headroom on loan to
value and interest cover.
 
 

  

   

3.    Shareholders
may not be
able to real ise
their shares  at
a price above
or the same as
they paid for
the shares  or
at a l l .

The Company's  ordinary
shares  have continued to be
traded at a  discount to net
tangible assets  ("NTA"). This  i s
largely a  function of supply
and demand for the ordinary
shares  in the market and
cannot therefore be control led
by the Board.
 

The Company may seek to address
any s igni ficant discount to NTA at
which i ts  ordinary shares  may be
trading by purchas ing i ts  own
ordinary shares  in the market on
an ad-hoc bas is .
 
Ordinary shares  wi l l  be
repurchased only at prices  below
the prevai l ing NTA per Ordinary
share, which should have the
effect of increas ing the NTA per
Ordinary share for remaining
shareholders .
 
Investors  should note that the
repurchase of Ordinary shares  is
entirely at the discretion of the
Board and no expectation or
rel iance should be placed on such
discretion being exercised on any
one or more occas ions  or as  to the
proportion of Ordinary shares
that may be repurchased.
 

  

4.    The default of
one or more of
our grocery
tenants  would
reduce revenue

Our focus  on supermarket
property means we directly
rely on the performance of
supermarket operators .
Insolvencies  could affect our

Our investment pol icy requires  the
Group to derive at least 60% of i ts
rental  income from a portfol io let
to the largest four supermarket
operators  in the UK by market

   



reduce revenue
and may affect
our abi l i ty to
pay dividends.

Insolvencies  could affect our
revenues earned and property
valuations.

operators  in the UK by market
share. Focus ing our investments
on assets  let to tenants  with
strong financial  covenants  and
l imiting exposure to smal ler
operators  in the sector decreases
the probabi l i ty of a  tenant default.
 
At 30 June 2024, 75% of SUPR's
income was from assets  let to
Tesco and Sainsbury's  who are
deemed investment grade credit
qual i ty. The portfol io continues  to
be geographical ly divers i fied with
no individual  tenant operating
within more than 10-15 minutes  of
one of the Group's  assets  in any
s ingle geographical  area.
 
 
Our investment strategy is  to
acquire assets  in strong trading
grocery locations, which in many
cases  have been supermarkets  for
between 30 and 50 years . Our
investment underwriting targets
strong tenants  with strong
property fundamentals  (good
location, large s i tes  with low s i te
cover) and which should be
attractive to other occupiers  or
have strong al ternative use value
should the current occupier fa i l .
 

5.    Inflationary
pressure on
the valuation
of the
portfol io.

Continued high inflation may
cause rents  to exceed market
levels  and result in the
softening of valuation yields .
Where leases  have capped
rental  upl i fts , high inflation
may cause rent reviews to cap
out at maximum values,
caus ing rental  upl i fts  to fa l l
behind inflation.
 

Inflation is  monitored closely by
the Investment Adviser. The
Group's  portfol io rent reviews
include a mixture of fixed, upward
only capped as  wel l  as  open
market rent reviews, to hedge
against a  variety of inflationary
outcomes.
 

   

6.    Abi l i ty to
source assets
may be
affected by
competition
for investment
properties  in
the
supermarket
sector.

The Company faces
competition from other
property investors .
Competitors  may have greater
financial  resources  than the
Company and a greater abi l i ty
to borrow funds to acquire
properties .
 
 
The supermarket investment
market continues  to be
considered a safe asset class
for investors  seeking long-term
secure cash flows which is
maintaining competition for
qual i ty assets . This  has  led to
increased demand for
supermarket assets  without a
comparable increase in
supply, which potentia l ly
increases  prices  and makes  i t
more di fficult to deploy
capital .
 

The investment Adviser has
extens ive contacts  in the sector
and we often benefi t from off-
market transactions. They also
maintain close relationships  with
a number of investors  and agents
in the sector, giving us  the best
poss ible opportunity to secure
future acquis i tions  for the Group.
 
The Company has  acquired assets
which are anchored by
supermarket properties  but which
also have anci l lary retai l  on s i te,
and these acquis i tions  a l low the
Company to access  qual i ty
supermarket assets  whi lst
providing additional  asset
management opportunities .
 
We are not exclus ively rel iant on
acquis i tions  to grow the portfol io.
Our leases  contain upward-only
rent review clauses, which mean
we can generate additional
income and value from the current
portfol io. We also have the
potentia l  to add value through
active asset management and we
are actively exploring
opportunities  for a l l  our s i tes .
 
We maintain a  discipl ined
approach to apprais ing and
acquiring assets , engaging in
detai led due di l igence and do not
engage in bidding wars  which
drive up prices  in excess  of
underwriting.
 

    

 

7.    The Company is
rel iant on the
continuance of

We rely on the Investment
Adviser's  services  and
reputation to execute our

The interests  of the Company and
the Investment Adviser are a l igned
due to (a) key staff of the

  



continuance of
the Investment
Adviser.

reputation to execute our
investment strategy. Our
performance wi l l  depend to
some extent on the Investment
Adviser's  abi l i ty and the
retention of i ts  key staff.

due to (a) key staff of the
Investment Adviser having
personal  equity investments  in the
Company and (b) any fees  paid to
the Investment Adviser in shares
of the Company are due to be held
for a  minimum period of 12
months. The Board can pay up to
25% of the Investment Adviser's
fee in shares  of the Company.
 
The Management Engagement
Committee assesses  the
performance of the Investment
Adviser and ensures  the Company
maintains  a  pos itive working
relationship.
 
The AIFM receives  and reviews
regular reporting from the
Investment Adviser and reports  to
the Board on the Investment
Adviser's  performance. The AIFM
also reviews and makes
recommendations  to the Board on
any investments  or s igni ficant
asset management ini tiatives
proposed by the Investment
Adviser.
 

8.    Impact of
geopol i tical
confl ict /
major events .

Global , regional  and national
events , such as  terrorism,
pandemics , and geopol i tical
confl ict could adversely
impact the Company, and
present chal lenges  to our
tenants  resulting in
impairment of asset values
and/or a  reduction in revenue.
 

Supermarket operators  have
historical ly been able to
successful ly pass  on inflationary
increases  through price increases
to the end consumer.
 
Whi lst sales  volumes may fa l l  in a
recess ionary environment, the
nature of food means that demand
is  relatively inelastic.
 
Our tenants  have strong balance
sheets  with robust and divers i fied
supply chains . The tenants  are
therefore wel l  pos itioned to deal
with any disruption that may
occur.
 

  

9.    Changes  in
regulatory
pol icy could
lead to our
assets
becoming
unlettable.

Changes  in regulations
(currently represented by
Minimum Energy Efficiency
Standards  (MEES)) could lead
to the poss ibi l i ty of our assets
becoming unlettable. Any
properties  not compl iant with
MEES could attract reduced
tenant demand, reduced rental
income and/or be subject to
fines.

The ESG committee stays  informed
about changes  in legis lation by
working closely with the
Investment Adviser and seeks
input from special is t ESG experts
where necessary.
 
Proposed updates  to MEES,
together with updates  on
businesses  to develop Net Zero
trans ition plans  are being closely
monitored.
 

  

10.  We operate as
a UK REIT and
have a tax-
efficient
corporate
structure, with
advantageous
consequences
for UK
shareholders .

If the Company fa i ls  to remain
a REIT for UK tax purposes, our
profi ts  and gains  wi l l  be
subject to UK corporation tax.

The Board takes  direct
responsibi l i ty for ensuring we
adhere to the UK REIT regime by
monitoring REIT compl iance. The
Board has  a lso engaged third-
party tax advisers  to help monitor
REIT compl iance requirements  and
the AIFM monitors  compl iance by
the Company with the REIT regime.
 

  

SECTION 172(1) STATEMENT

The Directors  cons ider that in conduc$ng the bus iness  of the Company over the course of the year ended 30
June 2024, they have acted to promote the long-term success  of the Company for the benefit of shareholders ,
whi lst having regard to the matters  set out in section 172(1)(a-f) of the Companies  Act 2006 (the "Act").

Detai ls  of our key stakeholders  and how the Board engages  with them can be found on pages  56 to 59. Further
detai ls  of the Board activi ties  and principal  decis ions  are set out on pages  72 to 73 providing ins ight into how
the Board makes  decis ions  and their l ink to strategy.

O ther disclosures  rela$ng to our cons idera$on of the maMers  set out in s172(1)(a-f) of the Act have been
noted as  fol lows:

s.172 Factor Our approach Relevant disclosures

A. The l ikely The Board has  regard to i ts  wider obl igations  under Key decis ions  of the Board during the



A. The l ikely
consequences  of
any decis ion in
the long-term

 

The Board has  regard to i ts  wider obl igations  under
Section 172 of the Act. As  such strategic discuss ions
involve careful  cons iderations  of the longer-term
consequences  of any decis ions  and their
impl ications  on shareholders  and other
stakeholders  and the risk to the longer-term success
of the bus iness . Any recommendation is  supported
by detai led cash flow projections  based on various
scenarios , which include: avai labi l i ty of funding;
borrowing; as  wel l  as  the wider economic
conditions  and market performance.

Key decis ions  of the Board during the
year on page 73.

Our Key Stakeholder Relationships
on pages  56 to 59.

Board Activi ties  during the year on
pages  72.

 

B. The interests  of
the Company's
employees

The Group does  not have any employees  as  a  result
of i ts  external  management structure.

The Board's  main working relationship is  with the
Investment Adviser. Consequently, the Directors
have regard to the interests  of the individuals  who
are responsible for del ivery of the investment
advisory services  to the Company to the extent that
they are able to do so.

Our Key Stakeholder Relationships
on pages  56 to 59.
 

Culture on page 69.

C. The need to foster
the Company's
bus iness
relationships
with suppl iers ,
customers  and
others

The Company's  key service providers  and customers
include the Investment Adviser, profess ional  fi rms
such as  lenders , property agents , accounting and
law fi rms, tenants  with which we have longstanding
relationships  and transaction counterparties  which
are general ly large and sophisticated bus inesses  or
insti tutions.

Our Key Stakeholder Relationships
on pages  56 to 59.
 

D. The impact of the
Company's
operations  on the
community and
the environment

As an owner of assets  located in communities
across  the UK and France, we aim to ensure that our
bui ldings  and their surroundings  provide safe and
comfortable environments  for a l l  users . 

The Board and the Investment Adviser have
committed to l imiting the impact of the bus iness  on
the environment where poss ible and engage with
tenants  to seek to improve the ESG credentia ls  of the
properties  owned by the Company.

Our Key Stakeholder Relationships
on pages  56 to 59.
 
Detai ls  of the ESG pol icy and strategy
are included on pages  39 to 51.

The Board's  approach to
sustainabi l i ty i s  a lso explained in
the Company's  standalone
sustainabi l i ty report avai lable on the
Company website.

E. The des irabi l i ty of
the Company
maintaining a
reputation for
high standards  of
bus iness  conduct

The Board is  mindful  that the abi l i ty of the Company
to continue to conduct i ts  investment bus iness  and
to finance i ts  activi ties  depends in part on the
reputation of the Board, the Investment Adviser and
Investment Advisory Team.

The risk of fa l l ing short of the high standards
expected and thereby risking bus iness  reputation is
included in the Audit and Risk Committee's  review of
the Company's  risk register, which is  conducted at
least annual ly.

Chair's  Letter on Corporate
Governance on page 63.

Our Principal  Risks  and
Uncertainties  on pages  52 to 54.

Our Culture on page 69.

F. The need to act
fairly as  between
members  of the
Company

The Board recognises  the importance of treating a l l
members  fa i rly and oversees  investor relations
initiatives  to ensure that views and opinions  of
shareholders  can be cons idered when setting
strategy.

Chair's  Letter on Corporate
Governance on pages  63.

Our Key Stakeholder Relationships
on pages  56 to 59.

 

Going Concern and Viability Statement

The Directors  have cons idered on the appropriateness  of adop$ng the going concern bas is  in preparing the
Group's  and Company's  financial  s tatements  for the year ended 30 June 2024. I n assess ing the going concern
bas is  of accoun$ng, the Directors  have cons idered the prospects  of the Group over the period up to 30
September 2025.

Liquidity

At 30 June 2024, the Group generated net cash flow from opera$ng ac$vi$es  of £92.1 mi l l ion, held cash of
£38.7 mi l l ion and undrawn commiMed faci l i$es  total l ing £104.2 mi l l ion (including £50 mi l l ion accordion)
with no capital  commitments  or contingent l iabi l i ties .

AOer the year end, the Group also increased i ts  debt capacity from £752.0 mi l l ion to £825.4 mi l l ion (see Note
19 for more informa$on), leaving undrawn commiMed faci l i$es  of £176.0 mi l l ion avai lable (including £50
mil l ion accordion).

The Directors  are of the bel ief that the Group con$nues to be wel l  funded during the going concern period with
no concerns  over i ts  l iquidity.

Refinancing events

At the date of s igning the financial  s tatements , the Wel ls  Fargo £39 mi l l ion loan faci l i ty (of which £30 mi l l ion
is  drawn) and £50 mi l l ion of the syndicate unsecured term loan fa l l  due for repayment during the going
concern period. I t i s  intended that the faci l i$es  wi l l  be refinanced prior to maturi ty, or i f required, paid down
in ful l  u$l is ing the Group's  avai lable cash balances  and undrawn commiMed faci l i$es  of over £117 mi l l ion
(including post balance sheet events). Al l  lenders  have been suppor$ve during the year and have expressed
commitment to the long-term relationship they wish to bui ld with the Company. 



commitment to the long-term relationship they wish to bui ld with the Company. 

Covenants

The Group's  debt faci l i$es  include covenants  in respect of LTV and interest cover, both projected and historic.
Al l  debt faci l i ties , except for the unsecured faci l i ties , are ring-fenced with each speci fic lender.

The Directors  have evaluated a number of scenarios  as  part of the Group's  going concern assessment and
considered the impact of these scenarios  on the Group's  con$nued compl iance with debt covenants . The key
assump$ons that have been sens i$sed within these scenarios  are fa l ls  in rental  income and increases  in
administrative cost inflation.

As  at the date of i ssuance of this  financial  informa$on 100% of contractual  rent for the period has  been
col lected. The Group benefits  from a secure income stream from i ts  property assets  that are let to tenants  with
excel lent covenant strength under long leases  that are subject to upward only rent reviews.

The l i s t of scenarios  are below and are a l l  on top of the base case model  which includes  prudent assump$ons
on valua$ons and cost infla$on. The Group is  100% fixed or hedged (including post period end refinancings).
No sens i$vity for movements  in interest rates  have been model led for the hedged debt during the going
concern assessment period.

 

Scenario Rental Income Costs
Base case scenario
(Scenario 1)

100% contractual rent
received when due and rent
reviews based on forward
looking infla$on curve,
capped at the contractual
rate of the individual leases.

Investment adviser fee
based on terms of the
signed agreement
(percentage of NAV as per
note 27), other costs  in line
with contractual terms.

Scenario 2 Rental income to fall by 20% Costs expected to remain
the same as the base case.

Scenario 3 Rental Income expected to
remain the same as the
base case.

10% increases on base case
costs to all administra$ve
expenses

 
The Group con$nues to maintain covenant compl iance for i ts  LTV and I C R thresholds  throughout the going
concern assessment period under each of the scenarios  model led. The lowest amount of I C R headroom
experienced in the worst-case stress  scenarios  was  42%. Based on the latest bank commiss ioned valua$ons,
property values  would have to fa l l  by more than 26% before LTV covenants  are breached, and 19% against 30
June 2024 Company valua$ons. S imi larly, the strictest interest cover covenant within each of the ring-fenced
banking groups is  225%, where the porRol io is  forecast to have an average interest cover ra$o of 425% during
the going concern period. 

Having reviewed and cons idered the scenarios , the Directors  cons ider that the Group has  adequate resources
in place for at least 12 months  from the date of these results  and have therefore adopted the going concern
bas is  of accounting in preparing the Annual  Report. 

Assessment of viability

The period over which the Directors  cons ider i t feas ible and appropriate to report on the Group's  viabi l i ty i s
the five-year period to 30 June 2029. This  period has  been selected because i t i s  the period that i s  used for the
Group's  medium-term business  plans  and individual  asset performance forecasts . The assump$ons
underpinning these forecast cash flows and covenant compl iance forecasts  were sens i$sed to explore the
res i l ience of the Group to the poten$al  impact of the Group's  s ignificant risks , or a  combina$on of those
risks . The principal  risks  on pages  52 to 54 summarise those maMers  that could prevent the Group from
del ivering on i ts  strategy. A number of these principal  risks , because of their nature or poten$al  impact, could
also threaten the Group's  abi l i ty to continue in bus iness  in i ts  current form i f they were to occur. The Directors
paid par$cular aMen$on to the risk of a  deteriora$on in economic outlook which could impact property
fundamentals , including investor and occupier demand which would have a nega$ve impact on valua$ons,
and give rise to a  reduction in the avai labi l i ty of finance.  

The sens i$vi$es  performed were des igned to be severe but plaus ible; and to take ful l  account of the
avai labi l i ty of mi$ga$ng ac$ons that could be taken to avoid or reduce the impact or occurrence of the
underlying risks .  

Viability Statement  

The Board has  assessed the prospects  of the Group over the five years  from the balance sheet date to 30 June
2029, which is  the period covered by the Group's  medium-term financial  projections.

The Board cons iders  the res i l ience of projected l iquidity, as  wel l  as  compl iance with secured debt covenants
and UK REIT rules , under a  range of inflation and property valuation assumptions. 

The principal  risks  and the key assumptions  that were relevant to this  assessment are as  fol lows: 

Risk Assumption 

Borrowing risk The Group con$nues to comply with a l l  relevant loan covenants . The Group is  able to
refinance al l  debt fa l l ing due within the viabi l i ty assessment period on acceptable terms. 

Interest Rate Risk The increase in variable interest rates  are managed by reduc$on of variable debt from
cash inflows and uti l i s ing interest rate derivatives  to l imit the exposure to variable debt.

Liquidity risk The Group con$nues to generate sufficient cash to cover i ts  costs  whi le retaining the
abi l i ty to make distributions.  

Tenant risk Tenants  (or guarantors  where relevant) comply with their rental  obl iga$ons over the term
of their leases  and no key tenant suffers  an insolvency event over the term of the review.  

 

Based on the work performed, the Board has  a  reasonable expecta$on that the Group wi l l  be able to con$nue
in bus iness  over the five-year period of i ts  assessment. 

Other disclosures



Other disclosures

Disclosures  in rela$on to the Company's  bus iness  model  and strategy have been included within the
I nvestment Adviser's  Report on pages  14 to 22. D isclosures  in rela$on to the main industry trends  and factors
that are l ikely to affect the future performance and pos i$on of the bus iness  have been included within The UK
Grocery Market on pages  25 to 33. D isclosures  in rela$on to environmental  and socia l  i ssues  have been
included within the TC F D Report on pages  39 to 51. Employee divers i ty disclosures  have not been included as
the Directors  do not cons ider these to be relevant to the Company.

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

The K P I s  and EP R A performance measures  used by the Group in assess ing i ts  strategic progress  have been
included on pages  34 to 35.

 
The Strategic Report was  approved by the Board and s igned on i ts  behal f by:
 
Nick Hewson
Chair
17 September 2024

 

DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Directors  present their report together with the audited financial  informa$on for the year ended 30 June
2024. The Corporate Governance Statement on pages  74 to 75 forms part of this  report. 

Principal activities and status 

The Company is  registered as  a  UK  publ ic l imited company under the Companies  Act 2006. I t i s  an I nvestment
Company as  defined by Sec$on 833 of the Companies  Act 2006 and has  been establ ished as  a  C losed-ended
investment company with an indefinite l i fe. The Company has  a  s ingle class  of shares  in issue which were
traded during the year on the on the C losed-ended investment funds  category of the LS E's  Main Market. The
Group has  entered the Real  Estate Investment Trust regime for the purposes  of UK taxation. 

The Company is  a  member of the Association of Investment Companies  (the "AIC"). 

Results and dividends

The results  for the year are set out in the aMached financial  informa$on. I t i s  the pol icy of the Board to
declare and pay dividends as  quarterly interim dividends.

I n respect of the 30 June 2024 financial  year, the Company has  declared the fol lowing interim dividends
amounting to 6.06 pence per share (2023: 6.00 pence per share).

Relevant Period
Dividend per share

(pence) Ex-dividend date Record date Date paid 
Quarter ended
30 September 2023

1.515 12 October 2023 13 October 2023 16 November 2023
Quarter ended
31 December 2023

1.515 11 January 2024 12 January 2024 14 February 2024
Quarter ended
31 March 2024

1.515 11 Apri l  2024 12 Apri l  2024 16 May 2024
Quarter ended
30 June 2024

1.515 11 July 2024 12 July 2024 16 August 2024

Dividend policy 

Subject to market condi$ons and performance, financial  pos i$on and outlook, i t i s  the Directors ' inten$on to
pay an aMrac$ve level  of dividend income to shareholders  on a quarterly bas is . The Company intends to grow
the dividend progress ively through investment in supermarket proper$es  with upward-only, predominantly
inflation-protected, long-term lease agreements .

Directors 

The names of the Directors  who served in the year ended 30 June 2024 are set out in the Board of Directors
section on pages  64 to 65 together with their biographical  detai ls  and principal  external  appointments .

Powers of Directors

The Board wi l l  manage the Company's  bus iness  and may exercise a l l  the Company's  powers , subject to the
Ar$cles , the Companies  Act and in certain ci rcumstances, are subject to the authori ty being given to the
Directors  by shareholders  in the general  meeting. 

The Board's  role is  to provide entrepreneuria l  leadership of the Company within a  framework of prudent and
effec$ve controls  that enable risk to be assessed and managed. I t a lso sets  up the Group's  strategic a ims,
ensuring that the necessary resources  are in place for the Group to meet i ts  objec$ves  and review investment
performance. The Board also sets  the Group's  values, s tandards  and culture. Further detai ls  on the Board's
role can be found in the Corporate Governance Report on page 63.

Appointment and replacement of Directors

Al l  D irectors  were elected or re-elected at the AGM on 7 December 2023. I n accordance with the AI C  Code, a l l
the Directors  wi l l  re$re and those who wish to con$nue to serve wi l l  offer themselves  for elec$on or re-
election at the forthcoming Annual  General  Meeting.

Directors' indemnity

The Company maintains  £35 mi l l ion of Directors ' and O fficers ' Liabi l i ty I nsurance cover for the benefit of the
Directors , which was in place throughout the year. The level  of cover was  increased to £40 mi l l ion on 4 July
2024 and continues  in effect at the date of this  report. 

Significant shareholdings 

The table below shows the interests  in shares  no$fied to the Company in accordance with Chapter 5 of the
Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules  issued by the F inancial  Conduct Authori ty who have a
disclosable interest of 3% or more in the ordinary shares  of the Company as  at 30 June 2024.

 



 
 

Number of shares 
Percentage of

issued share capital 
Blackrock Inc.

68,196,517 5.46%
Schroders  Plc

63,131,941 5.08%
Close Brothers  Asset Management

62,147,569 4.99%
Qui l ter Plc

62,058,617 4.99%
Ameriprise Financial , Inc.

61,728,272 4.98%
 

Since the year end, and up to 17 September 2024, the Company has  not received any further no$fica$ons of
changes  of interest in i ts  ordinary shares  in accordance with DTR 5. The informa$on provided is  correct as  at
the date of noti fication.

Donations and contributions

The Group approved a dona$on of £120,000 to The Atrato Founda$on during the year which was seMled post
year end.

Branches outside the UK

The Company has  no branches  outs ide the UK.

Financial risk management

The Group's  exposure to, and management of, capital  ri sk, market risk and l iquidity risk i s  set out in note 21
to the Group's  financial  information.

Amendments to the Articles

The Articles  may only be amended with shareholders ' approval  in accordance with the relevant legis lation.

Employees 

The Group has  no employees  and therefore no employee share scheme or pol icies  for the employment of
disabled persons  or employee engagement. 

Anti-bribery policy

The Company has  a  zero-tolerance pol icy towards  bribery and is  commiMed to carrying out i ts  bus iness  fa i rly,
honestly and openly. The an$-bribery pol icies  and procedures  apply to a l l  i ts  D irectors  and to those who
represent the Company.

Human Rights

The Company has  a  zero-tolerance approach to modern s lavery and human trafficking and is  commiMed to
ensuring i ts  organisa$on and bus iness  partners  operate with the same values. The Company's  modern s lavery
and human trafficking statement can be found on the Company's  website.

Research and development

No expenditure on research and development was made during the period.

Related party transactions

Related party transac$ons for the year ended 30 June 2024 can be found in note 28 of the financial
information. 

Annual General Meeting

The Annual  General  Meeting of the Company wi l l  be held on 3 December 2024.

Greenhouse gas emissions

As a l i s ted en$ty, the Company is  required to comply with the S EC R regula$ons under the Companies
(Directors ' Report) and Limited Liabi l i ty Partnerships  (Energy and Carbon Report) Regula$ons 2018.
I nforma$on regarding emiss ions  aris ing from the Group's  ac$vi$es  are included within the TC F D al igned
report on pages  39 to 51.

Disclosure of information to auditor 

Al l  of the Directors  have taken al l  the steps  that they ought to have taken to make themselves  aware of any
informa$on needed by the auditor for the purposes  of their audit and to establ ish that the Auditor i s  aware of
that informa$on. The Directors  are not aware of any relevant audit informa$on of which the auditor i s
unaware. 

Significant agreements

There are no agreements  with the Company or a  subs idiary in which a Director is  or was  materia l ly interested
or to which a control l ing shareholder was  party.

Share capital structure

As at 30 June 2024, the Company's  i ssued share capital  cons isted of 1,246,239,185 ordinary shares  of one
penny each, a l l  ful ly paid and l i s ted on the Closed-ended investment funds  category of the FCA's  Officia l  List of
the LS E's  Main Market. Further detai ls  of the share capital , including changes  throughout the year are
summarised in note 22 of the financial  information.

Subject to authorisa$on by Shareholder resolu$on, the Company may purchase i ts  own shares  in accordance
with the Companies  Act 2006. At the Annual  General  Mee$ng held in 2023, shareholders  authorised the
Company to make market purchases  of up to 186,811,253 O rdinary Shares. The Company has  not repurchased
any of i ts  ordinary shares  under this  authori ty, which is  due to expire at the AGM in 2024 and appropriate
renewals  wi l l  be sought.

There are no restric$ons on transfer or l imita$ons on the holding of the ordinary shares. None of the shares
carry any special  rights  with regard to the control  of the Company. There are no known arrangements  under
which financial  rights  are held by a  person other than the holder of the shares  and no known agreements  on
restrictions  on share transfers  and voting rights .



Post balance sheet events

For detai ls  of events  s ince the year end date, please refer to note 29 of the consol idated financial  information.

Corporate Governance

The Company's  statement on corporate governance can be found in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
74 to 75 of this  Annual  Report. The Corporate Governance Report forms part of this  directors ' report and is
incorporated into i t by cross-reference.

Information included in the strategic report

The informa$on that fulfils  the repor$ng requirements  rela$ng to the Group's  bus iness  during the year and
l ikely future developments  can be found on pages  14 to 38.
 
This  Directors ' Report was  approved by the Board and is  s igned on i ts  behal f by:
 

 

Nick Hewson 
Chair
17 September 2024
 
 

ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT FUND MANAGER'S REPORT
Background
The Alterna$ve I nvestment Fund Managers  Direc$ve (the "AI F M D") came into force on 22 July 2013. The
objec$ve of the AI F M D was to ensure a  common regulatory regime for funds  marketed in or into the EU which
are not regulated under the UC I TS regime. This  was  primari ly for investors ' protec$on and also to enable
European regulators  to obtain adequate informa$on in rela$on to funds  being marketed in or into the EU to
ass ist their monitoring and control  of systemic risk i ssues.

The AI F M is  a  non-EU Alterna$ve I nvestment Fund Manager (a  "N on-EU A IF M"), the Company is  a  non-EU
Alternative Investment Fund (a  "Non-EU AIF") and the Company is  marketed primari ly into the UK , but a lso into
the EEA. Although the AI F M is  a  non-EU AI F M, so the depositary rules  in Ar$cle 21 of the AI F M D do not apply,
the transparency requirements  of Ar$cles  22 (Annual  report) and 23 (Disclosure to investors) of the AI F M D do
apply to the AI F M and therefore to the Company. I n compl iance with those ar$cles , the fol lowing informa$on
is  provided to the Company's  shareholders  by the AIFM.
 

1. Material Changes in the Disclosures to Investors
During the financial  year under review, there were no materia l  changes  to the information required to be made
avai lable to investors  before they invest in the Company under Ar$cle 23 of the AI F M D from that informa$on
set out in the Company's  prospectus  dated 1 O ctober, 2021, save as  updated in the supplementary prospectus
dated 7 Apri l , 2022, as  disclosed below and in certain sec$ons of the Strategic Report, those being the Chair's
Statement, I nvestment Adviser's  Report, TC F D Compl iant Report, O ur P rincipal  Risks  and the Sec$on 172(1)
Statement, together with the Corporate Governance Report in this  annual  financial  report.

2. Risks and Risk Management Policy
The current principal  risks  facing the Company and the main features  of the risk management systems
employed by AI F M and the Company to manage those risks  are set out in the Strategic Report (O ur P rincipal
Risks  and Risk and Going Concern), the Audit and Risk Committee Report and the Directors ' Report.

3. Leverage and borrowing
The Company is  en$tled to employ leverage in accordance with i ts  investment pol icy and as  described in the
Chair's  Statement, the sec$ons en$tled "Financial  Highl ights" and "Financial  O verview" in the Strategic Report
and the notes  to the financial  informa$on. O ther than as  disclosed therein, there were no changes  in the
Company's  borrowing powers  and pol icies .

4. Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Issues and Regula>on (EU) 2019/2099 on Sustainability-Related
Disclosures in the Financial Services Sector (the "SFDR")
As a member of the JTC group of Companies , the AI F M's  ul$mate beneficial  owner and control l ing party is  JTC
P lc, a  Jersey-incorporated company whose shares  have been admiMed to the O fficial  List of the UK 's  F inancial
Conduct Authori ty and to trading on the London Stock Exchange's  Main Market for Listed Securi$es  (mnemonic
JTC LN, LEI  213800DVUG4K LF2AS K 33). I n the conduct of i ts  own affairs , the AI F M is  commiMed to best prac$ce
in rela$on to ES G maMers  and has  therefore adopted JTC P lc's  ES G framework, which can be viewed onl ine at
hMps://www.jtcgroup.com/esg/. JTC P lc's  sustainabi l i ty report can also be viewed onl ine in i ts  annual
financial  report located at https://www.jtcgroup.com/investor-relations/annual-review/.

As  at the date of this  report, JTC P lc i s  a  s ignatory of the U.N. P rinciples  for Responsible I nvestment. The JTC
group is  a lso carbon neutral  and works  to support the achievement of ten of the U.N.'s  Sustainable
Development Goals . JTC P lc reports  under TC F D and under the SAS B framework. JTC P lc a lso reported publ icly
to the Carbon Disclosure P roject in 2023 and selected the Science Based Targets  ini$a$ve as  i ts  chosen net
zero framework.

From the perspec$ve of the S F D R, a l though the AI F M is  a  non-EU AI F M, the Company is  marketed into the EEA,
so that the AI F M is  required to comply with the S F D R in so far as  i t appl ies  to the Company and the AI F M's
management of the Company, which the Company has  class ified as  being within the scope of Ar$cle 6 of the
SFDR.  

The AI F M and Atrato Capital  Limited ("Atrato") as  the Company's  Alterna$ve I nvestment Fund Manager and
I nvestment Adviser respec$vely do cons ider ES G maMers  in their respec$ve capaci$es, as  explained in S UP R's
prospectus  dated 1 O ctober 2021, as  updated by S UP R's  supplementary prospectus  dated 7 Apri l  2022. Copies
of both of those documents  can be viewed on the AI F M's  website
at https://jtcglobalai fmsolutions.com/cl ients/supermarket-income-reit-plc/.

S ince the publ ica$on of those documents , the AI F M, Atrato and the Company have con$nued to enhance their
col lec$ve approach to ES G maMers  and detai led repor$ng on (a) enhancements  made to each party's  pol icies ,
procedures  and opera$onal  prac$ces  and (b) our col lec$ve future inten$ons and aspira$ons is  included in
the TC F D Compl iant Report included in the Strategic Report and the ES G CommiMee Report in this  annual
financial  report. The Company is  a lso publ ishing a  separate Sustainabi l i ty Report a longs ide this  report which
is  avai lable on the website.

The AI F M also has  a  comprehensive risk matrix (the "Matrix"), which is  used to iden$fy, monitor and manage
materia l  ri sks  to which the Company is  exposed, including ES G and sustainabi l i ty risks , the laMer being an
environmental , socia l  or governance event or condi$on that, i f i t occurred, could cause an actual  or a
poten$al  materia l  nega$ve impact on the value of an investment. We also cons ider sustainabi l i ty factors ,
those being environmental , socia l  and employee maMers , respect for human rights , an$-corrup$on and an$-
bribery matters .

The AI F M is  cognisant of the announcement publ ished by H.M. Treasury in the UK  of i ts  inten$on to make
mandatory by 2025 disclosures  a l igned with the recommenda$ons of the Task Force on C l imate-related

https://www.jtcgroup.com/investor-relations/annual-review/
https://www.jtcgroup.com/investor-relations/annual-review/
https://jtcglobalaifmsolutions.com/clients/supermarket-income-reit-plc/


mandatory by 2025 disclosures  a l igned with the recommenda$ons of the Task Force on C l imate-related
Financial  D isclosures , with a  s ignificant propor$on of disclosures  mandatory by 2023. The AI F M also notes
the roadmap and interim report of the UK 's  Joint Government-Regulator TC F D Taskforce publ ished by H.M.
Treasury on 9 November 2020. The AI F M con$nues to monitor developments  and intends to comply with the
UK's  regime to the extent ei ther mandatory or des irable as  a  matter of best practice.

5. Remuneration of the AIFM's Directors and Employees
During the financial  year under review, no separate remunera$on was paid by the AI F M to two of i ts  execu$ve
directors , Graham Taylor and Kobus Cronje, because they were both employees  of the JTC group of companies ,
of which the AI F M forms part. The third execu$ve director, MaMhew Tostevin, i s  paid a  fixed fee of £10,000 for
ac$ng as  a  director. Mr Tostevin is  paid addi$onal  remunera$on on a $me spent bas is  for services  rendered
to the AI F M and i ts  cl ients . O ther than the directors , the AI F M has  no employees. The Company has  no
agreement to pay any carried interest to the AI F M. During the year under review, the AI F M paid £10,000 in
fixed fees  and £46,211 in variable remuneration to Mr Tostevin.
 
 
6. Remuneration of the AIFM Payable by the Company
The AI F M was during the year under review paid a  fee of 0.04% per annum of the net asset value of the
Company up to £1 bi l l ion and 0.03% of the Company's  net asset value in excess  of £1 bi l l ion, subject to a
minimum of £50,000 per annum, such fee being payable quarterly in arrears . The total  fees  paid to the AI F M
during the year under review were £0.44 mi l l ion.

 

 

JTC Global AIFM Solutions Limited
Alternative Investment Fund Manager
17 September 2024

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 30 June 2024

Notes

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Gross  rental  income 4 107,851 95,823
Service charge income 4 6,822 5,939
Service charge expense 5 (7,441) (6,518)
Net Rental Income  107,232 95,244
Administrative and other expenses 6 (15,218) (15,429)
O pera>ng profit before changes in fair value of investment proper>es and
share of income and profit on disposal from joint venture

  
 

92,014 79,815
Changes  in fa i r value of investment properties 13 (65,825) (256,066)

 
Share of income from joint venture - 23,232
Profi t on disposal  of joint venture - 19,940
Operating profit/(loss)  26,189 (133,079)
   
Finance income 9 23,781 14,626
Finance expense 9 (40,043) (39,315)
Changes  in fa i r value on interest rate derivatives 18 (31,251) 10,024
Profi t on disposal  of interest rate derivatives - 2,878
Loss before taxation (21,324) (144,866)
    
Tax credit / (charge) for the year 10 140 -
Loss for the year (21,184) (144,866)
    
Items to be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods

 
 

 

Fair value movements  in interest rate derivatives 18 (1,765) 1,068
Foreign exchange movement 32 -
Total comprehensive expense for the year (22,917) (143,798)
Total comprehensive expense for the year attributable
to ordinary Shareholders

 
(22,917) (143,798)

Earnings per share - basic and diluted 11 (1.7) pence (11.7) pence-

 
 

 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2024

Notes

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Non-current assets
Investment properties 13 1,768,216 1,685,690
Financial  asset aris ing from sale and leaseback transactions 15 11,023 10,819
Interest rate derivatives 18 15,741 37,198
Total non-current assets  1,794,980 1,733,707
Current assets    
Interest rate derivatives 18 15,708 20,384
Trade and other receivables 16 11,900 142,155
Deferred tax asset



Deferred tax asset 20 140 -
Cash and cash equivalents 38,691 37,481
Total current assets  66,439 200,020
Total assets  1,861,419 1,933,727

 
Non-current liabilities   
Bank borrowings 19 597,652 605,609
Trade and other payables 1,045 -
Total non-current liabilities  598,697 605,609
Current liabilities    
Bank borrowings  due within one year 19 96,516 61,856
Deferred rental  income 24,759 21,557
Trade and other payables 17 21,973 26,979
Total current liabilities  143,248 110,392
Total liabilities  741,945 716,001
Net assets  1,119,474 1,217,726

 
Equity    
Share capital 22 12,462 12,462
Share premium reserve 22 500,386 500,386
Capital  reduction reserve 22 629,196 704,531
Retained earnings (24,141) (2,957)

Cash flow hedge reserve 23 1,539 3,304
 

Other reserves 32 -
 

Total equity  1,119,474 1,217,726
    
Net asset value per share - basic and diluted 27 90 pence 98 pence
EPRA NTA per share 27 87 pence 93 pence

Notes

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Non-current assets

The consolidated financial informa$on was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 17 September 2024 and were signed on its behalf by Nick Hewson (Chair).

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2024
 

 
Share

capital
£'000

Share
premium

reserve
£'000

Cash flow
hedge

reserve
£'000

Other
reserve

 
£'000

Capital
reduction

reserve
£'000

 
Retained
earnings

£'000

 
 

Total £'000
As at 1 July 2023 12,462 500,386 3,304 - 704,531 (2,957) 1,217,726
Comprehensive income for the
year:
Loss  for the year - - - - - (21,184) (21,184)
Recycled from
comprehensive loss  to profi t
and loss

- - (1,154)  
- - - (1,154)

Other comprehensive loss - - (611) 32 - - (579)
Total comprehensive loss for
the year

- - (1,765) 32 - (21,184) (22,917)

Transactions with owners
Interim dividends paid (note
12)

- - - - (75,335) - (75,335)

As at 30 June 2024 12,462 500,386 1,539 32 629,196 (24,141) 1,119,474
For the year ended 30 June 2023

Share
capital
£'000

Share
premium

reserve
£'000

Cash flow
hedge

reserve
£'000

Capital
reduction

reserve
£'000

Retained
earnings

£'000 Total £'000
As at 1 July 2022 12,399 494,174 5,114 778,859 141,909 1,432,455
Comprehensive income for
the year
Loss  for the year - - - - (144,866) (144,866)
Cash flow hedge reserve to
profi t for the year on disposal  of
interest rate derivatives - - (2,878) - - (2,878)
Other comprehensive income - - 1,068 - - 1,068
Total comprehensive loss for the
year - - (1,810) - (144,866) (146,676)

Transactions with owners
O rdinary shares  issued at a
premium during the year 63 6,301 - - - 6,364
Share issue costs - (89) - - - (89)
Interim dividends paid (note 12) - - - (74,328)                   - (74,328)
As at 30 June 2023



As at 30 June 2023 12,462 500,386 3,304 704,531 (2,957) 1,217,726
Share

capital
£'000

Share
premium

reserve
£'000

Cash flow
hedge

reserve
£'000

Capital
reduction

reserve
£'000

Retained
earnings

£'000 Total £'000

 
 
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 30 June 2024

Notes

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Operating activities  
Loss  for the year (attributable to ordinary shareholders) (21,184) (144,866)
Adjustments  for:
Tax credit (140) -
Changes  in fa i r value of interest rate deriva$ves
measured at fa i r value through profi t and loss 31,251 (10,024)
Changes  in fa i r value of investment properties  and
associated rent guarantees 13 65,825 256,066
Movement in rent smoothing and lease incen$ve
adjustments 4 (2,434) (2,763)
Amortisation of lease fees 18 -
Finance income 9 (23,781) (14,626)
Finance expense 9 40,043 39,281
Share of income from joint venture - (23,232)
Profi t on disposal  of interest rate derivative - (2,878)
Profi t on disposal  of Joint Venture - (19,941)
Cash flows from operating activities before changes
in working capital

 
89,598 77,017

(Increase) in trade and other receivables (2,996) (548)
Decrease in rent guarantee receivables - 191
Increase in deferred rental  income 3,202 5,198
Increase in trade and other payables 2,252 2,461
Net cash flows from operating activities  92,056 84,319

Investing activities  
Disposal  of Property, Plant & Equipment - 222
Acquis i tion and development of investment properties 13 (136,184) (362,630)
Capital ised acquis i tion costs (10,266) (14,681)
Bank interest received 78 -
Receipts  from other financial  assets 290 290
Investment in joint venture - (189,528)
Settlement of Joint Venture carried interest (7,500) -
Proceeds from disposal  of Joint Venture 134,912 292,636
Net cash flows used in investing activities  (18,670) (273,691)

 
    

 Notes

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Financing activities
Costs  of share issues - (89)
Bank borrowings  drawn 19 217,560 912,114
Bank borrowings  repaid 19 (191,077) (598,486)
Loan arrangement fees  paid (1,318) (5,010)
Bank interest paid (35,275) (22,408)
Settlement of interest rate derivatives 21,182 8,646
Settlement of Joint Venture Carried Interest - (8,066)
Sale of interest rate derivatives 18 38,482 2,878
Purchase of interest rate derivative 18 (45,364) (44,255)
Bank commitment fees  paid (1,031) (1,708)
Dividends paid to equity holders (75,335) (67,963)
Net cash flows (used in) / from financing activities (72,176) 175,653
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents in the year  1,210 (13,719)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  37,481 51,200
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  38,691 37,481
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.    Basis of preparation

General information
Supermarket I ncome R EI T plc (the "Company") i s  a  company registered in England and Wales  with i ts
registered office at The Scalpel , 18th F loor, 52 Lime Street, London, EC3M 7AF. The principal  ac$vity of the
Company and i ts  subs idiaries  (the "Group") i s  to provide i ts  Shareholders  with an aMrac$ve level  of income
together with the poten$al  for capital  growth by inves$ng in a  divers ified porRol io of supermarket real  estate
assets  in the UK.

At 30 June 2024 the Group comprised the Company and i ts  whol ly owned subs idiaries  as  set out in Note 14.

Basis of preparation
The consol idated financial  informa$on set out in this  prel iminary announcement covers  the year to 30 June
2024, with compara$ve figures  rela$ng to the year to 30 June 2023, and includes  the results  and net assets  of
the Group. The financial  informa$on has  been prepared on the bas is  of the accoun$ng pol icies  set out in the
financial  s tatements  for the year ended 30 June 2024. W hi lst the financial  informa$on included in this



financial  s tatements  for the year ended 30 June 2024. W hi lst the financial  informa$on included in this
announcement has  been computed in accordance with the recogni$on and measurement requirements  of UK
adopted interna$onal  accoun$ng standards  this  announcement does  not i tsel f contain sufficient informa$on
to comply with IFRS.
 
The financial  informa$on does  not cons$tute the Group's  financial  s tatements  for the years  ended 30 June
2024 or 30 June 2023, but is  derived from those financial  s tatements . Those financial  s tatements  give a  true
and fa ir view of the assets , l iabi l i ties , financial  pos ition and results  of the Group. Financial  s tatements  for the
year ended 30 June 2023 have been del ivered to the Registrar of Companies  and those for the year ended 30
June 2024 wi l l  be del ivered fol lowing the Company's  AGM. The auditors ' reports  on both the 30 June 2024 and
30 June 2023 financial  s tatements  were unqual ified; did not draw aMen$on to any maMers  by way of
emphasis ; and did not contain statements  under section 498 (2) or (3) of the Companies  Act 2006.
 
The principal  accoun$ng pol icies  appl ied in the prepara$on of the consol idated financial  s tatements  are set
out below. These pol icies  have been cons istently appl ied to a l l  years  presented, other than where new pol icies
have been adopted.
 
Going concern
I n l ight of the current macroeconomic backdrop, the Directors  have placed a par$cular focus  on the
appropriateness  of adop$ng the going concern bas is  in preparing the Group's  and Company's  financial
statements  for the year ended 30 June 2024. I n assess ing the going concern bas is  of accoun$ng, the Directors
have cons idered the prospects  of the Group over the period up to 30 September 2025.

Liquidity

At 30 June 2024, the Group generated net cash flow from opera$ng ac$vi$es  of £92.1 mi l l ion, held cash of
£38.7 mi l l ion and undrawn commiMed faci l i$es  total l ing £54.2 mi l l ion with no capital  commitments  or
contingent l iabi l i ties .

AOer the year end, the Group also increased i ts  debt capacity from £752.0 mi l l ion to £825.4 mi l l ion (see Note
19 for more informa$on), leaving undrawn commiMed faci l i$es  of £176.0 mi l l ion avai lable (including £50.0
mi l l ion accordion).

The Directors  are of the bel ief that the Group con$nues to be wel l  funded during the going concern period with
no concerns  over i ts  l iquidity.

Refinancing events

At the date of s igning the financial  s tatements , the Wel ls  Fargo faci l i ty and £50 mi l l ion of the syndicate
unsecured term loan fa l l  due for repayment during the going concern period. I t i s  intended that the faci l i$es
wi l l  be refinanced prior to maturi ty, or i f required, paid down in ful l  u$l is ing the Group's  avai lable cash
balances  and undrawn commiMed faci l i$es  of over £117 mi l l ion (including post balance sheet events). Al l
lenders  have been suppor$ve during the year and have expressed commitment to the long-term rela$onship
they wish to bui ld with the Company. 

Covenants

The Group's  debt faci l i$es  include covenants  in respect of LTV and interest cover, both projected and historic.
Al l  debt faci l i ties , except for the unsecured faci l i ties , are ring-fenced with each speci fic lender.

The Directors  have evaluated a number of scenarios  as  part of the Group's  going concern assessment and
considered the impact of these scenarios  on the Group's  con$nued compl iance with debt covenants . The key
assump$ons that have been sens i$sed within these scenarios  are fa l ls  in rental  income and increases  in
administrative cost inflation.

As  at the date of i ssuance of this  Annual  Report 100% of contractual  rent for the period has  been col lected.
The Group benefits  from a secure income stream from the majori ty of i ts  property assets  that are let to tenants
with excel lent covenant strength under long leases  that are subject to upward only rent reviews.

The l i s t of scenarios  are below and are a l l  on top of the base case model  which includes  prudent assump$ons
on valua$ons and cost infla$on. The Group is  100% hedged (including post balance sheet events), no
sens i$vity for movements  in interest rates  have been model led for the hedged debt during the going concern
assessment period.

Scenario Rental Income Costs
Base case scenario (Scenario 1) 100% contractual  rent received

when due and rent reviews based
on forward looking infla$on
curve, capped at the contractual
rate of the individual  leases.

I nvestment adviser fee based on
terms of the s igned agreement
(percentage of NAV as  per note
27), other costs  in l ine with
contractual  terms.

Scenario 2 Rental  income to fa l l  by 20%. Costs  expected to remain the
same as  the base case.

Scenario 3 Rental  I ncome expected to remain
the same as  the base case.

10% increases  on base case costs
to a l l  administrative expenses.

 

The Group con$nues to maintain covenant compl iance for i ts  LTV and I C R thresholds  throughout the going
concern assessment period under each of the scenarios  model led. The lowest amount of I C R headroom
experienced in the worst-case stress  scenarios  was  42%. Based on the latest bank commiss ioned valua$ons,
property values  would have to fa l l  by more than 26% before LTV covenants  are breached, and 19% against 30
June 2024 Company valua$ons. S imi larly, the strictest interest cover covenant within each of the ring-fenced
banking groups is  225%, where the porRol io is  forecast to have an average interest cover ra$o of 425% during
the going concern period. 

Having reviewed and cons idered three model led scenarios , the Directors  cons ider that the Group has
adequate resources  in place for at least 12 months  from the date of i ssue of this  annual  report and have
therefore adopted the going concern bas is  of accounting in preparing the Annual  Report.

Accounting convention and currency
The consol idated financial  informa$on (the "financial  informa$on") has  been prepared on a historical  cost
bas is , except that investment proper$es, rental  guarantees  and interest rate deriva$ves  measured at fa i r
value.

The financial  informa$on is  presented in Pounds Sterl ing and al l  values  are rounded to the nearest thousand
(£'000), except where otherwise indicated. Pounds Sterl ing is  the func$onal  currency of the Company and the
presentation currency of the Group.

Euro denominated results  of the French operation have been converted to Sterl ing at the average exchange rate
for the period from acquis i$on to 30 June 2024 of €1:£0.85, which is  cons idered not to produce materia l ly
different results  from us ing the actual  rates  at the date of the transac$ons. Year end balances  have been
converted to sterl ing at the 30 June 2024 exchange rate of €1:£0.85. The accoun$ng pol icy for foreign currency



converted to sterl ing at the 30 June 2024 exchange rate of €1:£0.85. The accoun$ng pol icy for foreign currency
trans lation is  in note 2.

Adoption of new and revised standards

There were a number of new standards and amendments to exis$ng standards which are required
for the Group's accounting period beginning on 1 July 2023.

The following amendments are effective for the period beginning 1 July 2023:

-      IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

-      Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 - Disclosure of accounting policies

-      Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors)

-      Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction

-      International Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules (Amendments to IAS 12 - International tax
reform - Pillar Two model rules)

There was no material effect from the adop$on of the above-men$oned amendments to IFRS
effec$ve in the period. They have no significant impact to the Group as they are either not
relevant to the Group's ac$vi$es or require accoun$ng which is already consistent with the
Group's current accounting policies.

I n the current financial  year, the Group has  adopted a number of minor amendments  to standards  effec$ve in
the year issued by the I AS B as  adopted by the UK  Endorsement Board, none of which have had a materia l
impact on the Group.

There was no materia l  effect from the adop$on of other amendments  to I F RS effec$ve in the year. They have no
s ignificant impact on the Group as  they are ei ther not relevant to the Group's  ac$vi$es  or require accoun$ng
which is  cons istent with the Group's  current accounting pol icies .

Standards and interpretations in issue not yet adopted
The fol lowing are new standards, interpreta$ons and amendments , which are not yet effec$ve, and have not
been early adopted in this  financial  informa$on, that wi l l  or may have an effect on the Group's  future
financial  s tatements:
 

·    Amendments  to I AS 1 which are intended to clari fy the requirements  that an en$ty appl ies  in
determining whether a  l iabi l i ty i s  class ified as  current or non-current. The amendments  are intended
to be narrow-scope in nature and are meant to clari fy the requirements  in I AS 1 rather than modify
the underlying principles  (effective for periods  beginning on or after 1 January 2024).

 
The amendments  include clari fications  relating to:

-      How events  after the end of the reporting period affect l iabi l i ty class i fication
-      What the rights  of an enti ty must be in order to class i fy a  l iabi l i ty as  non-current
-      How an enti ty assesses  compl iance with conditions  of a  l iabi l i ty (e.g. bank covenants)
-      How convers ion features  in l iabi l i ties  affect their class i fication

 
The amendment is  not expected to have an impact on the presenta$on or class ifica$on of the l iabi l i$es  in the
Group based on rights  that are in existence at the end of the reporting period.
 

·    I F RS S1 General  Requirements  for Disclosure of Sustainabi l i ty-related Financial  I nforma$on. I F RS S1
sets  out general  requirements  for the disclosure of materia l  informa$on about sustainabi l i ty-related
financial  ri sks  and opportunities  and other general  reporting requirements  (periods  beginning after 1
January 2024).

 
·    I F RS S2 C l imate-related Disclosures. I F RS S2 sets  out disclosure requirements  that are specific to

cl imate-related matters  (periods  beginning after 1 January 2024).
 

·    I F RS 18 - P resenta$on and Disclosure in F inancial  Statements . I F RS 18 sets  out s ignificant new
requirements  for how financial  s tatements  are presented, with par$cular focus  on the statement of
profit or loss , including requirements  for mandatory sub-totals  to be presented, aggrega$on and
disaggrega$on of informa$on, as  wel l  as  disclosures  related to management-defined performance
measures. This  new standard wi l l  first be effec$ve for the Group for the period commencing 1 July
2027.

 
The Group expects  to review and determine the impact of the new standard on the Group's  repor$ng and
financial  information over the coming financial  year.
 
The Group acknowledges  the issue of these new standards  by the I nterna$onal  Sustainabi l i ty Standards
Board's  ("I S S B") wi l l  monitor the consulta$on and decis ion process  being undertaken by the UK  Government
and FCA in determining how these standards  are implemented by UK companies .

There are other new standards  and amendments  to standards  and interpretations  which have been issued that
are effec$ve in future accoun$ng periods, and which the Group has  decided not to adopt early. None of these
are expected to have a materia l  impact on the condensed consol idated financial  s tatements  of the Group.

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The prepara$on of this  financial  informa$on in accordance with I F RS requires  the Directors  of the Company
to make judgements , es$mates  and assump$ons that affect the reported amounts  recognised in the financial
information.

Key estimate: Fair value of investment properties

The fa ir value of the Group's  investment proper$es  is  determined by the Group's  independent valuer on the
bas is  of market value in accordance with the R I C S Valua$on - Global  Standards  (the "Red Book"). Recognised
valuation techniques  are used by the independent valuer which are in accordance with those recommended by
the International  Valuation Standard Committee and compl iant with IFRS 13 'Fair Value Measurement.'

The independent valuer did not include any materia l  valua$on uncertainty clause in rela$on to the valua$on



The independent valuer did not include any materia l  valua$on uncertainty clause in rela$on to the valua$on
of the Group's  investment property for 30 June 2024 or 30 June 2023.

The independent valuer is  cons idered to have sufficient current local  and na$onal  knowledge of the
supermarket property market and the requis i te ski l l s  and understanding to undertake the valua$on
competently.

I n forming an opinion as  to fa i r value, the independent valuer makes  a  series  of assump$ons, which are
typical ly market-related, such as  those in rela$on to net ini$al  yields  and expected rental  values. These are
based on the independent valuer's  profess ional  judgement. O ther factors  taken into account by the
independent valuer in arriving at the valua$on of the Group's  investment proper$es  include the length of
property leases, the location of the properties  and the strength of tenant covenants .

The fa ir value of the Group's  investment proper$es  as  determined by the independent valuer, a long with the
s igni ficant methods and assumptions  used in estimating this  fa i r value, are set out in note 13.

Key judgement: Acquisition of investment properties
 
The Group has  acquired and intends to acquire further investment proper$es. At the $me of each purchase the
Directors  assess  whether an acquis i$on represents  the acquis i$on of an asset or the acquis i$on of a
bus iness .

Under the Defini$on of a  Bus iness  (Amendments  to I F RS 3 "Bus iness  Combina$ons"), to be cons idered as  a
bus iness , an acquired set of ac$vi$es  and assets  must include, at a  minimum, an input and a substan$ve
process  that together s ignificantly contribute to the abi l i ty to create outputs . The op$onal  'concentra$on test'
i s  a lso appl ied, where i f substan$al ly a l l  of the fa ir value of gross  assets  acquired is  concentrated in a  s ingle
asset (or a  group of s imi lar assets), the assets  acquired would not represent a  bus iness .

During the year, the group completed four acquis i$ons; this  includes  the acquis i$on of 17 French proper$es
in a  s ingle transac$on. I n four cases  the concentra$on test was  appl ied and met, resul$ng in the acquis i$ons
being accounted for as  asset purchases.

Al l  £135.8 mi l l ion of acquis i tions  during the year were accounted for as  asset purchases.

Key judgement: Sale and leaseback transactions
 
The Group acquires  proper$es  under a  sale and leaseback arrangement. At the $me of the purchase the
Directors  assess  whether the acquis i$on represents  a  true sale to determine whether the assets  can be
accounted for as  Investment Properties  under IFRS 16.

Under I F RS 15, for the transfer of an asset to be accounted for as  a  true sale, sa$sfying a  performance
obl iga$on of transferring control  of an asset must be met for this  to be deemed a property transac$on and
accounted for under IFRS 16.

During the year, the Group acquired 17 stores  in France under sale and leaseback arrangements . The terms of
the sale and underlying lease were reviewed for indicators  of control  and deemed that the s ignificant risks
and rewards  to ownership were transferred to the Group and wi l l  therefore be accounted for as  an investment
property acquis i tion.

 

2.    Summary of material accounting policies

The materia l  accoun$ng pol icies  appl ied in the prepara$on of the consol idated financial  informa$on is  set
out below.

2.1.  Basis of consolidation

The consol idated financial  informa$on comprises  the financial  informa$on of the Company and al l  of i ts
subs idiaries  drawn up to 30 June 2024.

Subsidiaries  are those enti ties  including special  purpose enti ties , directly or indirectly control led
by the Company. Control  exists  when the Company is  exposed or has  rights  to variable returns  from
its  investment with the investee and has  the abi l i ty to affect those returns  through i ts  power over
the investee. In assess ing control , potentia l  voting rights  that presently are exercisable are taken
into account.

The financial  information of subs idiaries  are included in the consol idated financial  information from
the date that control  commences  unti l  the date that control  ceases.

I n preparing the consol idated financial  informa$on, intra group balances, transac$ons and unreal ised gains
or losses  are el iminated in ful l .

Uniform accounting pol icies  are adopted for a l l  enti ties  within the Group.

2.2.  Rental income

Rental  income aris ing on investment proper$es  is  accounted for in profit or loss  on a straight-l ine bas is  over
the lease term, as  adjusted for the fol lowing:

·   Any rental  income from fixed and minimum guaranteed rent review upl i fts  i s  recognised on
a straight-l ine bas is  over the lease term, variable lease upl iO calcula$ons are not rebased when a
rent review occurs  and the variable payment becomes fixed;

·   Lease incen$ves  and ini$al  costs  to arrange leases  are spread evenly over the lease term, even i f
payments  are not made on such a bas is . The lease term is  the non-cancel lable period of the lease
together with any further term for which the tenant has  the op$on to con$nue the lease, where, at
the incep$on of the lease, the Directors  are reasonably certain that the tenant wi l l  exercise that
option.

Con$ngent rents , such as  those aris ing from indexed-l inked rent upl iOs  or market based rent reviews, are
recognised in the period in which they are earned.

W here income is  recognised in advance of the related cash flows due to fixed and minimum guaranteed rent
review upl iOs  or lease incen$ves, an adjustment is  made to ensure that the carrying value of the relevant
property, including the accrued rent rela$ng to such upl iOs  or lease incen$ves, does  not exceed the external
valuation.

Rental  income is  invoiced in advance with that element of invoiced rental  income that relates  to a  future
period being included within deferred rental  income in the consol idated statement of financial  pos ition.

Surrender premiums received in the period are included in rental  income.

Leases  class ified under I F RS 9 as  financial  assets  recognise income received from the tenant between finance
income and a reduction of the asset value, based on the interest rate impl ici t in the lease.

2.3.  Service charge income

Service charge income represents  amounts  bi l led to tenants  for services  provided in conjunc$on with leased



Service charge income represents  amounts  bi l led to tenants  for services  provided in conjunc$on with leased
properties  based on budgeted service charge expenditure for a  given property over a  given service charge year.
The Company recognises  service charge income on a straight-l ine bas is  over the service charge term.

2.4.  Service charge expense

Service charge expense represents  a  wide range of costs  related to the opera$on and upkeep of the leased
proper$es. These costs  are a l located and charged to tenants  based on agreed terms and calcula$ons as
outl ined in the lease agreements  with a  portion being borne by the landlord where agreed.

2.5.  Finance income

Finance income consists  principal ly of interest receivable from interest rate deriva$ves  and income from
financial  assets  held at amor$sed cost. An adjustment is  appl ied to reclass i fy amounts  received upon
periodic settlement of interest rate derivatives  assets  from change in fa i r value to interest income.

2.6.  Finance expense

Finance expenses  cons ist principal ly of interest payable and the amortisation of loan arrangement fees.

Loan arrangement fees  are expensed us ing the effec$ve interest method over the term of the relevant loan.
I nterest payable and other finance costs , including commitment fees , which the Group incurs  in connec$on
with bank borrowings, are expensed in the period to which they relate.

2.7.  Administrative and other expenses

Administra$ve and other expenses, including the investment advisory fees  payable to the I nvestment Adviser,
are recognised as  a  profi t or loss  on an accruals  bas is .

2.8.  Dividends payable to Shareholders

Dividends to the Company's  Shareholders  are recognised when they become legal ly payable, as  a  reduc$on in
equity in the financial  informa$on. I nterim equity dividends are recognised when paid. F inal  equity dividends
wi l l  be recognised when approved by Shareholders  at an AGM.

2.9.  Taxation

Non-REIT taxable income
Taxa$on on the Group's  profit or loss  for the year that i s  not exempt from tax under the UK-R EI T regula$ons
comprises  current and deferred tax, as  appl icable. Tax is  recognised in profit or loss  except to the extent that
i t relates  to i tems recognised as  direct movements  in equity, in which case i t i s  s imi larly recognised as  a
direct movement in equity.

Deferred tax is  provided in ful l  us ing the Balance Sheet l iabi l i ty method on temporary differences  between the
carrying amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i$es  for financial  repor$ng purposes  and the amounts  used for taxa$on
purposes. Deferred tax is  determined us ing tax rates  that have been enacted or substan$vely enacted by the
reporting date and are expected to apply when the asset i s  real ised or the l iabi l i ty i s  settled.

Deferred tax assets  are recognised to the extent that i t i s  probable that suitable taxable profits  wi l l  be
avai lable against which deductible temporary di fferences  can be uti l i sed.

Current tax is  tax payable on any non-R EI T taxable income for the year, us ing tax rates  enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the relevant period.

Entry to the UK-REIT regime
The Group obtained i ts  UK-R EI T status  effec$ve from 21 December 2017. Entry to the regime results  in, subject
to con$nuing relevant UK-R EI T cri teria  being met, the profits  of the Group's  property rental  bus iness ,
compris ing both income and capital  gains , being exempt from UK taxation.

The Group intends to ensure that i t compl ies  with the UK-R EI T regula$ons on an on-going bas is  and regularly
monitors  the conditions  required to maintain REIT status.

2.10.          Investment properties

I nvestment proper$es  cons ist of land and bui ldings  which are held to earn income together with the poten$al
for capital  growth.

I nvestment proper$es  are recognised when the risks  and rewards  of ownership have been transferred and are
measured ini$al ly at cost, being the fa ir value of the cons idera$on given, including transac$on costs . W here
the purchase price (or propor$on thereof) of an investment property is  seMled through the issue of new
ordinary shares  in the Company, the number of shares  issued is  such that the fa ir value of the share
considera$on is  equal  to the fa ir value of the asset being acquired. Transac$on costs  include  transfer taxes
and profess ional  fees  for legal  services . Any subsequent capital  expenditure incurred in improving investment
proper$es  is  capital ised in the period incurred and included within the book cost of the property. Al l  other
property expenditure is  wri tten off in profi t or loss  as  incurred.

After ini tia l  recognition, investment properties  are measured at fa i r value, with gains  and losses  recognised in
profi t or loss  in the period in which they arise.

Gains  and losses  on disposals  of investment proper$es  wi l l  be determined as  the difference between the net
disposal  proceeds and the carrying value of the relevant asset. These wi l l  be recognised in profit or loss  in the
period in which they arise.

I ni$al ly, rental  guarantees  are recognised at their fa i r value and separated from the purchase price on ini$al
recogni$on of the property being purchased. They are subsequently measured at their fa i r value at each
reporting date with any movements  recognised in the profi t or loss .

2.11.          Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transac$ons are trans lated to the respec$ve func$onal  currency of Group en$$es at the
foreign exchange rate rul ing on the transac$on date. Foreign exchange gains  and losses  resul$ng from
seMl ing these, or from retrans la$ng monetary assets  and l iabi l i$es  held in foreign currencies , are booked in
the I ncome Statement. The excep$on is  for foreign currency loans  and deriva$ves  that hedge investments  in
foreign subs idiaries , where exchange di fferences  are booked in other reserves  unti l  the investment is  real ised.

Assets  and l iabi l i$es  of foreign en$$es are trans lated into sterl ing at exchange rates  rul ing at the Balance
Sheet date. Their income, expenses  and cash flows are trans lated at the average rate for the period or at spot
rate for s ignificant i tems. Resultant exchange differences  are booked in O ther Comprehensive I ncome and
recognised in the Group Income Statement when the operation is  sold.

Exchange difference on non-monetary i tems measured at fa i r value through profit or loss , being the value
movement of the investment proper$es, are recognised as  part of the total  fa i r value movement for the
portfol io.

2.12.          Financial assets and liabilities

Financial  assets  and l iabi l i$es  are recognised when the relevant Group en$ty becomes a party to the
unconditional  contractual  terms of an instrument. Unless  otherwise indicated, the carrying amounts



unconditional  contractual  terms of an instrument. Unless  otherwise indicated, the carrying amounts
of financial  assets  and l iabi l i ties  are cons idered by the Directors  to be reasonable estimates  of their
fa ir values.

Financial assets
Financial  assets  are recognised ini$al ly at their fa i r value. Al l  of the Group's  financial  assets , except interest
rate derivatives , are held at amortised cost us ing the effective interest method, less  any impairment.

For assets  where changes  in cash flows are l inked to changes  in an infla$on index, the Group updates  the
effec$ve interest rate at the end of each repor$ng period and this  i s  reflected in the carrying amount of the
asset each reporting period unti l  the asset i s  derecognised.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents  cons ist of cash in hand and short-term deposits  in banks  with an original  maturi ty
of three months  or less .

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables , including rents  receivable, are recognised and carried at the lower of their
original  invoiced value and recoverable amount. P rovis ions  for impairment are calculated us ing an expected
credit loss  model . Balances  wi l l  be wriMen-off in profit or loss  in ci rcumstances  where the probabi l i ty of
recovery is  assessed as  being remote.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables  are recognised ini tia l ly at their fa i r value and subsequently at amortised cost.

Bank borrowings
Bank borrowings  are ini$al ly recognised at fa i r value net of aMributable transac$on costs . AOer ini$al
recogni$on, bank borrowings  are subsequently measured at amor$sed cost, us ing the effec$ve interest
method. The effective interest rate is  calculated to include al l  associated transaction costs .

I n the event of a  modifica$on to the terms of a  loan agreement, the Group cons iders  both the quan$ta$ve and
qual i ta$ve impact of the changes. W here a modifica$on is  cons idered substan$al , the exis$ng faci l i ty i s
treated as  settled and the new faci l i ty i s  recognised. Where the modification is  not cons idered substantia l , the
carrying value of the l iabi l i ty i s  restated to the present value of the cash flows of the modified arrangement,
discounted us ing the effec$ve interest rate of the original  arrangement. The difference is  recognised as  a  gain
or loss  on refinancing through the statement of comprehensive income.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group's  deriva$ve financial  instruments  currently comprise of interest rate swaps/caps. Deriva$ves
des ignated as  hedging instruments  u$l ise hedge accoun$ng under I AS 39. Deriva$ves  not des ignated under
hedge accounting are accounted for under IFRS 9.

These instruments  are used to manage the Group's  cash flow interest rate risk.

The instruments  are ini$al ly recognised at fa i r value on the date that the deriva$ve contract i s  entered into,
being the cost of any premium paid at incep$on, and are subsequently re-measured at their fa i r value at each
reporting date.

Fair value measurement of derivative financial instruments
The fa ir value of deriva$ve financial  instruments  is  the es$mated amount that the Group would receive or pay
to terminate the agreement at the period end date, taking into account current interest rate expecta$ons and
the current credit rating of the relevant group enti ty and i ts  counterparties .

The Group uses  valua$on techniques  that are appropriate in the ci rcumstances  and for which sufficient data
is  avai lable to measure fa ir value, maximis ing the use of relevant observable inputs  and minimis ing the use
of unobservable inputs  s igni ficant to the fa ir value measurement as  a  whole.

A number of assump$ons are used in determining the fa ir values  including es$ma$ons over future interest
rates  and therefore future cash flows. The fa ir value represents  the net present value of the difference between
the cash flows produced by the contract rate and the valuation rate.

Hedge accounting
At the incep$on of a  hedging transac$on, the Group documents  the rela$onship between hedging instruments
and hedged i tems, as  wel l  as  i ts  risk management objec$ves  and strategy for undertaking the hedging
transaction.

The Group also documents  i ts  assessment, both at hedge incep$on and on an ongoing bas is , of whether the
deriva$ves  that are used in hedging transac$ons are highly effec$ve in offseSng changes  in fa i r values  or
cash flows of hedged i tems.

Assuming the cri teria  for applying hedge accoun$ng con$nue to be met the effec$ve por$on of gains  and
losses  on the revalua$on of such instruments  are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the cash flow hedging reserve. Any ineffec$ve por$on of such gains  and losses  wi l l  be
recognised in profit or loss  within finance income or expense as  appropriate. The cumula$ve gain or loss
recognised in other comprehensive income is  reclass ified from the cash flow hedge reserve to profit or loss
(finance expense) at the same time as  the related hedged interest expense is  recognised.

I nterest rate deriva$ves  that do not qual i fy under hedge accoun$ng are carried in the Group Statement of
Financial  Pos i$on at fa i r value, with changes  in fa i r value recognised in the Group Statement of
Comprehensive I ncome, net of interest receivable/payable from the deriva$ves  shown in the finance income
or expense l ine.

2.13.          Equity instruments

Equity instruments  issued by the Company are recorded at the amount of the proceeds received, net of directly
attributable issue costs . Costs  not directly attributable to the issue are immediately expensed in profi t or loss .

No shares  were issued in the period.

2.14.          Fair value measurements and hierarchy

Fair value is  the price that would be received on the sale of an asset, or paid to transfer a  l iabi l i ty,
in an orderly transac$on between market par$cipants  at the measurement date. The fa ir value measurement
is  based on the presump$on that the transac$on takes  place ei ther in the principal  market for the asset or
l iabi l i ty, or in the absence of a  principal  market, in the most advantageous market. I t i s  based on the
assumptions  that market participants  would use when pricing the asset
or l iabi l i ty, assuming they act in their economic best interest. A fa i r value measurement of a  non-financial
asset takes  into account the best and highest value use for that asset.

The fa ir value hierarchy to be appl ied under IFRS 13 is  as  fol lows:

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices  in active markets  for identical  assets  or l iabi l i ties .

Level 2: Valuation techniques  for which the lowest level  input that i s  s igni ficant to the fa ir value measurement
is  directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3: Valuation techniques  for which the lowest level  input that i s  s igni ficant to the fa ir value measurement
is  unobservable.



i s  unobservable.

For assets  and l iabi l i$es  that are carried at fa i r value and which wi l l  be recorded in the financial  informa$on
on a recurring bas is , the Group wi l l  determine whether transfers  have occurred between levels  in the
hierarchy by reassess ing categorisation at the end of each reporting period.

3.    Operating Segments

O pera$ng segments  are iden$fied on the bas is  of internal  financial  reports  about components  of the Group
that are regularly reviewed by the chief opera$ng decis ion maker (which in the Group's  case is  the Board,
compris ing the Non-Execu$ve Directors , and the I nvestment Adviser) in order to a l locate resources  to the
segments  and to assess  their performance.

The internal  financial  reports  contain financial  informa$on at a  Group level  as  a  whole and there are no
reconci l ing i tems between the results  contained in these reports  and the amounts  reported in the consol idated
financial  informa$on. These internal  financial  reports  include the I F RS figures  but a lso report the non-I F RS
figures  for the EP R A and al terna$ve performance measures  as  disclosed in Notes  11, 27 and the Addi$onal
Information.

The Group's  property porRol io comprises  investment property. The Board cons iders  that a l l  the proper$es
have s imi lar economic characteristics . Therefore, in the view of the Board, there is  one reportable segment.

 

The geographical  spl i t of revenue and materia l  appl icable non-current assets  was:

Revenue

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
UK 107,063 95,823
France 788 -
 107,851 95,823

Investment Properties

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
UK 1,704,280 1,685,690
France 63,936 -
 1,768,216 1,685,690

 

 

4.    Gross rental income

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Rental  income - freehold property 58,345 53,119
Rental  income - long leasehold property 49,063 42,669
Lease surrender income 443 35
Gross rental income 107,851 95,823

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Property insurance recoverable 621 585
Service charge recoverable 6,201 5,354
Total property insurance and service charge income 6,822 5,939
Total property income 114,673 101,762
 

I ncluded within rental  income is  a  £2,197,000 (2023: £2,512,000) rent smoothing adjustment that arises  as  a
result of I F RS 16 'Leases ' requiring that rental  income in respect of leases  with rents  increas ing by a  fixed
percentage be accounted for on straight-l ine bas is  over the lease term. During the year this  resulted in an
increase in rental  income and an offseSng entry being recognised in profit or loss  as  an adjustment  to the
investment property revaluation.

Also included in rental  income is  a  £237,000 (year to 30 June 2023: £499,000) adjustment for lease
incen$ves. Tenant lease incen$ves  are recognised on a straight-l ine bas is  over the lease term as  an
adjustment to rental  income. During the year this  resulted in an increase in rental  income and an offseSng
entry being recognised in profi t or loss  as  an adjustment to the investment property revaluation.

O n an annual ised bas is , rental  income comprises  £54,258,000 (2023: £49,620,000) rela$ng to the Group's
largest tenant and £30,790,000 (2023: £27,194,000) rela$ng to the Group's  second largest tenant. There were
no further tenants  representing more than 10% of annual ised gross  rental  income during ei ther year.

5.    Service charge expense

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Property insurance expenses 714 715
Service charge expenses 6,727 5,803
Total property insurance and service charge expense 7,441 6,518
 

 

 

6.    Administrative and other expenses

Year to
30 June 2024

Year to
30 June 2023



30 June 2024
£'000

30 June 2023
£'000

Investment Adviser fees  (Note 28) 9,472 10,292
Directors ' remuneration (Note 8) 410 364
Corporate administration fees 1,049 1,108
Legal  and profess ional  fees 1,475 1,626
Other administrative expenses 2,812 2,039
Total administrative and other expenses 15,218 15,429

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000

 

7.    Operating profit/(loss)

Operating profi t/(loss) i s  s tated after charging fees  for:

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Audit of the Company's  consol idated and individual
financial  s tatements

292 260

Audit of subs idiaries , pursuant to legis lation 88 95
Total audit services 380 355
Audit related services: interim review 42 38
Total audit and audit related services 422 393
 

Not included in the table above is  £95,000 of addi$onal  audit fees  paid to BD O  rela$ng to the year ended 30
June 2023.

The Group's  auditor a lso provided the fol lowing services  in relation to corporate finance services:

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Other non-audit services: corporate finance services - 65
Total other non-audit services - 65
Total fees charged by the Group's auditor 422 458

8.    Directors' remuneration

The Group had no employees  in the current or prior year. The Directors , who are the key management
personnel  of the Company, are appointed under leMers  of appointment for services . D irectors ' remunera$on,
al l  of which represents  fees  for services  provided, was  as  fol lows:

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Directors ' fees 371 330
Employer's  National  Insurance Contribution 39 34
Total Directors' remuneration 410 364
The highest paid Director received £75,000 (2023: £75,000) for services  during the year.

 

9.    Finance income and expense

Finance income

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Interest received on bank deposits 306 53
Income from financial  assets  held at amortised cost (note 15) 494 483
Finance income on unwinding of discounted receivable 203 2,376
Finance income on settlement of interest rate derivatives  (note 18) 22,778 11,714
Total finance income 23,781 14,626
 

Finance expense

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Interest payable on bank borrowings 36,823 29,707
Commitment fees  payable on bank borrowings 817 1,571
Amortisation of loan arrangement fees* 2,403 8,037
Total finance expense 40,043 39,315
 

*This  includes  a  non-recurring excep$onal  charge of £70,000 (June 2023: £1.52 mi l l ion), rela$ng to the
accelera$on of unamor$sed arrangement fees  in respect of the modifica$on of loan faci l i$es  under I F RS 9.
Prior year a lso included a one-off loan arrangement fee for the short-term J.P. Morgan loan of £4.0 mi l l ion.

The above finance expense includes  the fol lowing in respect of l iabi l i$es  not class ified as  fa i r value through
profi t and loss :

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Total  interest expense on financial  l iabi l i ties  held at amortised cost 39,226 37,744
Fee expense not part of effec$ve interest rate for financial  l iabi l i$es  held at
amortised cost

817 1,571

Total finance expense 40,043 39,315

 
10.  Taxation



10.  Taxation

A) Tax charge in profit or loss

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
UK Corporation tax - -
France Corporation Tax - -
UK deferred tax - -
France deferred tax (note 20) (140) -

(140) -

B) Total tax expense
 

 

Tax (credit)/charge in profi t and loss  as  per the above (140) -
Share of tax expense of equity accounted joint ventures - (400)
Total tax (credit)/expense (140) (400)
 

The Company and i ts  subs idiaries  operate as  a  UK  Group R EI T. Subject to con$nuing compl iance with certain
rules , the UK  R EI T regime exempts  the profits  of the Group's  property rental  bus iness  from UK  corpora$on tax.
To operate as  a  UK  Group R EI T a  number of condi$ons had to be sa$sfied in respect of the Company, the
Group's  qual i fying ac$vity and the Group's  balance of bus iness . S ince the 21 December 2017 the Group has
met a l l  such appl icable conditions.

The reconci l ia$on of the loss  before tax mul$pl ied by the standard rate of corpora$on tax for the year of 25%
(2023: 20.4%) to the total  tax charge is  as  fol lows:

C) Reconciliation of the total tax charge for the year

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Loss  on ordinary activi ties  before taxation (21,324) (144,866)
Theoretical  tax at UK standard corporation tax rate of 25% (2023: 20.4%) (5,331) (29,553)
Effects  of:  
Investment property and derivative revaluation not taxable 24,269 49,680
Disposal  of interest rate derivative - (587)
Res idual  bus iness  losses 2,481 4,428
French subs idiary a l lowable expenses (140) -
Other non-taxable i tems - (8,807)
REIT exempt income (21,419) (15,161)
Share of tax expense of equity accounted joint ventures - (400)
Total tax (credit)/expense for the year (140) (400)
 

UK REIT exempt income includes  property rental  income that is  exempt from UK corporation tax in accordance
with Part 12 of CTA 2010.

No deferred tax asset has  been recognised in respect of the Group's  res idual  carried forward tax losses  of
£43.4 mi l l ion (2023: £36.2 mi l l ion) as , given the Group's  REIT status , i t i s  cons idered unl ikely that these
losses  wi l l  be uti l i sed. The Group is  subject to French Corporation tax on i ts  French property rental  bus iness
at a  rate of 25%.

11.  Earnings per share

Earnings  per share ("EP S") amounts  are calculated by dividing the profit or loss  for the period aMributable to
ordinary equity holders  of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares  in issue during
the period. As  there are no di lu$ve instruments  outstanding, bas ic and di luted earnings  per share are
identical .

The European P ubl ic Real  Estate Associa$on ("EP R A") publ ishes  guidel ines  for calcula$ng on a comparable
bas is . EP R A EP S is  a  measure of EP S des igned by EP R A to enable en$$es to present underlying earnings  from
core operating activi ties , which excludes  fa ir value movements  on investment properties  and derivatives .

The Company has  a lso included an addi$onal  earnings  measure cal led "Adjusted Earnings" and "Adjusted
EPS." Adjusted earnings62 i s  a  performance measure used by the Board to assess  the Group's  financial
performance and dividend payments . The metric adjusts  EP R A earnings  by deduc$ng one-off i tems such as
debt restructuring costs  and the Joint Venture acquis i$on loan arrangement fee which are non-recurring in
nature and adding back finance income on deriva$ves  held at fa i r value through profit and loss . Adjusted
Earnings  is  cons idered a beMer reflec$on of the measure over which the Board assesses  the Group's  trading
performance and dividend cover.

F inance income received from deriva$ves  held at fa i r value through profit and loss  are added back to EP R A
earnings  as  this  reflects  the cash received from the deriva$ves  in the period and therefore gives  a  beMer
reflection of the Group's  net finance costs .

Debt restructuring costs  relate to the accelera$on of unamor$sed arrangement fees  fol lowing the
restructuring of the Group's  debt faci l i ties  during the period.

The reconciliation of IFRS Earnings, EPRA Earnings and Adjusted Earnings is shown below:

 
Year to

30 June 2024
Year to

30 June 2023

 £' 000 £' 000
 

Net (loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (21,184) (144,866)
EPRA adjustments:   
Changes in fair value of investment properties and rental guarantees 65,825 256,066
Changes in fair value of interest rate deriva�ves measured at fair value through
profit and loss 31,251 (10,024)
Profit on disposal of interest rate derivatives - (2,878)
Group share of changes in fair value of joint venture investment properties -  (11,486)



Group share of changes in fair value of joint venture investment properties -  (11,486)
Gain on disposal of investments in joint venture - (19,940)
Deferred tax credit (140) -
Finance income received on interest rate deriva�ves held at fair value through profit
and loss (22,469) (9,671)
EPRA Earnings 53,283 57,201
Adjustments for:   
Finance income received on interest rate deriva�ves held at fair value through profit
and loss 22,469 9,671
Restructuring costs in relation to the acceleration of unamortised arrangement fees 70 1,518
Joint Venture acquisition loan arrangement fee                          - 4,009
Adjusted Earnings 75,822 72,399
 Number1 Number1

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 1,246,239,185 1,242,574,505

1 Based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

 

 Year to
30 June 2024

Year to
30 June 2023

 Pence per share ('p')
Pence per share

('p')
Bas ic and Di luted EPS (1.7) (11.7)
EPRA adjustments:   
Changes in fair value of interest rate derivatives measured at FVTPL 2.5 (0.8)
Changes in fair value of investment properties
and rent guarantees 5.3 20.6
Group share of changes in fair value of joint venture investment properties - (0.9)
Profit on disposal of interest rate derivatives - (0.2)
Group share of gain on disposal of joint venture investment properties - (1.6)
Deferred tax credit - -
Finance income received on interest rate deriva�ves held at fair value through
profit and loss (1.8) (0.8)
EPRA EPS 4.3 4.6
Adjustments for:   
Finance income received on interest rate deriva�ves held at fair value through
profit and loss 1.8 0.8
O ne-off restructuring costs in rela�on to the accelera�on of unamor�sed
arrangement fees - 0.1
Joint Venture acquisition loan arrangement fee - 0.3
Adjusted EPRA EPS 6.1 5.8
 

12.  Dividends

Year to
30 June 2024 £'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Amounts recognised as a distribution to ordinary Shareholders
in the year:
Dividends 75,335 74,328
 

O n 6 July 2023, the Board declared a fourth interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2023 of 1.500 pence
per share, which was paid on 4 August 2023 to shareholders  on the register on 14 July 2023.

On 5 October 2023 the Board declared a fi rst interim dividend for the year ending 30 June 2024 of 1.515 pence
per share, which was paid on 16 November 2023 to shareholders  on the register on 13 O ctober 2023.                
                                         

O n 4 January 2024 the Board declared a second interim dividend for the year ending 30 June 2024 of 1.515
pence per share, which was paid on 14 February 2024 to shareholders  on the register on 12 January 2024.      
                                                       

O n 4 Apri l  2024 the Board declared a third interim dividend for the year ending 30 June 2024 of 1.515 pence
per share, which was paid on 16 May 2024 to shareholders  on the register on 12 Apri l  2024.

O n 4 July 2024, the Board declared a fourth interim dividend for the year ending 30 June 2024 of 1.515 pence
per share, which was paid on 16 August 2024 to shareholders  on the register on 12 July 2024. This  has  not
been included as  a  l iabi l i ty as  at 30 June 2024.

13.  Investment properties

I n accordance with I AS 40 "I nvestment P roperty", the Group's  investment proper$es  have been independently
valued at fa i r value by Cushman & Wakefield, an accredited independent valuer with
a recognised and relevant profess ional  qual ifica$on and with recent experience in the loca$ons and
categories  of the investment proper$es  being valued. The valua$ons have been prepared in accordance with
the RICS Valuation - Global  Standards  and incorporate the recommendations
of the International  Valuation Standards  Committee which are cons istent with the principles  set out
in IFRS 13.

The independent valuer in forming i ts  opinion on valua$on makes  a  series  of assump$ons. As  explained in
note 2, a l l  the valua$ons of the Group's  investment property at 30 June 2024 are class ified as  'level  3' in the
fair value hierarchy defined in IFRS 13.

The valua$ons are ul$mately the responsibi l i ty of the Directors . Accordingly, the cri$cal  assump$ons used in
establ ishing the independent valuation are reviewed by the Board.

Freehold
£'000

Long Leasehold
£'000 Total £'000



£'000 £'000 Total £'000
At 1 July 2023 899,440 786,250 1,685,690
Property additions 101,104 34,700 135,804
Capital ised acquis i tion costs 8,093 2,317 10,410
Currency exchange movement (874) - (874)
Revaluation movement (35,747) (27,067) (62,814)
Valuation at 30 June 2024 972,016 796,200 1,768,216
    
At 1 July 2022 903,850 657,740 1,561,590
Property additions 131,600 231,030 362,630
Capital ised acquis i tion costs 4,132 10,549 14,681
Revaluation movement (140,142) (113,069) (253,211)
Valuation at 30 June 2023 899,440 786,250 1,685,690

Freehold
£'000

Long Leasehold
£'000 Total £'000

 

Reconciliation of Investment Property to Independent Property Valuation
 

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

 £'000
I nvestment P roperty at fa i r value per Group Statement of F inancial
Pos ition

1,768,216 1,685,690

Market Value of P roperty class ified as  F inancial  Assets  held at amor$sed
cost (Note 15)

7,530 7,210

Total Independent Property Valuation 1,775,746 1,692,900
 

There were four property acquis i tions  during the year, a l l  of which were direct purchases  of the assets  and not
acquis i tion of a  corporate structure. They are a l l  treated as  asset purchases.

I ncluded within the carrying value of investment proper$es  at 30 June 2024 is  £10,920,000 (2023:
£8,724,000) in respect of the smoothing of fixed contractual  rent upl iOs  as  described in note 4. The difference
between rents  on a straight-l ine bas is  and rents  actual ly receivable is  included within the carrying value of
the investment properties  but does  not increase that carrying value over fa i r value.

I ncluded within the carrying values  of investment proper$es  at 30 June 2024 is  £1,033,000 (year to 30 June
2023: £251,000) in respect of the lease incen$ves  with tenants  in the form of rent free debtors  as  described in
note 4 and capital ised letting fees.

The effect of these adjustments  on the revaluation movement during the year is  as  fol lows:

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Revaluation movement per above (62,814) (253,211)
Rent smoothing adjustment (note 4) (2,197) (2,512)
Movements  in associated rent guarantees - (343)
Movement in Lease incentives (564) -
Movements  in capital ised letting fees (218) -
Foreign exchange movement through OCI (32) -
Change in fair value recognised in profit or loss (65,825) (256,066)
 
Valuation techniques and key unobservable inputs
 
Valuation techniques used to derive fair values
The valua$ons have been prepared on the bas is  of market value which is  defined in the R I C S Valua$on
Standards  as  'the estimated amount for which an asset or l iabi l i ty should exchange on the date of
the valua$on between a wi l l ing buyer and a wi l l ing sel ler in an arm's  length transac$on aOer proper
marke$ng wherein the par$es  had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compuls ion'. Market
value as  defined in the RICS Valuation Standards  is  the equivalent of fa i r value under IFRS.

The yield methodology approach is  used when valuing the Group's  proper$es  which uses  market rental  values
capital ised with a  market capital isa$on rate. This  i s  sense-checked against the market comparable method
(or market comparable approach) where a property's  fa i r value is  es$mated based on comparable
transactions  in the market.

Unobservable inputs
Significant unobservable inputs  include: the es$mated rental  value ("ERV") based on market condi$ons
prevai l ing at the valua$on date and net ini$al  yield. O ther unobservable inputs  include but are not l imited to
the future rental  growth - the es$mated average increase in rent based on both market es$ma$ons and
contractual  s i tuations, and the phys ical  condition of the individual  properties  determined by inspection.

A decrease in ERV would decrease the fa ir value. A decrease in net ini tia l  yield would increase the
fair value.

 

Sensitivity of measurement of significant valuation inputs
As described in note 2 the determina$on of the valua$on of the Group's  investment property porRol io is  open
to judgement and is  inherently subjective by nature.

Sensitivity analysis - impact of changes in net initial yields and rental values
 
Year ended 30 June 2024

UK France

 
 

Total

Fair value £1,704.3m £63.9m
 

£1,768.2
Range of Net Ini tia l  Yields 4.6% - 8.0% 4.2% - 6.8% 4.6% - 8.0%
Range of Rental  values  (pass ing rents  or ERV as  relevant)
of Group's  Investment Properties

£0.3m - £5.1m £0.6m - £0.8m £0.3m - £5.1m

Weighted average of Net Ini tia l  Yields 5.9% 6.3% 5.9%
Weighted average of Rental  values  (pass ing rents  or ERV
as  relevant) of Group's  Investment Properties

£2.9m £0.7m £2.9m

 



 

Year ended 30 June 2023

UK France
 

Total

Fair value £1,685.7m -
 

£1,685.7m
Range of Net Ini tia l  Yields 4.7% - 7.4% - 4.7% - 7.4%
Range of Rental  values  (pass ing rents  or ERV as  relevant)
of Group's  Investment Properties

£0.3m - £5.1m - £0.3m - £5.1m

Weighted average of Net Ini tia l  Yields 5.6% - 5.6%
Weighted average of Rental  values  (pass ing rents  or ERV
as  relevant) of Group's  Investment Properties

£2.8m - £2.8m

 

The table below analyses  the sens i$vity on the fa ir value of investment proper$es  for changes  in rental  values
and net ini tia l  yields :

+2%
Rental value

£m

-2%
Rental value

£m

+0.5% Net
Initial Yield

£m

-0.5%
Net Initial

Yield
£m

(Decrease)/increase in the fair value of investment
properties as at 30 June 2024

35.4 (35.4) (138.1) 164.1

(Decrease)/increase in the fa ir value of investment
properties  as  at 30 June 2023

33.7 (33.7) (139.9) 168.1

 

14.  Subsidiaries

The en$$es l i s ted in the fol lowing table were the subs idiary undertakings  of the Company at 30 June 2024 al l
of which are whol ly owned. Al l  but those noted as  Jersey or French en$$es below are subs idiary undertakings
incorporated in England.

Company name
Holding
type Nature of business

Supermarket Income Investments  UK Limited+ Direct Intermediate parent company

Supermarket Income Investments  (Midco2) UK Limited+ Direct Intermediate parent company

Supermarket Income Investments  (Midco3) UK Limited+ Direct Intermediate parent company

Supermarket Income Investments  (Midco4) UK Limited+ Direct Intermediate parent company

SII UK Hal l iwel l  (MIDCO) LTD+ Direct Intermediate parent company

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (Midco6) Limited+ Direct Intermediate parent company

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (Midco7) Limited+ Direct Intermediate parent company

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (Midco8) Limited*+ Direct Intermediate parent company

SUPR Green Energy Limited+ Direct Energy provis ion company

SUPR Finco Limited+ Direct Holding company

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO1) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO2) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO3) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO4) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO5) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO6) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO7) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO8) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO9) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO10) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO11) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO12) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO16) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO16a) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO16b) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO16c) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO17) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

TPP Investments  Limited+ Indirect Property investment

T (Partnership) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

The TBL Property Partnership Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO19) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO20) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO21) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO22) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO23) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO24) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO25) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO26) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO27) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO28) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO29) Limited+ Indirect Property investment



Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO29) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO30) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO31) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO32) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO33) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO34) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO35) Limited - Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO36) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO37) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO38) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO39) Limited - Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO40) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO41) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO42) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO43) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO44) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO45) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO47) Limited+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO48) Limited*+ Indirect Property investment

Supermarket Income Investments  UK (NO49) Limited*+ Indirect Property investment

The Brookmaker Unit Trust - Indirect Property investment

Brookmaker Limited Partnership# Indirect Property investment

Brookmaker (GP) Limited# Indirect Property investment

Brookmaker (Nominee) Limited# Indirect Property investment

Horner (GP) Limited - Indirect Property investment
Horner (Jersey) Limited Partnership - Indirect Property investment
Horner REIT - Indirect Property investment
Supermarket Income Investments  France 1"*¨ Indirect Property investment
Supermarket Income Investments  France 2"*¨ Indirect Property investment
Supermarket Income Investments  France 3"*¨ Indirect Property investment
Supermarket Income Investments  France 4"*¨ Indirect Property investment
Supermarket Income Investments  France 5"*¨ Indirect Property investment
Supermarket Income Investments  France 6"*¨ Indirect Property investment

SII UK Hal l iwel l  (No1) LTD+ Indirect Investment in Joint venture

SII UK Hal l iwel l  (No2) LTD+ Indirect Property investment

SII UK Hal l iwel l  (No3) LTD+ Indirect Investment in Joint venture

SII UK Hal l iwel l  (No4) LTD+ Indirect Investment in Joint venture

SII UK Hal l iwel l  (No5) LTD+ Indirect Investment in Joint venture

SII UK Hal l iwel l  (No6) LTD+ Indirect Investment in Joint venture

Company name
Holding
type Nature of business

* New subs idiaries  incorporated during the year ended 30 June 2024

** Subsidiaries  acquired during the year ended 30 June 2024

Jersey registered enti ty

" France registered enti ty

+ Registered office: The Scalpel  18th Floor, 52 Lime Street, London, United Kingdom, EC3M 7AF

-  Registered office: 3rd Floor, Gaspe House, 66-72 Esplanade, St Hel ier, Jersey, JE1 2LH

# Registered office: 8th Floor 1 Fleet Place, London, United Kingdom, EC4M 7RA

¨ Registered office: Tour Paci fic, 11-13 Cours  Valmy, 92977 Paris  La Défense Cedex

The fol lowing subs idiaries  wi l l  be exempt from the requirements  of the Companies  Act 2006 rela$ng to the
audit of individual  accounts  by vi rtue of Section 479A of that Act.

Company name
Companies House  

Registration Number
SII UK Hal l iwel l  (MIDCO) LTD 12473355
SUPR Green Energy Limited 12890276
SII UK Hal l iwel l  (No1) LTD 12475261
SII UK Hal l iwel l  (No2) LTD 12475599
SII UK Hal l iwel l  (No3) LTD 12478141
SII UK Hal l iwel l  (No4) LTD 12604032
SII UK Hal l iwel l  (No5) LTD 12605175
SII UK Hal l iwel l  (No6) LTD 12606144
SUPR Finco Limited 14292760
 

15.  Financial asset arising from sale and leaseback transactions

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
At start of year  10,819 10,626
Additions - -
Interest income recognised in profi t and loss  (note 9) 494 483
Lease payments  received during the period (290) (290)



Lease payments  received during the period (290) (290)
At end of period 11,023 10,819

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000 

O n 8 June 2022, the Group acquired an Asda store in CarcroO, via  a  sale and leaseback transac$on for £10.6
mi l l ion, this  has  been recognised in the Statement of F inancial  Pos i$on as  a  F inancial  asset in accordance
with I F RS 9. The financial  asset i s  measured us ing the amor$sed cost model , which recognises  the rental
payments  as  financial  income and reduc$ons of the asset value based on the impl ici t interest rate in the
lease. As  at 30 June 2024 the market value of the property was  estimated at £7.5 mi l l ion (2023: £7.2 mi l l ion).

Assets  held at amor$sed cost are assessed annual ly for impairment with any impairment recognised as  an
al lowance for expected credit losses  measured at an amount equal  to the l i fe$me expected credit losses . The
Group cons iders  historic, current and forward-looking informa$on to determine expected credit losses
aris ing from either a  change in the interest rate impl ici t in the lease or factors  impac$ng the customer's
abi l i ty to make lease payments . Based on the informa$on currently avai lable the Group does  not expect any
credit losses  and the asset has  not been impaired in the period.

16.  Trade and other receivables

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Interest receivable on settlement of derivatives 4,946 3,122
Other receivables 6,077 1,601
Receivable from joint venture disposal - 136,582
Prepayments  and accrued income 877 850
Total trade and other receivables 11,900 142,155
 

The Group appl ies  the I F RS 9 s impl ified approach to measuring expected credit losses  us ing a  l i fe$me
expected credit loss  provis ion for trade receivables . To measure expected credit losses  on a col lec$ve bas is ,
trade receivables  are grouped based on s imi lar credit risk and ageing. The expected loss  rates  are based on
the Group's  historical  credit losses  experienced over the period from incorpora$on to 30 June 2024. The
historical  loss  rates  are then adjusted for current and forward-looking informa$on on macro-economic
factors  affec$ng the Group's  customers. Both the expected credit loss  provis ion and the incurred loss
provis ion in the current and prior year are immateria l . No reasonable poss ible changes  in the assump$ons
underpinning the expected credit loss  provis ion would give rise to a  materia l  expected credit loss .

17.  Trade and other payables

 

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Accrued interest payable 8,072 6,524
Other corporate accruals 9,516 15,945
VAT payable 4,385 4,510
Total trade and other payables 21,973 26,979
 

 

18.  Interest rate derivatives

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Non-current asset: Interest rate swaps 12,499 35,601
Non-current asset: Interest rate caps 3,242 1,597
Current Asset: Interest rate swaps 13,456 16,800
Current Asset: Interest rate cap 2,252 3,584
                                                                                                                                                          31,449                  57,583    
                    

The rate swaps are remeasured to fa ir value by the counterparty bank on a quarterly bas is .

The fair value at the end of year comprises:
Year to 30 June

2024 £'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
At start of year (net) 57,583 5,114
Interest rate derivative premium paid on inception 47,494 44,255
Disposal  of interest rate derivatives (40,612) (2,878)
Changes  in fa i r value of interest rate derivative in the year (P&L) (8,782) 19,695
Changes  in fa i r value of interest rate derivative in the year (OCI) (1,456) 3,111
(Credit)/Charge to the income statement (P&L) (note 9) (22,469) (9,671)
(Credit)/Charge to the income statement (OCI) (note 9) (309) (2,043)
Fair value at end of year (net) 31,449 57,583
 

To par$al ly mi$gate the interest rate risk that arises  as  a  result of entering into the floa$ng rate debt
faci l i ties  referred to in note 19, the Group has  entered into derivative interest rate swaps and caps.

A summary of these derivatives  as  at 30 June 2024 are shown in the table below:

Issuer Derivative Type
Notional
amount £m

 
 
Premium
Paid £m

Mark to
Market 30
June 2024
£m

Average
Strike Rate

Effective
Date

Maturity
Date

BLB Interest Rate Swap £37.3 £1.7 £1.2 2.58% Mar-23 Mar-26

BLB Interest Rate Swap £22.2 £1.0 £0.7 2.58% Mar-23 Mar-26

BLB Interest Rate Swap £27.4 £1.2 £0.9 2.58% Mar-23 Mar-26



Wells  Fargo Interest Rate Swap £30.0 £2.3 £1.1 1.33% Sep-23 Jul -25

SMBC Interest Rate Swap £50.0 £3.7 £1.7 1.33% Sep-23 Jul -25

SMBC Interest Rate Swap £67.0 £6.5 £3.7 1.73% Sep-23 Sep-26

Barclays Interest Rate Cap £96.6 £2.9 £2.8 1.40% Aug-24 Jul -25

Wel ls  Fargo Interest Rate Swap £204.3 £22.2 £12.9 1.96% Sep-23 Jul -27

Wel ls  Fargo Interest Rate Swap £50.0 £4.8 £2.7 1.66% Sep-23 Jul -26

Wel ls  Fargo Interest Rate Swap £3.2 £0.4 £0.4 0.00% Feb -24 Jul -27

SMBC Interest Rate Cap £96.6 £1.4 £1.3 1.40% Jul-25 Jan-26

SMBC Interest Rate Cap £30.0 £0.4 £0.4 1.40% Jul-25 Jan-26

SMBC Interest Rate Cap £50.0 £0.8 £0.7 1.40% Jul-25 Jan-26

SMBC Interest Rate Cap £3.0 £0.4 £0.3 1.21% Nov-23 Jun-27

SMBC Interest Rate Swap £37.5 £0.6 £0.6 3.61% Mar-24 Sep-26

Total   £50.3 £31.4 - -  -

Issuer Derivative Type
Notional
amount £m

 
 
Premium
Paid £m

Mark to
Market 30
June 2024
£m

Average
Strike Rate

Effective
Date

Maturity
Date

 

90% of the Group's  outstanding debt as  at 30 June 2024 was hedged through the use of fixed rate debt or
financial  instruments  (30 June 2023: 100%). I t i s  the Group's  target to hedge at least 50% of the Group's  total
debt at any time us ing fixed rate loans  or interest rate derivatives .

The Group restructured i ts  deriva$ves  during the year to match the changes  in i ts  borrowings, the movements
in the Group's  fa i r value deriva$ves  are recognised in the profit and loss . There was one deriva$ve terminated
in the year that hedged the Wel ls  faci l i ty and was accounted for under hedge accoun$ng; on derecogni$on of
hedge accoun$ng, the cash flow hedge reserve is  recycled to the profit and loss  over the remaining term of the
Wel ls  Fargo faci l i ty.

The deriva$ves  have been valued in accordance with I F RS 13 by reference to interbank bid market rates  as  at
the close of bus iness  on the last working day prior to each balance sheet date. The fa ir values  are calculated
using the present values  of future cash flows, based on market forecasts  of interest rates  and adjusted for the
credit risk of the counterpar$es. The amounts  and $ming of future cash flows are projected on the bas is  of the
contractual  terms.

Al l  interest rate deriva$ves  are class ified as  level  2 in the fa ir value hierarchy as  defined under I F RS 13 and
there were no transfers  to or from other levels  of the fa ir value hierarchy during the year.

19.  Bank borrowings

Amounts falling due within one year:

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Secured debt 96,560 -
Unsecured debt - 62,090
Less: Unamortised finance costs (44) (234)
Bank borrowings per the consolidated statement of financial position 96,516 61,856
 
Amounts falling due after more than one year:

 

Secured debt 186,225 291,551
Unsecured debt 414,981 318,508
Less: Unamortised finance costs (3,554) (4,450)
Bank borrowings per the consolidated statement of financial position 597,652 605,609
Total bank borrowings 694,168 667,465
 

A summary of the Group's  borrowing faci l i ties  as  at 30 June 2024 are shown below:

Lender Facility

 
 
 
Expiry Expiry[63]

C red i t  
M arg in 

Variab le/
h ed ged 

Lo an
c o mmitmen t  

£ m

Amo u n t d raw n    
3 0  Ju n e 2 0 2 4       

£ m
HSBC Revolving credit

faci l i ty
Sep 2026 Sep 2028 1.7% EURIBOR -

3.71%
£75.0 £69.3

Deka Term Loan Aug 2024 Aug 2024 1.35% 0.54% £47.6 £47.6
Deka Term Loan Aug 2024 Aug 2024 1.35% 0.70% £29.0 £29.0
Deka Term Loan Aug 2024 Aug 2024 1.40% 0.32% £20.0 £20.0
BLB Term Loan Mar 2026 Mar 2026 1.65% SWAP -

2.58%
£86.9 £86.9

Wel ls
Fargo

Revolving credit
faci l i ty

Jul  2025 Jul  2025 2.00% SWAP -
1.33%

£30.0 £30.0

Wel ls
Fargo

Revolving credit
faci l i ty

Jul  2025 Jul  2025 2.00% SONIA -
5.20%

£9.0 -

Syndicate Revolving credit
faci l i ty

Jul  2027 Jul  2029 1.50% SWAP -
1.92%

£250.0 £210.5

Syndicate Term Loan Jul  2025 Jul  2026 1.50% SWAP -
1.33%

£50.0 £50.0

Syndicate Term Loan Jul  2026 Jul  2027 1.50% SWAP -
1.66%

£50.0 £50.0

SMBC Term Loan Sep 2026 Sept 2028 1.40% SWAP -
1.73%

£67.0 £67.0

SMBC Term Loan Sep 2026 Sept 2028 1.55% SWAP -
3.61%

£37.5 £37.5

Total £752.0 £697.8



Total £752.0 £697.8

Lender Facility

 
 
 
Expiry Expiry[63]

C red i t  
M arg in 

Variab le/
h ed ged 

Lo an
c o mmitmen t  

£ m

Amo u n t d raw n    
3 0  Ju n e 2 0 2 4       

£ m

*Includes extension options that can be utilised following approval from all parties.
Average rate from 1 July 2024 to expiry of the debt excluding extension options.
 

The Group has  been in compl iance with a l l  of the financial  covenants  across  the Group's  bank faci l i$es  as
appl icable throughout the periods  covered by this  financial  information.

Any associated fees  in arranging the bank borrowings  that are unamor$sed as  at the end of the year are offset
against amounts  drawn under the faci l i ty as  shown in the table above. The debt is  secured
by charges  over the Group's  investment proper$es  and by charges  over the shares  of certain Group
undertakings , not including the Company i tsel f. There have been no defaults  of breaches  of any loan
covenants  during the current year or any prior period.

The Group's  borrowings  carried at amortised cost are cons idered to be approximate to their fa i r value.

Post year end, the Deka faci l i ty matured in August 2024, the Group announced the arrangement of a  new
£100.0 mi l l ion unsecured faci l i ty with I NG Bank to replace the Deka faci l i ty. The Group also completed an
agreement with a  group of ins$tu$onal  investors  for a  private placement of €83.0 mi l l ion of new senior
unsecured notes. For more information see note 29.

 

20.  Deferred tax

The deferred tax asset relates  entirely to unuti l i sed trading losses  on the Group's  French res ident companies .

 

Audited Audited

 
Year to Year to

30 June 2024 30 June 2023
£'000 £'000

At the start of the year - -
Deferred tax on unu$l ised French
trading losses (140) -

Net credit to income statement (note
10) (140) -

At the end of the year (140) -

Deferred tax has  been calculated based on local  rates  appl icable under local  legis la$on substan$vely
enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset of £0.1 mi l l ion has  been recognised for unu$l ised trading losses  aris ing on the French
Companies  in the period. I t i s  the expecta$on that these losses  wi l l  be offset against trading profits  for the
French companies  to reduce French Corpora$on Tax charges  in future years . I ncluded in the investment
property revalua$on movement in the period is  a  £6.1 mi l l ion decrease in the fa ir value of the French
proper$es  rela$ng to capital ised acquis i$on costs . No deferred tax asset has  been recognised in respect of
unreal ised capital  losses  that would be avai lable on disposal  of the proper$es  at a  loss  at the current market
value as  i t i s  cons idered there would not be additional  French properties  to benefi t against the capital  loss .

 

21.  Categories of financial instruments

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Financial assets   
Financial assets at amortised cost:
Financial  asset aris ing from sale and leaseback transaction 11,023 10,819
Cash and cash equivalents 38,691 37,481
Trade and other receivables 11,023 141,305
Financial assets at fair value:
Interest rate derivative 31,449 54,278
Derivatives in effective hedges:
Interest rate derivative - 3,304
Total financial assets 92,186 247,187

Financial liabilities   
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Secured debt 281,635 289,736
Unsecured debt 412,533 377,729
Trade and other payables  (note 17) 18,634 22,469
Total financial liabilities 712,802 689,934
 

At the year end, a l l  financial  assets  and l iabi l i$es  were measured at amor$sed cost except for the interest
rate deriva$ves  which are measured at fa i r value. The interest rate deriva$ve valua$on is  class ified as  'level
2' in the fa ir value hierarchy as  defined in I F RS 13 and i ts  fa i r value was calculated us ing the present values
of future cash flows, based on market forecasts  of interest rates  and adjusted for the credit risk of the
counterparties .

Financial risk management
Through the Group's  opera$ons and use of debt financing i t i s  exposed to certain risks . The Group's  financial
risk management objec$ve is  to minimise the effect of these risks , for example by us ing interest rate cap and
interest rate swap deriva$ves  to par$al ly mi$gate exposure to fluctua$ons in interest rates , as  described in
note 18.

The exposure to each financial  ri sk cons idered poten$al ly materia l  to the Group, how i t arises  and the pol icy
for managing i t i s  summarised below.

Market risk - Interest rate risk
Market risk i s  defined as  the risk that the fa ir value or future cash flows of a  financial  instrument wi l l
fluctuate because of changes  in market prices .  The Group's  market risk arises  from open pos i$ons in interest



Market risk i s  defined as  the risk that the fa ir value or future cash flows of a  financial  instrument wi l l
fluctuate because of changes  in market prices .  The Group's  market risk arises  from open pos i$ons in interest
bearing assets  and l iabi l i ties , to the extent that these are exposed to general  and speci fic market movements .

The Group's  interest-bearing financial  instruments  comprise cash and cash equivalents  and bank borrowings.
90% of the borrowings  are hedged and therefore at a  fixed rate. Changes  in market interest rates  therefore
effects  the value of the deriva$ves  for the hedged debt and for the unhedged por$on i t affects  the Group's
finance income and costs . The Group's  sens itivi ty to changes  in interest rates , calculated on the bas is  of a  ten-
bas is  point increase in the three-month SONIA dai ly rate/ EURIBOR, was  as  fol lows:

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Effect on profi t 1,187 1,383

Effect on other comprehensive income and equity - 58
 

Trade and other receivables  and payables  are interest free as  long as  they are paid in accordance with their
terms, and have payment terms of less  than one year, so i t i s  assumed that there is  no materia l  market risk
associated with these financial  instruments .

 

Market risk - currency risk
The Group prepares  i ts  financial  informa$on in Sterl ing. 4% of the Group's  I nvestment P roper$es  are
denominated in Euros  and as  a  result the group is  subject to foreign currency exchange risk. This  risk i s
par$al ly hedged because within the Group's  French opera$ons, rental  income, interest costs  and the majori ty
of both assets  and l iabi l i$es  are Euro denominated. An unhedged currency risk remains  on the value of the
Group's  net investment in, and net returns  from, i ts  French operations.
 
The Group's  sens i$vity to changes  in foreign currency exchange rates , calculated on a 10% increase in
average and clos ing Sterl ing rates  against the Euro, was  as  fol lows, with a  10% decrease having the opposite
effect:

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Increase/(decrease) in net assets (580) -

Increase in profi t/(loss) for the year (584) -
 

Market risk - inflation
 
I nfla$on risk arises  from the impact of infla$on on the Group's  income and expenditure. The majori ty of the
Group's  pass ing rent at 30 June 2024 is  subject to infla$on-l inked rent reviews. Consequently, the Group is
exposed to movements  in the Retai l  P rices  I ndex ("R P I "), which is  the relevant infla$on benchmark. However,
a l l  R P I -l inked rent review provis ions  provide those rents  wi l l  only be subject to upwards  review and never
downwards. As  a  result, the Group is  not exposed to a  fa l l  in rent in deflationary conditions.

The Group does  not expect inflation risk to have a materia l  effect on the Group's  administrative expenses, with
the excep$on of the investment advisory fee which is  determined as  a  func$on of the reported net asset value
of the Group.

Credit risk
Credit risk i s  the risk of financial  loss  to the Group i f a  counterparty fa i ls  to meet i ts  contractual  obl iga$ons.
The principal  counterpar$es  are the Group's  tenants  (in respect of rent receivables  aris ing under opera$ng
leases) and banks  (as  holders  of the Group's  cash deposits ).

The credit risk of rent receivables  is  cons idered low because the counterpar$es  to the opera$ng leases  are
considered by the Board to be high qual i ty tenants  and any lease guarantors  are of appropriate financial
strength. Rent col lec$on dates  and sta$s$cs  are monitored to iden$fy any problems at an early stage, and i f
necessary rigorous  credit control  procedures  wi l l  be appl ied to faci l i tate the recovery of rent receivables . The
credit risk on cash deposits  i s  l imited because the counterpar$es  are banks  with credit ra$ngs  which are
acceptable to the Board and are kept under review each quarter.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises  from the Group's  management of working capital  and the finance costs  and principal
repayments  on i ts  secured debt. I t i s  the risk that the Group wi l l  not be able to meet i ts  financial  obl iga$ons
as  they fa l l  due.

The Group seeks  to manage i ts  l iquidity risk by ensuring that sufficient cash is  avai lable to meet i ts
foreseeable needs. These l iquidity needs are rela$vely modest and are capable of being sa$sfied by the
surplus  avai lable aOer rental  receipts  have been appl ied in payment of interest as  required by the credit
agreement relating to the Group's  secured debt.

Before entering into any financing arrangements , the Board assesses  the resources  that are expected to be
avai lable to the Group to meet i ts  l iabi l i$es  when they fa l l  due. These assessments  are made on the bas is  of
both base case and downside scenarios . The Group prepares  detai led management accounts  which are
reviewed by the Board at least quarterly to assess  ongoing l iquidity requirements  and compl iance with loan
covenants . The Board also keeps  under review the maturi ty profile of the Group's  cash deposits  in order to
have reasonable assurance that cash wi l l  be avai lable for the settlement of l iabi l i ties  when they fa l l  due.

The fol lowing table shows the maturi ty analys is  for financial  assets  and l iabi l i$es. The table has  been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of non-deriva$ve financial  instruments , including future interest
payments , based on the earl iest date on which the Group can be required to pay and assuming that the S O NI A
dai ly and EUR I BO R rate remains  at the 30 June 2024 rate. I nterest rate deriva$ves  are shown at fa i r value and
not at their gross  undiscounted amounts .

As at 30 June 2024

Less than
one year

£'000
One to two
years £'000

Two to five
years £'000

More than
five years

£'000
Total

£'000
Financial assets:      
Cash and cash equivalents 38,691 - - - 38,691
Trade and other receivables 11,023 - - - 11,023
Amortised cost asset 290 290 946 74,602 76,128
Interest rate derivatives 15,708 12,209 3,532 - 31,449
Total financial assets 65,712 12,499 4,478 74,602 157,291

Financial liabilities:      
Bank borrowings 119,810 186,374 443,364 - 749,548



Trade and other payables 17,589 - - 1,045 18,634
Total financial liabilities 137,399 186,374 443,364 1,045 768,182
As at 30 June 2024

Less than
one year

£'000
One to two
years £'000

Two to five
years £'000

More than
five years

£'000
Total

£'000

As at 30 June 2023 Less  than
one year

£'000
One to two

years  £'000
Two to five

years  £'000

More than
five years

£'000
Total

£'000
Financial assets:      
Cash and cash equivalents 37,481 - - - 37,481
Trade and other receivables 141,305 - - - 141,305
Amortised cost asset 290 290 908 74,930 76,418
Interest rate derivatives 20,384 20,564 16,635 - 57,583
Total financial assets 199,460 20,854 17,543 74,930 312,787

Financial liabilities:      
Bank borrowings 81,545 94,080 549,575 - 725,200
Trade and other payables 22,469 - - - 22,469
Total financial liabilities 104,014 94,080 549,575 - 747,669
 
 
Capital risk management
The Board's  primary objec$ve when monitoring capital  i s  to preserve the Group's  abi l i ty to con$nue as  a
going concern, whi le ensuring i t remains  within i ts  debt covenants  so as  to safeguard secured assets  and
avoid financial  penalties . 

Bank borrowings  on secured faci l i$es  are secured on the Group's  property porRol io by way of fixed charges
over property assets  and over the shares  in the property-owning subs idiaries  and any intermediary holding
companies  of those subs idiaries .

At 30 June 2024, the capital  s tructure of the Group cons isted of bank borrowings  (note 19), cash and cash
equivalents , and equity aMributable to the Shareholders  of the Company (compris ing share capital , retained
earnings  and the other reserves  referred to in notes  22 to 24).

I n managing the Group's  capital  s tructure, the Board cons iders  the Group's  cost of capital . I n order to
maintain or adjust the capital  s tructure, the Group keeps  under review the amount of any dividends or other
returns  to Shareholders  and monitors  the extent to which the issue of new shares  or the real isa$on of assets
may be required.

 

Reconciliation of financial liabilities relating to financing activities

Total bank
borrowings

£'000

Interest and
commitment
fees payable

£'000

Interest rate
derivatives

£'000
Total

£'000
As at 1 July 2023 667,465 6,837 (57,583) 616,719
Cash flows:
Debt drawdowns in the year 217,560 - - 217,560
Debt repayments  in the year (191,077) - - (191,077)
Interest and commitment fees  paid - (36,305) - (36,305)
Loan arrangement fees  paid (1,318) - - (1,318)
Interest rate premium paid - - (45,364) (45,364)
Interest rate derivative disposal - - 38,482 38,482
Non-cash movements:
F inance costs  in the statement of
comprehensive income 2,403 37,605 - 40,008
Finance income in the statement of
comprehensive income - - 22,778 22,778
Fair value changes - - 10,238 10,238
Foreign exchange movement (865) - - (865)
As at 30 June 2024 694,168 8,137 (31,449) 670,856

    
As at 1 July 2022 348,546 1,939 (5,114) 345,371
Cash flows:
Debt drawdowns in the year 912,114 - - 912,114
Debt repayments  in the year (598,486) - - (598,486)
Interest and commitment fees  paid - (24,116) - (24,116)
Loan arrangement fees  paid (5,010) - - (5,010)
Interest rate premium paid - - (44,255) (44,255)
Interest rate derivative disposal - - 2,878 2,878
Non-cash movements:     
Finance costs  in the statement of
comprehensive income 10,301 29,014 (22,806) 16,509
Fair value changes - - 11,714 11,714
As at 30 June 2023 667,465 6,837 (57,583) 616,719
 

Movements  in respect to share capital  are disclosed in note 22 below.

The interest and commitment fees  payable are included within the corporate accruals  balance in note 17.
Cash flow movements  are included in the consol idated statement of cash flows and the non-cash movements
are included in note 9. The movements  in the interest rate deriva$ve financial  l iabi l i$es  can be found in note
18.

22.  Share capital

Share Capital



Ordinary Shares
of 1 pence

Number

Share
capital
£'000

Share
premium

reserve
£'000

Capital
reduction

reserve
£'000

Total
£'000

As at 1 July 2023 1,246,239,185 12,462 500,386 704,531 1,217,379
Dividend paid in the period (note 12) (75,335) (75,335)
As at 30 June 2024 1,246,239,185 12,462 500,386 629,196 1,142,044

     
As at 1 July 2022 1,239,868,420 12,399 494,174 778,859 1,285,432
Scrip Dividends issued and ful ly paid  -
22 August 2022 1,898,161 19 2,316 - 2,335
Scrip Dividends issued and ful ly paid  -
16 November 2022 866,474 9 869 - 878
Scrip Dividends issued and ful ly paid  -
23 February 2023 729,198 7 721 - 728
Scrip Dividends issued and ful ly paid  -
26 May 2023 2,876,932 28 2,395 - 2,423
Share issue costs - - (89) - (89)
Dividend paid in the period (note 12) - - - (74,328) (74,328)
As at 30 June 2023 1,246,239,185 12,462 500,386 704,531 1,217,379

Ordinary Shares
of 1 pence

Number

Share
capital
£'000

Share
premium

reserve
£'000

Capital
reduction

reserve
£'000

Total
£'000

 

23.  Cash flow hedge reserve

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
At start of the period 3,304 5,114
Recycled comprehensive loss  to profi t and loss (1,154) -
Cash flow hedge reserve taken to profi t or loss  for the period on disposal
of interest rate derivatives

- (2,878)

Fair value movement of interest rate derivatives  in effective hedges (611) 1,068

At the end of the period 1,539 3,304
 

During the period, a  previous ly hedge accounted deriva$ve in rela$on to the Wel ls  Fargo faci l i ty was
terminated. The res idual  balance of the deriva$ve is  recycled to the income statement over the remaining
period of the Wel ls  Fargo faci l i ty to July 2025.

 

24.  Reserves

The nature and purpose of each of the reserves  included within equity at 30 June 2024 are as  fol lows:

·   Share premium reserve: represents  the surplus  of the gross  proceeds of share issues  over the
nominal  value of the shares , net of the direct costs  of equity issues

·  Cash flow hedge reserve: represents  cumula$ve gains  or losses , net of tax, on effec$ve cash flow
hedging instruments

·  Capital  reduc$on reserve: represents  a  distributable reserve created fol lowing a Court approved
reduction in capital  less  dividends paid

·   Retained earnings  represent cumulative net gains  and losses  recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income.

·  O ther reserves  represents  cumula$ve gains  or losses , net of tax, of foreign currency exchange rate
di fferences  recognised in a  period as  other comprehensive income.

The only movements  in these reserves  during the year are disclosed in the consol idated statement of changes
in equity.

25.  Capital commitments

The Group had no capital  commitments  outstanding as  at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023.

26.  Operating leases

The Group's  principal  assets  are investment proper$es  which are leased to third par$es  under non-
cancel lable opera$ng leases. The weighted average remaining lease term based on rental  income at 30 June
2024 is  12.4 years  (2023: 13.6 years). The leases  contain predominately fixed or inflation-l inked upl i fts .

The future minimum lease payments  receivable under the Group's  leases , are as  fol lows:

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Year 1 112,127 100,156
Year 2 111,887 98,941
Year 3 111,048 98,614
Year 4 108,241 97,552
Year 5 106,936 97,177
Year 6-10 475,626 452,219
Year 11-15 281,725 310,150
Year 16-20 62,285 94,875
Year 21-25 20,626 23,358
More than 25 years 9,998 12,743

Total 1,400,499 1,385,785
 

27.  Net asset value per share

NAV per share is  calculated by dividing the Group's  net assets  as  shown in the consol idated statement of
financial  pos i$on, by the number of ordinary shares  outstanding at the end of the year. As  there are no
di lutive instruments  outstanding, bas ic and di luted NAV per share are identical .



The Group uses  EP R A Net Tangible Assets  as  the most meaningful  measure of long-term performance and the
measure which is  being adopted by the majori ty of UK  R EI Ts , establ ishing i t as  the industry standard
benchmark. I t excludes  i tems that are cons idered to have no impact in the long-term, such as  the fa ir value of
derivatives .

NAV and EPRA NTA per share calculation are as  fol lows:

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Net assets  per the consol idated statement of financial  pos ition 1,119,474 1,217,726
Fair value of financial  assets  at amortised cost (3,493) (3,609)
Fair value of interest rate derivatives (31,449) (57,583)
EPRA NTA 1,084,532 1,156,534
   
   
Ordinary shares  in issue at 30 June 1,246,239,185 1,246,239,185
NAV per share - Bas ic and di luted (pence) 90p 98p
EPRA NTA per share (pence) 87p 93p
 

28.  Transactions with related parties

Detai ls  of the related par$es  to the Group in the year and the transac$ons with these related par$es  were as
fol lows:

a. Directors
 
Directors' fees
 
The table below shows the fees per annum for the roles performed by the Board for the year ended 30 June 2024:

Role
Jon

Austen Frances Davies

 
 

Nick Hewson
Vince
Prior Sapna Shah

Cathryn
Vanderspar

Chair of Board of Directors - - £75,000 - - -

Director £52,500 £52,500 - £52,500 £52,500 £52,500

Audit and Risk Committee
Chair £9,000 - - - - -

Nomination Committee
Chair* - - - £4,000 £4,000 -

Senior Independent
Director* - - - £5,000 £5,000 -

Remuneration Committee
Chair - - - - - £5,000

ESG Committee Chair - £5,000 - - - -

Management Engagement
Committee Chair* - - - £5,000 £5,000 -

 
*From 21 May 2024, Sapna Shah became Senior I ndependent Director and Nomina$on CommiMee Chair in
place of Vince Prior. Vince Prior became Management Engagement Committee Chair in place of Sapna Shah.

The table below shows the total fees received by each member of the Board for the year ended 30 June 2024:
 

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Nick Hewson 75 75
Jon Austen 62 62
Vince Prior 61 62
Cathryn Vanderspar 58 58
Frances  Davies 58 58
Sapna Shah* 58 18
 
* Appointed 1 March 2023 

The total  remunera$on payable to the Directors  in respect of the current year and previous  year are disclosed
in note 8.

Directors' interests
Detai ls  of the direct and indirect interests  of the Directors  and their close fami l ies  in the ordinary shares  of
one pence each in the Company at 30 June 2024 and at the date of the s igning of the accounts  were as  fol lows:

·   Nick Hewson: 1,330,609 shares  (0.11% of i ssued share capital )

·   Jon Austen: 305,339 shares  (0.02% of i ssued share capital )

·   Vince Prior: 213,432 shares  (0.02% of i ssued share capital )

·   Cathryn Vanderspar: 125,802 shares  (0.01% of i ssued share capital )

·   Frances  Davies: 36,774 shares  (0.00% of i ssued share capital )

·   Sapna Shah: 70,081 shares  (0.01% of i ssued share capital )

 
b. Investment Adviser
Investment advisory and accounting fees
The investment adviser to the Group, Atrato Capital  Limited (the "I nvestment Adviser"), i s  en$tled to certain
advisory fees  under the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement (the "Agreement") dated 14 July 2021.



The en$tlement of the I nvestment Adviser to advisory fees  is  by way of what are termed 'Monthly Management
Fees ' and 'Semi-Annual  Management Fees ' both of which are calculated by reference to the net asset value of
the Group at par$cular dates , as  adjusted for the financial  impact of certain investment events  and aOer
deduc$ng any uninvested proceeds from share issues  up to the date of the calcula$on of the relevant fee
(these adjusted amounts  are referred to as  'Adjusted Net Asset Value' for the purpose of calcula$on of the fees
in accordance with the Agreement).

Un$l  the Adjusted Net Value of the Group exceeds £1,500 mi l l ion, the en$tlements  to advisory fees  can be
summarised as  fol lows:

·  Monthly Management Fee payable monthly in arrears : 1/12th of 0.7125% per calendar month of
Adjusted Net Asset Value up to or equal  to £500 mi l l ion, 1/12th of 0.5625% per calendar month of
Adjusted Net Asset Value above £500 mi l l ion and up to or equal  to £1,000 mi l l ion and 1/12th of
0.4875% per calendar month of Adjusted Net Asset Value above £1,000 and up to or equal  to £1,500
mil l ion.

·   Semi-Annual  Management Fee payable semi-annual ly in arrears : 0.11875% of Adjusted Net Asset
Value up to or equal  to £500 mi l l ion, 0.09375% of Adjusted Net Asset Value above £500 mi l l ion and
up to or equal  to £1,000 mi l l ion and 0.08125% of Adjusted Net Asset Value above £1,000 mi l l ion
and up to or equal  to £1,500 mi l l ion.

For the year to 30 June 2024 the total  advisory fees  payable to the I nvestment Adviser were £9,472,218 (2023:
£10,292,302) of which £1,745,960 (2023: £1,845,144) i s  included in trade and other payables  in the
consol idated statement of financial  pos ition as  at 30 June 2024.

The I nvestment Adviser i s  a lso en$tled to an annual  accoun$ng and administra$on service fee equal  to:
£54,107; plus  (i ) £4,386 for any indirect subs idiary of the Company and (i i ) £1,702 for each direct subs idiary
of the Company. A ful l  l i s t of the Company and i ts  direct and indirect subs idiary undertakings  is  l i s ted in Note
14 of this  financial  information.

For the year to 30 June 2024 the total  accoun$ng and administra$on service fee payable to the I nvestment
Adviser was  £363,869 (2023: £297,475) of which £91,950 (2023: £83,614) i s  included in trade and other
payables  in the consol idated statement of financial  pos ition as  at 30 June 2024.

Introducer Services
Atrato Partners , an affil iate of the I nvestment Adviser, i s  en$tled to fees  in rela$on to the successful
introduction of prospective investors  in connection with subscriptions  for ordinary share capital  in
the Company.

The en$tlement of the I nvestment Adviser to introducer fees  is  by fees  and/or commiss ion which can be
summarised as  fol lows:

·   Commiss ion bas is : 1% of total  subscription in respect of ordinary shares  subscribed for
by any prospective investor introduced by Atrato Partners .

For the year to 30 June 2024 the total  introducer fees  payable to the affil iate of the I nvestment Adviser were
£ni l  (2023: £ni l ).

Interest in shares of the Company
Detai ls  of the direct and indirect interests  of the Directors  of the Investment Adviser and their close fami l ies  in
the ordinary shares  of one pence each in the Company at 30 June 2024 were as  fol lows:

·   Ben Green: 2,337,286 shares  (0.19% of i ssued share capital )

·   Steve Windsor: 1,764,679 shares  (0.14% of i ssued share capital )

·   Steven Noble: 246,885 shares  (0.02% of i ssued share capital )

·   Natal ie Markham: 71,039 shares  (0.01% of i ssued share capital )

O n 9 September 2024, the Company announced that Steven Noble stepped down as  Chief I nvestment O fficer of
the Company's  Investment Adviser, Atrato Capital  Limited.

 

Charitable donations

The Company approved a pol icy to make chari table dona$ons of £150,000 per annum. During the year
£120,000 was approved by the Board and paid post year end (2023: Ni l ). The dona$ons wi l l  be made to the
Atrato Founda$on, a  corporate chari ty registered with the Chari ty Commiss ion and Companies  House, whose
Trustees  are Lara Townsend (CO O  of the I nvestment Adviser) and Natal ie Markham (C FO  of the I nvestment
Adviser). The dona$ons wi l l  be made in the form of a  restricted grant, the funds  wi l l  be directed to chari table
causes  specified by the Board of the Company. For further informa$on on the Company's  chari table ac$vi$es,
please refer to page 11.

 

29.  Subsequent events

Debt financing
 

·    I n July 2024, the Group announced the arrangement of a  new £100.0 mi l l ion faci l i ty with I NG bank at a
margin of 1.55% over S O NI A. The faci l i ty comprises  a  £75.0 mi l l ion term loan and a £25.0 mi l l ion
revolving credit faci l i ty. The term of the loan is  for three-years  with two further one-year extens ion
options.

·    I n July 2024, the Group announced the completed an agreement with a  group of ins$tu$onal  investors
for a  private placement of €83.0 mi l l ion of new senior unsecured notes. The notes  have a term of 7
years  and a fixed rate coupon of 4.4%.

·    I n August 2024, the Deka faci l i ty of £96.6 mi l l ion matured and was seMled with the proceeds of the
new ING faci l i ty.

 
COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2024

Registered number: 10799126

 
 
 Notes

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Non-current assets    
Investments  in subs idiaries D 1,139,114 1,564,226
Intercompany receivables D 491,566 -
Interest rate derivatives 14,312 29,318
Total non-current assets  1,644,992 1,593,544



Total non-current assets  1,644,992 1,593,544

Current assets    
Interest rate derivatives  13,258 13,397
Trade and other receivables E 4,013 11,412
Cash and cash equivalents 382 2,928
Total current assets  17,653 27,737
Total assets  1,662,645 1,621,281

Current liabilities    
Bank Borrowings G - 61,856
Trade and other payables F 227,194 127,027
Total current liabilities  227,194 188,883
Non-Current liabilities    
Bank borrowings G 412,533 315,873
Total liabilities  639,727 504,756
Total net assets  1,022,918 1,116,525

Equity    
Share capital H 12,462 12,462
Share premium reserve 500,386 500,386
Capital  reduction reserve 629,196 704,531
Retained earnings (119,126) (100,854)
Total equity  1,022,918 1,116,525

 
 
 Notes

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000

The notes  on pages  140 to 141 form part of these financial  s tatements .

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption within section 408 of the Companies Act 2006
not to present its own profit and loss account. The accumulated loss for the year dealt with the
financial statements of the Company was £18,272,000 (2023: loss £164,541,000). As at 30 June 2024
the Company has distributable reserves of £510.0 million (2023: £603.7 million).

The Company financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 17 September 2024 and were signed on its behalf by Nick Hewson (Chair).

 

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2024

Share
capital
£'000

Share
premium

reserve
£'000

Capital
reduction

reserve
£'000

Retained
earnings

£'000 Total £'000
As at 1 July 2023 12,462 500,386 704,531 (100,854) 1,116,525
Loss  and total  comprehensive loss  for the
year - - - (18,272) (18,272)
Transactions  with owners
Interim dividends paid - - (75,335) - (75,335)
As at 30 June 2024 12,462 500,386 629,196 (119,126) 1,022,918

As at 1 July 2022 12,399 494,174 778,859 63,687 1,349,119
Loss  and total  comprehensive loss  for the
year - - - (164,541) (164,541)
Transactions  with owners
O rdinary shares  issued at a  premium during
the year 63 6,301 - - 6,364
Transfer to capital  reduction reserve
Share issue costs - (89) - - (89)
Interim dividends paid - - (74,328) - (74,328)
As at 30 June 2023 12,462 500,386 704,531 (100,854) 1,116,525
 

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
A.    Basis of preparation
The Company's  financial  s tatements  have been prepared in accordance with F RS 102, the F inancial  Repor$ng
Standard appl icable in the United Kingdom and the Republ ic of Ireland.

The principal  accounting pol icies  relevant to the Company are as  fol lows:

·   Investments  in subs idiaries  are recognised at cost less  provis ion for any impairment

· Loans  and receivables  are recognised ini$al ly at fa i r value plus  transac$on costs  less  provis ion for
impairment

·   Trade payables  are recognised ini tia l ly at fa i r value and subsequently at amortised cost

·   Equity instruments  are recognised as  the value of proceeds received net of direct i ssue
costs

·   D ividends are recognised as  a  financial  l iabi l i ty and deduc$on from equity in the period in which
they are declared

I n preparing the Company's  financial  s tatements , advantage has  been taken of the fol lowing disclosure
exemptions  avai lable in FRS 102:

·   No cash flow statement has  been presented



·   No cash flow statement has  been presented

·   D isclosures  in respect of the Company's  financial  instruments  have not been presented as
equivalent disclosures  have been provided in respect of the Group

·   No reconci l iation of the number of shares  outstanding at the beginning and end of the year has  been
presented as  i t i s  identical  to the reconci l iation for the Group shown in note 22
to the Group financial  s tatements

·   No disclosure has  been given for the aggregate remunera$on of the key management personnel  of
the Company as  their remuneration is  shown in note 8 to the Group
financial  s tatements

I n the year to 30 June 2024, the Company intends to con$nue to use these disclosure exemp$ons unless
objections  are received from Shareholders .

 
B. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
In preparing the financial  s tatements  of the Company, the Directors  have made the fol lowing judgements:

· Determine whether there are any indicators  of impairment of the investments  in subs idiary
undertakings. Factors  taken into cons idera$on in reaching such a decis ion include the financial
pos i$on and expected future performance of the subs idiary en$ty. W here indicators  of impairment
are iden$fied the carrying value of investments  in subs idiaries  wi l l  be compared to their
recoverable amount and an impairment charge recognised where this  i s  lower than carrying value.
The net asset value of the individual  subs idiary en$$es is  cons idered to be a reasonable proxy for
fair value less  costs  to sel l  as  the underlying investment proper$es  held within these en$$es is
carried at fa i r value.

 
C. Auditor's remuneration
The remunera$on of the auditor in respect of the audit of the Company's  consol idated and individual
financial  s tatements  for the year was  £292,150 (2023: £260,000). Fees  payable for audit and non-audit
services  provided to the Company and the rest of the Group are disclosed in note 7 to the Group financial
statements .

 

D. Investment in subsidiary undertakings
The Company's  whol ly owned direct subs idiaries  are Supermarket I ncome I nvestments  UK  Limited,
Supermarket I ncome I nvestments  (Midco2) UK  Limited, Supermarket I ncome I nvestments  (Midco3) UK  Limited,
Supermarket I ncome I nvestments  (Midco4) UK  Limited,  S I I  UK  Hal l iwel l  (Midco) Limited, Supermarket I ncome
Investments  (Midco 6) UK Limited , Supermarket Income Investments  (Midco7) UK Limited, Supermarket Income
I nvestments  (Midco 8), S UP R Finco Limited and S UP R Green Energy Limited al l  of which are incorporated and
opera$ng in England with a  registered address  of The Scalpel  18th F loor, 52 Lime Street, London, United
K ingdom, EC3M 7AF. The ful l  l i s t of subs idiary en$$es directly and indirectly owned by the Company is
disclosed in note 14 to the Consol idated Financial  Statements .

The movement in the year was  as  fol lows:

Year to
30 June 2024

£'000
Opening balance 1,564,226
Additions 1
Disposals (359,865)
Closing balance 1,204,362
Impairments  of investments  in subs idiaries (65,248)
As at 30 June 2024 1,139,114
Non-current loans  receivable 491,566
Closing balance as at 30 June 2024 1,630,680
 

During the year a  number of the Company's  subs idiaries  undertook buybacks  of their own shares. The
proceeds of these buybacks  were leO outstanding as  intercompany loans  provided by the Company to the
respec$ve subs idiaries . These transac$ons are responsible for the increase in the Company's  intercompany
loan receivable balance as  at 30 June 2024.

Year to
30 June 2023

£'000
Opening balance 1,329,108
Additions 1,066,634
Closing balance 2,395,742
Impairments  of investments  in subs idiaries (831,516)
As at 30 June 2023 1,564,226
 

An impairment of investments  in subs idiaries  was  recognised during both the current and previous  year
fol lowing the payment of upstream dividends to the Company. Fol lowing the payment of dividends, the net
assets  of certain dividend paying subs idiaries  no longer support the carrying value of the Company's
investment in those en$$es and thus  an impairment charge was recognised to bring the carrying value of the
investments  in l ine with the recoverable amount, which was a lso cons idered to be i ts  value in use.

E. Trade and other receivables

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Intercompany receivables 3,645 9,345
Prepayments  and accrued income 209 223
VAT receivable 159 -
Other receivables - 1,844
Total trade and other receivables 4,013 11,412
 
 
F. Trade and other payables   
Trade creditors 2,120 2,235



Trade creditors 2,120 2,235
Corporate accruals 6,491 5,122
VAT payable - 114
Intercompany payables 218,583 119,556
Total trade and other payables 227,194 127,027

E. Trade and other receivables

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000

 

G. Bank Borrowings
As at

30 June 2024
£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Amounts  fa l l ing due within one year:  
Unsecured debt   - 62,090
Less: Unamortised finance costs - (234)
Bank borrowings per the Company's statement of financial position - 61,856
 
Amounts falling due after more than one year:

  

Unsecured debt 414,981 318,508
Less: Unamortised finance costs (2,448) (2,635)
Bank borrowings per the Company's statement of financial position 412,533 315,873
Total bank borrowings 412,533 377,729
 

Any associated fees  in arranging the bank borrowings  that are unamor$sed as  at the end of the year are offset
against amounts  drawn under the faci l i ty as  shown in the table above.

Detai ls  of the bank borrowings  of the Company are disclosed in note 19 to the Group financial  s tatements .

H. Share capital
Detai ls  of the share capital  of the Company are disclosed in note 22 to the Group financial  s tatements .

 
I. Related party transactions
Detai ls  of related party transactions  are disclosed in note 28 to the Group financial  s tatements .

 

Notes to EPRA and other Key Performance Indicators
 
1.    EPRA Earnings and Adjusted Earnings per Share

For the period from 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024

Net profit
attributable
to ordinary

Shareholders
£'000

Weighted average
number of

ordinary shares1

Number

Earnings/
per share

Pence
Net (loss) attributable to ordinary Shareholders (21,184) 1,246,239,185 (1.7)
Adjustments to remove:
Changes  in fa i r value of investment proper$es  and
associated rent guarantees

65,825 5.3

Changes  in fa i r value of interest rate derivatives  measured
at FVTPL

31,251 2.5

Deferred Tax (140) -
Finance income received on interest rate deriva$ves  held
at fa i r value through profi t and loss

(22,469) (1.8)

EPRA earnings 53,283 1,246,239,185 4.3
Add finance income received on interest rate deriva$ves
held at fa i r value through profi t and loss

22,469  1.8

Add accelerated finance costs 70  -
Adjusted EPRA earnings 75,822 1,246,239,185 6.1

1   Based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares  in issue in the year ended 30 June 2024.

For the period from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023

Net profit
attributable
to ordinary

Shareholders
£'000

Weighted average
number of

ordinary shares1

Number

Earnings/
per share

Pence
Net (loss) attributable to ordinary Shareholders (144,866) 1,242,574,505 (11.7)
Adjustments to remove:
Changes  in fa i r value of investment proper$es  and
associated rent guarantees

256,066 - 20.6

Changes  in fa i r value of interest rate derivatives  measured
at FVTPL

(10,024) - (0.8)

Profi t on disposal  of interest rate derivatives (2,878) - (0.2)
Group share of changes  in fa i r value of joint venture
investment properties

(11,486)
 

- (0.9)

Profi t on disposal  of groups interest in joint venture (19,940) - (1.6)
Finance income received on interest rate deriva$ves  held
at fa i r value through profi t and loss

(9,671) - (0.8)

EPRA earnings 57,201 1,242,574,505 4.6
Add finance income received on interest rate deriva$ves
held at fa i r value through profi t and loss

9,671 - 0.8

Add accelerated finance costs 1,518 - 0.1
Add Joint Venture acquis i tion loan arrangement fee 4,009 - 0.3
Adjusted EPRA earnings 72,399 1,242,574,505 5.8

2   Based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares  in issue in the year ended 30 June 2023.

 



 

2.    EPRA NTA per share

EP R A NTA is  cons idered to be the most relevant measure for the Group and is  now the primary measure of net
assets , replacing the previous ly reported EP R A Net Asset Value metric. For the current period EP R A NTA is
calculated as  net assets  per the consol idated statement of financial  pos i$on excluding the fa ir value of
interest rate derivatives .

30 June 2024
EPRA NTA

£'000
EPRA NRV

£'000 EPRA NDV £'000
IFRS NAV attributable to ordinary Shareholders 1,119,474 1,119,474 1,119,474

Fair value of Financial  asset held at amortised cost (3,493) (3,493) (3,493)
Fair value of interest rate derivatives (31,449) (31,449) -
Purchasers ' costs - 120,239 -
Fair value of debt - - 149
EPRA metric 1,084,532 1,204,771 1,116,130
EPRA metric per share 87p 97p 90p
    

30 June 2023
EPRA NTA

£'000
EPRA NRV

£'000 EPRA NDV £'000
IFRS NAV attributable to ordinary Shareholders 1,217,726 1,217,726 1,217,726
Fair value of interest rate derivatives (3,609) (3,609) (3,609)
Fair value of Financial  asset held at amortised cost (57,583) (57,583) -
Intangibles                 - - -
Purchasers ' costs - 122,990 -
Fair value of debt - - 4,876
EPRA metric 1,156,534 1,279,524 1,218,993
EPRA metric per share 93p 103p 98p

 

3.    EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY) and EPRA "topped up" NIY

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Investment Property - whol ly owned (note 13) 1,768,216 1,685,690
Investment Property - share of joint ventures - -
Completed Property Portfolio 1,768,216 1,685,690
Al lowance for estimated purchasers ' costs 120,239 122,990
Grossed up completed property portfolio valuation (B) 1,888,455 1,808,680
Annual ised pass ing rental  income - whol ly owned 112,338 99,910
Annual ised non-recoverable property outgoings (1,116) (1,117)
Annualised net rents (A) 111,222 98,793
Rent expiration of rent-free periods  and fixed upl i fts 440 447
Topped up annualised net rents (C) 111,662 99,240
EPRA NIY (A/B) 5.89% 5.46%
EPRA "topped up" NIY (C/B) 5.91% 5.49%

All rent free periods expire within the year to 30 June 2024

4.    EPRA Vacancy Rate

EPRA Vacancy Rate

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Estimated rental  value of vacant space 591 439
Estimated rental  value of the whole portfol io 113,660 100,797
EPRA Vacancy Rate 0.5% 0.4%
The EPRA vacancy rate is calculated as the ERV of the unrented, le(able space as a propor�on of the total rental value of the
Investment Property porIolio. This is expected to con�nue to be a highly immaterial percentage as the majority of the porIolio is let
to the largest supermarket operators in the UK.

5.    EPRA Cost Ratio

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Administration expenses per IFRS 15,218 15,429
  
Service charge income (6,822) (5,939)
Service charge costs 7,441 6,518
Net Service charge costs 619 579
Share of joint venture expenses - 938
Total costs (including direct vacant property costs) (A) 15,837 16,946
Vacant property costs (331) (328)
Total costs (excluding direct vacant property costs) (B) 15,506 16,618

Gross rental income per IFRS 107,851 95,823
Less: service charge components  of gross  rental  income - -
Add: Share of Gross  rental  income from Joint Ventures - 13,529
Gross rental income (C)



Gross rental income (C) 107,851 109,352
  

EPRA Cost ratio (including direct vacant property costs) (A/C) 14.7% 15.50%
EPRA Cost ratio (excluding vacant property costs) (B/C) 14.4% 15.20%

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000

1. The Company does not have any overhead costs capitalised as it has no assets under development.

 

6.    EPRA LTV

As at As at
30 June 2024

£'000
30 June 2023

£'000
Group Net Debt  
Borrowings  from financial  insti tutions 694,168 667,465
Net payables 34,832 -

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (38,691) (37,481)
Group Net Debt Total (A) 690,309 629,984
Group Property Value  
Investment properties  at fa i r value 1,768,216 1,685,690
Intangibles - -
Net receivables - 93,620
Financial  assets 11,023 10,819
Total Group Property Value (B) 1,779,239 1,790,129
Group LTV (A-B) 38.80% 35.19%

  
Share of Joint Ventures Debt  
Bond loans - -
Net payables - -
JV Net Debt Total (A) - -
Group Property Value  
Owner-occupied property
Investment properties  at fa i r value - -
Total JV Property Value (B) - -
JV LTV (A-B) 0.00% 0.00%

 
Combined Net Debt (A) 690,309 629,984
Combined Property Value (B) 1,779,239 1,790,129
Combined LTV (A-B) 38.80% 35.19%
 

7.    EPRA Like-for-Like Rental Growth

Sector

Year en d ed  3 0   
Ju n e 2 0 2 4    

£ ' 0 0 0   

Year en d ed  3 0   
Ju n e 2 0 2 3    

£ ' 0 0 0   

Lik e- fo r-Lik e   
ren ta l  gro w th    

%
UK 82,003 80,329 2.1%
 

The like-for-like rental growth is based on changes in net rental income for those proper�es which have been held for the dura�on of
both the current and compara�ve repor�ng. This represents a porIolio valua�on, as assessed by the valuer of £1.30 billion (30 June
2023: £1.35 billion).

8.    EPRA Property Related Capital Expenditure

As at As at
30 June 2024

£'000
30 June 2023

£'000
Group  
Acquis i tions 145,834 377,311
Development 380 -
Investment properties - -
Group Total CapEx 146,214 377,311
  
Joint Venture
Acquis i tions - -
Development - -
Investment properties - -
Joint Venture CapEx - -

  
Total CapEx 146,214 377,311

Acquisi�ons relate to purchase of investment proper�es in the year and includes capitalised acquisi�on costs. Development
relates to capitalised costs in relation to development expenditure on the property portfolio.

9.    Total Shareholder Return

Total Shareholder Return

Year to
30 June 2024

Pence per share
('p')

Year to
30 June 2023

Pence per share
('p')

Share price at start of the year 73.00 119.50
Share price at the end of the year 72.50 73.00
Increase in share price (0.50) (46.50)
Dividends declared for the year 6.06 6.00
Increase / (decrease) in share price plus dividends 5.56 (40.50)
Share price at start of year 73.00 119.50
Total Shareholder Return 8% (34%)



Total Shareholder Return 8% (34%)

Total Shareholder Return

Year to
30 June 2024

Pence per share
('p')

Year to
30 June 2023

Pence per share
('p')

 

10.  Net loan to value ratio

The propor$on of our gross  asset value that i s  funded by borrowings  calculated as  statement of financial
pos ition borrowings  less  cash balances  divided by total  investment properties  valuation.

Net loan to value

As at
30 June 2024

£'000

As at
30 June 2023

£'000
Bank borrowings 694,168 667,465
Less  cash and cash equivalents (38,691) (37,481)
Net borrowings 655,477 629,984
Investment properties  valuation 1,768,216 1,685,690
Net loan to value ratio 37% 37%
 

11.  Annualised passing rent

Annual ised pass ing rent is  the annual ised cash rental  income being received as  at the stated date.

 

GLOSSARY

AGM Annual  General  Meeting

AIFMD Alternative Investment Fund Managers  Directive

EPRA European Publ ic Real  Estate Association

EPS Earnings  per share, calculated as  the profi t for the period after tax attributable
to members  of the parent company divided by the weighted average number of
shares  in issue in the period

FCA Financial  Conduct Authori ty of the United Kingdom

FRI A lease granted on an FRI bas is  means that a l l  repairing and insuring obl igations
are imposed on the tenant, rel ieving the landlord from al l  l iabi l i ty for the cost of
insurance and repairs

IFRS UK adopted international  accounting standards

IPO An ini tia l  publ ic offering (IPO) refers  to the process  of offering shares  of
a corporation to the publ ic in a  new stock issuance

LSE London Stock Exchange

LTV Loan to Value: the outstanding amount of a  loan as  a  percentage of property
value

NAV Net Asset Value

Net Initial Yield Annual ised net rents  on investment properties  as  a  percentage of the investment
property valuation, less  assumed purchaser's  costs  of 6.8%

Net Loan to Value
or Net LTV

LTV calculated on the gross  loan amount less  cash balances

Omnichannel Stores  offering both instore picking and onl ine ful fi lment

REIT Real  Estate Investment Trust

Running yield The anticipated Net Ini tia l  Yield at a  future date, taking account of any rent
reviews in the intervening period

Sainsbury's
Reversion Portfolio (SRP)

A portfol io cons isting of the freehold interest in 26 geographical ly diverse high
qual i ty Sainsbury's  supermarkets

Total Shareholder Return
(TSR)

The movement in share price over a  period plus  dividends declared for
the same period expressed as  a  percentage of the share price at the start
of the Period
 

WAULT Weighted Average Unexpired Lease Term. It i s  used by property companies  as  an
indicator of the average remaining l i fe of the leases  within their portfol ios
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[1] The alterna$ve performance measures used by the Group have been defined and reconciled to the IFRS financial statements within the unaudited supplementary

information

[2] Calculated as Adjusted earnings divided by dividends paid during the year

[3] IGD UK Grocery Market Value forecasts

[4] Kantar - UK Grocery Market Share Data (12 weeks ending 09 June 2024)

[5] IGD France Grocery Market Value forecasts

[6] Kantar - France Grocery Market Share Data (12 weeks ending 07 July 2024)

[7] Carrefour "Digital Retail 2026" strategy

[8] IGD Research, "Strategic outlook for Carrefour" (April 2024)

[9] Kantar - France Grocery Market Share Data (March 2024)

[10] Standard & Poor's

[11] Annual ILC-linked rent reviews

[12] IGD French Grocery Market (2024 forecast)

[13] Kantar France Grocery Market Share (12 weeks ending 07 July 2024)

[14] Carrefour "Digital Retail 2026" strategy

[15] Tesco FY23/24 Results

[16] Sainsbury's FY23/24 Results

[17] Carrefour Q2/H1 Sales and Results 2024

[18] IGD French Grocery Market Value (2024 forecast)

http://www.supermarketincomereit.com


[18] IGD French Grocery Market Value (2024 forecast)

[19] IGD Research 2024, Strategic outlook for Carrefour

[20] Kantar France Grocery Market Share (12 weeks ending July 2024)

[21] IGD Research 2024

[22] Years ending 30 June Source: Knight Frank, Savills, MSCI, operator announcements Atrato Capital research

[23] Based on most recent company accounts where disclosed

[24] Excluding acquisition costs

[25] With a break option at year 10

[26]"Winning in Grocery during and after Covid", OC&C, Nectar 360

[27] IGD Grocery Market channel data (2019 actual, 2024 forecast)

[28] Kantar UK Grocery Market Share (12 weeks ending June 2024)

[29] Which? Supermarket food price inflation tracker, June 2024

[30] IGD

[31] Kantar France Grocery Market Share (12 weeks ending 07 July 2024)

[32] Carrefour "Digital Day - Digital Acceleration for Retail & Ecommerce"

[33] "Carrefour 2026" Strategic Plan

[34] Net finance expense is adjusted for finance income from derivatives held at fair value through profit and loss and non-recurring debt restructuring costs

[35] Net finance expense is adjusted for finance income from derivatives held at fair value through profit and loss and non-recurring debt restructuring costs.

[36] Undrawn facilities for June 2024 includes a £50 million accordion option

[37] Including post balance sheet events

[38] Includes rates fixed through interest rate derivatives

[39] Including extension options at lenders' discretion

[40] FERA emissions includes the well-to-tank (WTT) and transmission and distribution (T&D) upstream emissions from Scope 1 and 2.

[41] Emissions not calculated due to lack of data and immateriality (<1% of total emissions). SUPR does not have an office or employees. The only travel is quarterly travel

by non-exec directors, the majority of which is local travel in London.

[42] Values have been rounded.

[43] Emissions in downstream leased assets includes emission from tenant electricity, fuel and refrigerant consump$on.  FERA emissions associated with leased assets

are included in Scope 3: Downstream Leased Assets

[44] Values have been rounded.

[45] Tenant energy consumption from fuels and electricity only.

[46] Normalised to Scope 1 + 2 floor area: 281,291 m2 FY24

[47] Normalised to Scope 3 floor area: 609,984 m2 FY24

[48] Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, "Final Report: Recommenda$ons of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures" (June 2017).

https://assets.bbhub.io/company/sites/60/2021/10/FINAL-2017-TCFD-Report.pdf

[49] Physical Climate VaR is defined as the net present value of the future costs aMached to physical risk (cost of damage due to extreme weather), expressed as a % of the

asset's Capital Value. Calculated for a given carbon emissions reduc$on scenario or climate change scenario, with a given scenario outcome (aggressive or average) in

case of physical risk. Discount rate of 7.4% rate (average long-term total return of MSCI Global Property Index).

[50] Financial Risk Categories include: Severe Risk (VaR<-25%), Significant Risk (VaR<-5%), Moderate Risk (VaR<-0.5%), Negligible Risk (VaR<0%), No Identifiable Risk

(VaR=0%), Negligible Risk Reduction (VaR>0%), Risk Reduction (VaR>0.5%).

[51] The exposure assessment adopted the Climate VaR financial risk thresholds of negligible, moderate, significant and severe risk, with severe the highest financial risk

category.

[52] 3°C | REMIND | Current Policies (default) by 2100 $me horizon. The Aggressive Outcome reflects the severe downside physical risk of a given climate change scenario

and is computed from the 95th percen$le of the distribu$on of Discounted Costs reflec$ng uncertainty about the climate system and modelling assump$ons. The

Aggressive Outcome (or worst case/95th percentile) was selected to better stress test the Company's strategy.  

[53] Percentages by count of total proper$es in the porRolio. Three assets were excluded from the MSCI tool to avoid distor$ng the results. This was due to their

acquisi$on dates meaning no full year energy consump$on data from prior year was available to upload into the tool and available proxy data within the tool was

deemed inconsistent with the actual data results.

[54] The nature of FRI leases means the tenants have responsibility for the maintenance and opera$on of the assets (including the hea$ng and cooling of the building)

during the term of the lease.

[55] As at 30 June 2023 including post balance sheet events

[56] The majority of es$mates are aMributed to refrigerant gasses which were 100% es$mated. 52% of purchased electricity emissions and 70% of natural gas emissions

were calculated based on actual data in FY24, an improvement from 23% and 27% actual data respectively in FY23.

[57] Three assets were excluded from the MSCI tool to avoid distor$ng the results. This was due to their acquisi$on dates meaning no full year energy consump$on data

from prior year was available to upload into the tool and available proxy data within the tool was deemed inconsistent with the actual data results.

[58] FERA emissions associated with tenant activities under Scope 3 downstream leased assets are not included in the figures reported.

[59] FY23 figures (1 July 2022 - 30 June 2023) as restated due to an error identified in the supermarket refrigerant emission calculation for FY23.

[60] Excludes supermarkets located in Scotland, due to differing EPC calculation methodology used, making the sites non-comparable.

[61] Excludes ancillary units located in Scotland, due to differing EPC calculation methodology used, making the sites non-comparable.

https://assets.bbhub.io/company/sites/60/2021/10/FINAL-2017-TCFD-Report.pdf


[61] Excludes ancillary units located in Scotland, due to differing EPC calculation methodology used, making the sites non-comparable.

[62] The Directors have iden$fied certain measures that they believe will assist the understanding of the performance of the business. The measures are not defined

under IFRS and they may not be directly comparable with other companies' adjusted measures. The non-GAAP measures are not intended to be a subs$tute for, or

superior to, any IFRS measures of performance, but they have been included as the Directors consider them to be important comparable and key measures used within

the business for assessing performance. The key non-GAAP measures iden$fied by the Group have been defined in the supplementary informa$on and, where

appropriate, reconciliation to the nearest IFRS measure has been given.

[63] Including uncommitted extens ion options.
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